DTS 4: Editor Users Guide



Table of Contents

A. Introd	uction7
A.1 Name	espaces
A.1.1	Subscription Ontylog Namespaces
A.1.2	Local Ontylog Namespace
A.1.3	Ontylog Extension Namespaces7
A.1.4	Thesaurus Namespaces
A.1.5	Subsets
A.2 Purpo	ose of This Guide
A.3 DTS	Editor High Resolution Compatibility9
A.4 Start	the DTS Editor
A.4.1	Connection Parameters
A.4.2	Content License Agreements 11
A.5 Conn	ect to the DTS Editor12
A.6 Disco	nnect From the DTS Editor
B. The D	FS Editor Main Window14
B.1 Modi	fy Main Window Panel Sizes15
B.2 DTS	Editor Main Window Menu Options15
B.2.1	File Menu 15
B.2.2	Tools Menu
B.2.3	Options Menu
B.2.4	Help
B.3 DTS	Editor Main Window Toolbar Options
B.4 DTS	Editor Main Window Tab View Options
B.4.1	DTS Editor Keyboard Options
B.4.2	View Concept Tree – <i>Tree</i> Panel <i>aka</i> Tree Tab
B.5 Conce	ept Tree Panel Display Preferences
B.5.1	Click to Edit (Ontylog or Thesaurus Tree)
B.5.2	Set Tree Config
B.5.3	Reload Tree
B.5.4	Icons and Colors
	© 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

B.5.5	Concept Name and Attribute Text Wrapping	
B.6 Multi	ple Panel Instances	
B.7 Custo	mize the Tree View	
B.7.1	Hierarchy Tree View	
B.7.2	Association Tree View	
B.7.3	View Concepts in a Selected Namespace Subset	
B.8 Conce	ept Walker View	
B.8.1	Hierarchy View	
B.8.2	Association View	
B.8.3	View Subset Concepts in the Concept Walker	
B.9 Conce	ept Walker Panel Display Preferences	44
B.10 Dyn	amic Click to Edit	44
C. Conce	pt Search	46
D. Names	pace Maintenance	52
D.1 Overv	- view	
D.1.1	Subscription Ontylog Namespaces	
D.1.2	Local Ontylog Namespaces	53
D.1.3	Ontylog Extension Namespaces	53
D.1.4	Thesaurus Namespaces	53
D.2 Curre	ent Local Namespace	53
D.3 Creat	e a Local Namespace	55
D.4 View	an Existing Namespace	64
D.5 Delet	e a Local Namespace	67
D.6 Autho	prity View and Maintenance	70
D.6.1	Create an Authority	71
D.6.2	View an Existing Authority	74
D.6.3	Delete an Authority	76
D.7 Name	espace Profile View and Maintenance	79
D.7.1	Create a Namespace Profile	79
D.7.2	View and Edit a Namespace Profile	81
D.7.3	Copy a Namespace Profile	
D.7.4	Rename a Namespace Profile	
D.7.5	Delete a Namespace Profile	

	D.7.6	Export a Namespace Profile	100
	D.7.7	Import a Namespace Profile	
E.	Assign	Permissions to Newly Created Namespaces	105
F.	Attribu	ute Type Maintenance	109
F	.1 Assoc	iation Types	
	F.1.1	Create Association Types	
	F.1.2	View and Edit an Association Type	113
	F.1.3	Delete an Association Type	116
F	.2 Prope	rty Types	119
	F.2.1	Create Property Types	119
	F.2.2	View and Edit a Property Type	122
	F.2.3	Delete an Property Type	125
F	.3 Qualif	fier Types	
	F.3.1	Create Association Qualifier Types	128
	F.3.2	View and Edit a Qualifier Type	
	F.3.3	Delete an Association Qualifier Type	
	F.3.4	Validators	
F	.4 Kinds		143
	F.4.1	Create Kinds	143
	F.4.2	View and Edit a Kind	146
	F.4.3	Delete a Kind	
G.	Details	Panel	151
G	1.1 View	Details	152
	G.1.1	Batch Commit	
G	.2 View	Concept Details	153
	G.2.1	Configure Concept/Terms Details Panel View	153
	G.2.2	Navigate to Other Concepts or Terms from Displayed Detail	155
	G.2.3	View Subsets in Which a Concept Resides	155
	G.2.4	View Details Panel History Using Forward and Back Buttons	156
G	3.3 Add a	a New Concept/Term to a Local Namespace	158
	G.3.1	Create the New Concept	
	G.3.2	Change the Name of a Concept	159
	G.3.3	Change the Status of a Concept	

G.	3.4 Copy a Concept	
G.4	Permanently Delete a Concept/Term from a Local Namespace	162
G.5	Add a Synonym to a Concept	163
G.	5.1 Create a Synonym	
G.	5.2 Edit a Synonym	
G.	5.3 Delete a Synonym	167
G.6	Add a Property to a Concept or Term	168
G.	6.1 Edit a Property	173
G.	6.2 Delete a Property	174
G.	6.3 Use a URL as a Property Value	
G.7	Add an Association to a Concept or Term	176
G.	7.1 Create an Association	176
G.	7.2 View and Edit an Existing Association	
G.	7.3 Delete an Association	
G.8	View Term Details	
G.9	View Namespace Details	
G.10	View Subset Details	
G.11	View Authority Details	
H. Sı	ıbset Editor	
H.1	Subset Editor Panel	
H.	1.1 Search For and View Subsets Using <i>Subset List</i> Window	
H.	1.2 Create a Subset	
H.	1.3 Publish a Subset	
H.	1.4 Delete a Subset	
H.	1.5 Building Subsets	194
H.2	Editing the Subset Expression – the Subset Expression Editor Panel	
H.	2.1 Modify a Saved Subset Expression	197
I. Sı	ıbset Expression Filters	
I.1 A	Add a Namespace Filter	
I.2 A	Add Concept Filters to the Subset Expression	
I.2	2.1 Add Concept Filters Using Drag/Drop	201
I.2	2.2 Create Concept Filters from Roles and Associations	
I.3 A	Add Concept Name Filters to the Subset Expression	

I.3.1	Create a New Concept Name Filter	208
I.4 Add a I	Property Filter to the Subset Expression	210
I.4.1	Create a New Property Filter	210
I.5 Add an	Association Filter to the Subset Expression	213
I.5.1	Create a New Association Filter	213
I.6 Add a S	Synonym Filter to the Subset Expression	216
I.6.1	Create a New Synonym Filter	216
I.7 Add a S	Subset Filter to a Namespace Filter	219
I.8 Add an	Exclude Condition Filter to a Subset Expression Filter	220
I.9 Modify	a Subset Expression Filter	222
I.10 Remo	ve a Filter from the Subset Expression	223
I.11 Restor	re Expression Filter Additions	224
I.12 Previe	w Subset Expression Results	225
I.13 Save t	o an Existing Subset Expression and Build a Subset Concept Hierarch	ıy229
I.13.1	Build a New Subset Based on Expression Criteria	230
J. The Mo	dule Manager	232
J.1 Module	e Manager Panel	232
J.2 Module	e Update Panel	234
K. Append	lix A: Custom Initialization of Concepts and Terms	236
K.1 Introd	uction	236
K.2 Prepar	ing a DTSConceptTermInitializer	236
K.3 Regist	ering an Initializer	240
K.4 DTS S	Sequence APIs	241
L. Append	lix B: Length Limitations for DTS 4 Attribute Values	242
L.1 Overvi	ew	242

A. Introduction

The DTS Editor allows you to view terminology content stored in <u>Ontylog, Ontylog Extension</u> and <u>Thesaurus</u> namespaces within your knowledgebase (in DTS each <u>namespace</u> represents a separate **source terminology**). Each namespace is either **subscription** (provided by Apelon as part of its Content Subscription Service) or **local**, created by you. All of your namespaces together comprise your **knowledgebase**. You can configure a tree display for a broad view of a selected subscription namespace, then select an individual item (e.g., concept, term) for which to view detailed information.

The edit functions in the DTS Editor allow you to create and maintain new content in one or more local Ontylog Extension and Thesaurus namespaces. Each user-defined local namespace that you create can contain new concepts and/or terms that reside outside of any of your subscription namespaces.

In the local namespace you also can **map** relationships (i.e., create associations) between selected concepts or terms in your local content, and specific concepts or terms in subscription namespace content. For example, you can create a mapping between a single concept in an Ontylog subscription namespace, such as SNOMED CT, and a newly created concept in your local Chief Complaint namespace.

A.1 Namespaces

A.1.1 Subscription Ontylog Namespaces

An Ontylog namespace is one created using the Ontylog language, usually developed using Apelon's Terminology Development Environment (TDE) product. TDE, and Ontylog, allow you to build and maintain knowledgebases through the use of description logic. Concepts and terms in Ontylog are organized into a taxonomy through a process called **classification**. Subscription Ontylog Namespaces are "Read-Only" in the DTS Editor and cannot be modified. Refer to the *Ontylog Namespaces* discussion later in this guide for more on Ontylog namespaces.

A.1.2 Local Ontylog Namespace

A Local Ontylog Namespace is one created locally using the DTS Editor tool. Similar to a Thesaurus namespace, but utilizing the Ontylog language. These namespaces are not inherently "Read-Only", as Subscription Ontylog Namespaces are, and can be edited using the DTS Editor tool locally, before being classified and published.

A.1.3 Ontylog Extension Namespaces

Since you cannot perform edits directly **to** a Subscription Ontylog-type namespace using the DTS Editor. Using the DTS Editor, instead you can (locally) create new concepts and concept relationships for each Subscription Ontylog namespace by creating an **Ontylog Extension** namespace.

You link the Ontylog Extension local namespace to the specific Subscription Ontylog namespace for which you want to add or modify content. Each Extension namespace is comprised of **supplemental** content that you create locally, content that you can **classify** against the linked Subscription Ontylog content.

Classification of a namespace produces the namespace's **inferred view**, which takes concept and role relationships into account. If necessary, classification positions concepts in the namespace hierarchy based on these relationships.

You may link each Extension namespace to only a **single** Subscription Ontylog namespace. You can, however, create multiple Extension namespaces that link to the same Subscription Ontylog namespace.

Refer to the *DTS Classification Guide* for procedures on creating and classifying Ontylog Extension namespaces.

A.1.4 Thesaurus Namespaces

A Thesaurus namespace in DTS is one in which concepts and terms are organized based on relationships (**associations**) with other concepts. The DTS Editor provides view capabilities for subscription namespaces with the type of **Thesaurus**. You can create a new "local" namespace that is a Thesaurus type. In the local namespace you can create new content, and establish mappings to content in subscription namespaces (both Ontylog and Thesaurus) as well as other local namespaces. Refer to the *Thesaurus Namespaces* discussion later in this guide for more on Thesaurus namespaces.

A.1.5 Subsets

A **subset** is an arbitrary collection of concepts. It may represent concepts that share a specific set of attributes, or simply are commonly used in a well-defined context. A subset may include only a few concepts or many concepts. The term **value-set** is an alternate name for subset. The concepts in a subset may be derived from one or more than one namespace, or they can be defined by their participation in other subsets.

Using the **Subset Editor** functions available to you from the *DTS Editor Main* window, you can create and maintain subsets. If the namespace you are viewing in the DTS Editor has one or more subsets created for it, you can highlight each concept in the view that was selected for a subset. Refer to the *Subsets* discussion later in this guide for procedures on subset creation and maintenance in DTS.

A.2 Purpose of This Guide

This guide includes procedures for using the view capabilities in the DTS Editor to create tree views of subscription content in Ontylog and Thesaurus namespaces. Detail views are available for each selected concept/term in a tree view. Illustrations of different view scenarios are provided.

The guide also includes procedures for adding and maintaining one or more **local** namespaces, as well as the new content within. This content includes new concepts and/or terms, and the attributes related to each (e.g., properties, associations). Procedures for creating new associations between concepts and/or terms within a namespace are provided, as well as procedures for creating associations across namespaces. Illustrated examples are included.

A.3 DTS Editor High Resolution Compatibility

The DTS Editor may experience display issues on high resolution screens. To fix these display issues, follow these steps.

- 1. Go to <DTS Home>\java\jre\bin and find the java.exe and javaw.exe files. For each file, perform the following.
- 2. Right-click on the file and select Properties
- 3. Go to Compatibility tab
- 4. Click Change high DPI settings

Security	Details	Previous Versions
General	Compatibility	Digital Signatures
his program isn't w running the comp	vorking correctly on this ve atibility troubleshooter.	ersion of Windows,
Run compatibility	troubleshooter	
w do I choose co	mpatibility settings manual	v?
Compatibility mode		
Run this progra	am in compatibility mode fo	r.
Windows 8		~
Settings		
Heduced color	mode	
8-bit (256) color	~	
Run in 640 x 4	80 screen resolution	
Disable fullscre	en optimizations	
Run this progra	am as an administrator	
Change high	h DPI settings	
Change settin	ngs for all users	

- 5. Check the Override high DPI scaling behavior checkbox
- 6. In the Scaling performed by dropdown, select System

avaw.exe Properties		×
Choose the high DPI s	ettings for this program.	
Program DPI		
Use this setting to instead of the on Open Advanced scal	o fix scaling problems for this p e in Settings ing settings	orogram
A program might look changes after you si this scaling problem set for your main dis	k blurry if the DPI for your mai gn in to Windows. Windows ca for this program by using the I play when you open this prog	n display an try to fix OPI that's ram.
Use the DPI that's se	et for my main display when	
I signed in to Windo	ws 🗸	
Learn more		
High DPI scaling over	rride	
Override high DP	I scaling behavior. d by:	
System) ~	
	ОК	Cancel
	U.S.	CONCE

© 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

A.4 Start the DTS Editor

Start the DTS Editor from the *Windows* **Start** menu (**Start** >**Programs** > **Apelon DTS 4.5** > **DTS Editor**) or similar method appropriate for your installation. The DTS Editor start-up window is shown:



This window allows you to establish a connection to the DTS server. Once the connection has been made, your default Editor Layout (configuration) for this server will be loaded and you can begin work on the DTS knowledgebase.

In the sections that follows, we will assume that your default Layout is the standard DTS Editor Layout. The Editor Layout can be customized to meet individual user or organization needs. See the <u>DTS Editor Module Guide</u> for information on creating and establishing alternate Editor Layouts.

Note: If you create a new Layout that does not have the **Layout Select** menu item and then set this Layout as your default User Layout, this Layout will be loaded when you connect and you will not be able to access any other Layout. DTS provides an escape for this situation. Follow these steps to force a load of the standard DTS Editor Layout:

- 1. Close and restart the Editor.
- 2. Press and hold the **Ctrl** and **Alt** keys on your keyboard.
- 3. Click **Connect** from the **File** menu.

A.4.1 Connection Parameters

Follow this procedure to establish a connection to the DTS server.

Confirm that an **Apelon DTS Application Server** is running and a User has been created prior to starting the Editor.

Ø	Connect Parameters X
Host:	localhost
Port:	4447
Instance:	dtsjboss
Username:	dtsuser
Password:	•••••
Use the	ese values as defaults Auto-connect on start-up
	Connect Cancel

Select Connect Parameters from the File menu. The Connect Parameters window appears.

Host: Enter your *Host* name (for the machine where your Application Server is running) i.e., **localhost**

Port: Enter the Port number to access the DTS Server, i.e., 4447

Instance: Enter the *Instance* name of the DTS Server file on your Application Server, i.e., **dtsjboss**

Username: Enter the *Username* for a created DTS User to access the DTS Server, i.e., **dtsadminuser**

Password: Enter the *Password* for a created DTS User to access the DTS Server, i.e., dtsadmin

To recall these values for future sessions, check *Use these values as defaults*.

To automatically connect on start up with the saved credentials, check Auto-connect on start-up.

Click **Connect** to establish connection to your DTS Server.

If this is the first time you have logged in to the Editor, the *Content License Agreements* window displays.

A.4.2 Content License Agreements

The first time you log into the DTS Editor, the *Content License Agreement(s)* window displays immediately after you establish your database connection. This window shows the applicable license agreements for any proprietary terminologies in your DTS Knowledgebase.



In order to use the DTS Editor, use the **Scroll Bar** to view license terms for all of the vocabularies to which you subscribe. Click **Yes** (which is enabled after you read the entire agreement) to accept the terms; the *DTS Editor Main* window redisplays. Once you have accepted these agreements, the *Content License Agreement(s)* window will not appear again on login until new proprietary sources (or new versions) are added to your knowledgebase.

A.5 Connect to the DTS Editor

Once the connect parameters have been set up as described above, you can subsequently connect to the DTS Server by simply selecting **Connect** from the **File** menu, or clicking on the toolbar **Connect** icon ⁽¹⁾/₍₂₎. These actions will perform an automatic connect using the existing (saved) connection parameters.

A.6 Disconnect From the DTS Editor

Select **Disconnect** from the **File** menu, or click the toolbar **Disconnect** icon ⁽²⁾. If there is unsaved data (new or modified) in one of the DTS Editor components, the following confirmation window displays.

	Confirm Close X
?	This component is not ready to close:
	Subset Expression Editor : Subset expression has unsaved changes. Are you sure you want to discard these changes?
	Do you still want to close?
	OK Cancel

Click **OK** to close the component and disconnect without reviewing or updating unsaved data; displayed floating panels are closed when you disconnect. Click **Cancel** to disregard the disconnect request.

B. The DTS Editor Main Window

As soon as you complete the connection to the DTS server, your default DTS Editor Layout is loaded and the *DTS Editor* main window displays. The DTS Editor version number displays in the window header. The window consists of two main display panels. The panels available in the left pane of the window relate to global navigation and viewing tasks.

When the window first opens, the **Tree** tab is selected and the *Concept Tree* panel displays in the left pane. This panel will contain the "trees" association with all the available namespaces in your knowledgebase. The entry in the *Namespace* dropdown will be "- All -" . If you select a specific namespace from the *Namespace* dropdown field, this tree displays the concept hierarchy for the selected namespace in the knowledgebase.



You can navigate through the concept tree by clicking on the Expand \mathbb{E} icon next to any entry. The *Details* tab panel displays in the right pane. Here, you may view concept details, term details, namespace details, subset details, and authority details by selecting the associated tab. By using this panel, you can also add new concepts, terms, namespaces, subsets, and authorities and edit their attributes locally. Each of these tab panels is discussed in more detail later in the guide. The **Status Bar** located at the bottom of the window indicates whether or not you are connected to the database.

User: dtsadminuser Host: localhost Instance: dtsjboss (4.7.0-848)

The *Windows* **Text Edit** functions **Cut**, **Copy**, and **Paste** are available in many of the DTS Editor data fields through keyboard shortcuts (**CTRL-X**, **CTRL-C**, and **CTRL V**, respectively).

The captured values of Cut can also be customized. See the **Set Clipboard Formats** description below for further information.

B.1 Modify Main Window Panel Sizes

You can modify the display by clicking and dragging the edge of the pane you want to resize. Note the resized panes in the following illustration.



The resized panel settings are retained if you disconnect from the DTS Server, then reconnect.

B.2 DTS Editor Main Window Menu Options

B.2.1 File Menu

Connect - Establishes your connection to the DTS Server and the knowledgebase (you also can

click the **Connect** icon in the toolbar). **Connect Parameters -** Displays connection parameters on the *Connect Options* window. **Disconnect -** Disconnects you from the DTS Server and the knowledgebase (you also can click the **Disconnect** icon in the toolbar). **Exit -** Ends this DTS Editor session and exits the program.

B.2.2 Tools Menu

Concept Tree - Displays the *Concept Tree* panel as a floating window (you also can click the **Open New Tree** icon in the toolbar). Use this window in addition to the *Concept Tree* panel, which you can display by clicking the **Tree** tab in the left pane.

Search - Lets you open the *Search* panel as a separate window (you also can click the **Search** icon in the toolbar). The *Search* panel allows you to search for a concept based on the parameters you specify. Use this window as an alternative to the *Search* panel, which you can display by clicking the **Search** tab in the left pane.

Concept Walker - Displays the *Concept Walker* panel as a floating window (you also can click the toolbar's **Open New Walker** icon). Use this window in addition to the *Concept Walker* panel, which you can display by clicking the **Walker** tab in the left pane.

Concept/Term Details - Displays the *Details* popup window (you also can click the **Open New Details Panel** icon in the toolbar. The *Concept/Term Details* window lists detailed information for any concept, term, namespace, subset or association you drag and drop on the window from anywhere else in the application.

Associations - Displays the *Association Editor* floating window, which allows you to create and maintain associations between concepts or terms within the same namespace, or across namespaces (you also can click the **Open Association Editor** icon in the toolbar). For each association you can specify one or more established **qualifier types** and **values**; these provide additional detail regarding the nature of a concept or term association (e.g., **Usually**).

Properties - Displays the *Property Editor* floating window, which allows you to view, create, and maintain properties for a concept or term (you also can click the toolbar's **Open Property Editor** icon). A property is a piece of user-defined information that can be linked to a concept or term, and can be used for any purpose. For each property you can specify one or more established **qualifier types** and **values**; these provide additional detail regarding the nature of a concept or term property (e.g., **Current**).

Synonyms - Displays the *Synonym Editor* floating window, which allows you to establish a synonymous term for a concept (you also can click the **Open Synonym Editor** icon in the toolbar).

Attribute Types – Displays the *Attribute Types* panel which combines the Association Types, Property Types, Qualifier Types, Kinds and Role Types editors, facilitating management of Types (metadata) for a specific Namespace.

The Attribute Types panel provides a "top level" tab structure to accommodate the richer Metadata features available in DTS Version 4.X. The **Namespaces** tab includes all the Namespace-based types: Association Types, Property Types, Qualifier Types, Kinds and Role Types. **Namespace Property Types** now have Attaches To values of Namespace, Version, Concept, and Term. **Namespace Qualifier Types** have Modifies values of Concept Property, Concept Association, Term Property and Term Association. The new **Subsets** and **Authorities** tabs includes types supported by these objects: Property Types and Qualifier Types. These types

have *Attaches To* and *Modifies* values appropriate for their base object. Click this option to display the panel and manage attribute types.

Namespace Editor - Displays the *Namespace Editor* floating window, which allows you to view, create, publish, and maintain the namespaces in your knowledgebase. The *Namespace Editor* panel supports creating, editing, deleting and viewing of Namespaces and related data, including Version information. It also supports exporting the columns in the upper table view to the clipboard or as a locally saved .csv file. To review the data associated with a specific namespace, select the namespace from the list. The lower panel will fill with the data on the namespace. This panel is identical to the **Namespace** tab in the *Details* panel and provides similar functionality. See the *Detail* panel description for more information.

Specific to the Namespace Editor is the **Publish** option for local namespaces. This option is only enabled if the user has the 'Manage' NAMESPACE_MANAGE permission on the selected namespace. Publish finalizes the content in the Working version of the namespace and creates a new, named version. Pressing **Publish** opens the **Publish Version** dialog. Enter the name of the new version and click Publish to complete the operation. For a description of the Publish operation, see **Publishing** below.



Namespace Profile Editor

A Namespace Profile is a set of Namespace Attribute Types that are automatically added to a Namespace when the Namespace is created. The *Namespace Profile Editor* enables users to create, manage, and delete Namespace Profiles. Both User (specific to individual users) and System (accessible to all users) Profiles are available. The *Namespace Profile Editor* is available from this option, as well as from the *New Namespace* panel. See the **Namespace Profile View and Maintenance** section below for further information.

Subset Editor - Opens the DTS Editor *Subset Editor* panel as a floating window (you also can click the **Open Subset Editor** icon in the toolbar). The *Subset Editor* panel allows you to view, create, publish, and maintain the subsets in your knowledgebase. It also supports exporting the columns in the upper table view to the clipboard or as a locally saved .csv file. Refer to the *Subsets* discussion later in this guide for procedures on subset creation and maintenance.

Specific to the Subset Editor is the **Publish** option for subsets. This option is only enabled if the user has the SUBSET_MANAGE permission on the selected subset. Publish finalizes the content in the Working version of the subset and creates a new, named version. Pressing **Publish** opens the **Publish Version** dialog. Enter the name of the new version and click Publish to complete the operation. For a description of the Publish operation, see **Publishing** below.

6	Subset	Editor	x
Filter By: - All - 🗸		Search	Build Export
Name /	Size Local	Current Modified	User
DTS4 Subset	0	Jun 26, 2019	dtsfhir
(New	Delete Exp	Publish Close	⇒ 🔅
DTS4 Subset DESCription: Local Authority: Apelon, Inc. Versions (1) Expression (1) (none)	D) :.		

Subset Profile Editor

Similar to a Namespace Profile, A Subset Profile is a set of Subset Attribute Types that are automatically added to a Subset when the Subset is created. The *Subset Profile Editor* enables users to create, manage, and delete Subset Profiles. Both User (specific to individual users) and System (accessible to all users) Profiles are available. The *Subset Profile Editor* is available from this option, as well as from the *New Subset* panel. See the **Subset Editor Panel** section below for further information.

Publishing - New Versions of both local Namespaces and Subsets can be created via the **Publish** feature of DTS 4.5. Publish is available via the associated button on the *Namespace Editor* and *Subset Editor* panels. After selecting, enter the name of the new Version and confirm the operation. When a Namespace is published, all data since the last published Version is

"finalized", i.e., intermediate edits are removed and deleted Concepts and deleted Terms are changed to Inactive status. (The exception is Concepts and Terms added since the last Publish that are given a Deleted status will be completely removed, not inactivated.). Subset processing is similar. The new Version is then created and its Release Date set to the current time. Finally, the Published content is now considered Read-Only and a writable "Working" Version is created for further development. See the <u>DTS Versioning Guide</u> for more information on the publishing process.

Authority Editor – Displays the *Authority Editor* panel which provides creation, editing and deletion capabilities for Namespace Authorities, similar to those provided by the *Namespace Editor*. The *Authority Editor* panel supports creation, editing and deletion capabilities for Authorities. It also supports exporting the columns in the upper table view to the clipboard or as a locally saved .csv file. To review the data associated with a specific authority, select the authority from the list. The lower panel will fill with the data on the authority. This panel is identical to the **Authority** tab in the *Details* panel and provides similar functionality. See the *Detail* panel description for more information

Classify – Click this option to perform classification on an Extension local namespace (you also can click the **Classify** icon in the toolbar). Refer to the "Classify an Ontylog Extension Namespace" discussions in the *DTS Classification Guide* document for more on Ontylog and OntylogExtension namespace classification.

Concept Compare - The *Concept Compare* panel is available to show the differences between two versions of a Concept, or differences between two concepts. Drag the desired Concept(s) into the Concept combo, and then select the comparison and base Versions as desired. See the *DTS Versioning Guide* for further information.

Concept History – A new *Concept History* panel complements the *Concept Compare* panel and shows the history (across all Namespace Versions) of Concept Attributes for a selected Concept. See the *DTS Versioning Guide* for further information.

Grid Editor – The Grid editor tool opens a panel which facilitates the viewing and updating of terminology content by providing convenient ways to select concepts, or terms, of interest in a batch grid process. See the <u>DTS Grid Editor Guide</u> for further information

Subset Compare - Opens the *Subset Compare* panel to compare the Concept membership between two Versions of the same Subset, or between Versions of two different Subsets. The new *Subset Compare* panel is available to compare the Concept membership between two Versions of the same Subset, or between Versions of two different Subsets. For additional information on the *Subset Compare* panel, see the *DTS Versioning Guide*. For more information on other Tools items like *Subset Compare*, *Concept Compare*, and *Concept History*, refer to the *DTS Versioning Guide*.

B.2.3 Options Menu

Audit Report – The Audit Report option allows a user to define specifications to run reports to receive an audit history for DTS Editor activity for a given namespace. The reporter can choose to include history for all or specific Users, all or specific Concepts, can choose to include related Terms and Attributes, and define a date range for which to gather the history. Data can also be sorted either by User, or by Date. Settings can be saved in order to rerun a report again in the future. When a report is run, data is exported and saved locally as a .csv file.

Set Clipboard Formats – Displays the *Set Clipboard Formats* panel. The DTS Editor supports system-wide keyboard copy (Ctrl-C) on displayed DTS objects to permit the transfer of information from DTS to other desktop applications. Multi-select copy is supported. The *Clipboard Formats* panel allow users to customize the strings created by the Editor in a copy operation. The **Clipboard Module** allows users to customize the strings created by the Editor in a copy operation. To use this option, select the **Set Clipboard Formats** option in the DTS Editor **Options** menu.

Configuration Options – Displays the *Configuration Options* panel which shows information relating to the configuration of this instance of the DTS Editor. The **Modules** tab of this panel displays the names and versions of all installed DTS Editor Modules. All Modules can be shown or only the System or User Modules by selecting from the Filter dropdown. The **Initializer** tab allows users to associate user-written <u>ConceptTermInitializers</u> with namespaces. Initializers are invoked when a new Concept or Term is being created and allow complete initialization of the object, including specification of Code, Id, Synonyms, Properties, or Associations. The previous Code and Id Generator option has been replaced by a more general <u>ConceptTermInitializer</u> are invoked when a new Concept or Term is being created and allow complete initializers are invoked when a new Concept or Term is being created and allow complete initializers are invoked when a new Concept or Term is being created and allow complete initializers are invoked when a new Concept or Term is being created and allow complete initializers are invoked when a new Concept or Term is being created and allow complete initializers are invoked when a new Concept or Term is being created and allow complete initializers are invoked when a new Concept or Term is being created and allow complete initializers are invoked when a new Concept or Term is being created and allow complete initialization of the object, including specification of Code, Id, Synonyms, Properties, or Associations. See <u>Appendix A - Custom Initialization of Concepts and Terms</u> for more information.

Open Layout Editor – This item opens the *Layout Editor* panel. The Layout Editor supports the creation, editing and management of DTS Editor Layout specifications. See the <u>DTS Editor</u> <u>Module Guide</u> for a complete description of Layouts and use of the *Layout Editor*.

Select Layout – Displays the *Select Layout* dialog:

Select Lay	out
New Layout:	Default DTS Layout (S)
	Apply Cancel

This dialog allows you to select and load a new DTS Editor Layout. Your User Layouts and all System Layouts are available in the dropdown. Select a Layout, press **Apply** and confirm your

selection in the resulting dialog. The new Layout will be loaded. It will not be necessary to reconnect to your server.

Set Current Local Namespace – Lets you select the default local namespace, which determines the namespace used in dropdowns when adding and updating local content for a subscription namespace. You also can click the **Set Current Local Namespace** icon in the toolbar.

Preferences – This displays the *Preferences* panel which provides three sub-items for managing DTS Editor Panel "preference" settings:

AutoLocate Panel: Enable/disable the AutoLocate configuration item. Checking (enabling) this item results in the Editor remembering the screen location of floating panels and opening new instances of the same panel type at the previous location. AutoSize Panel: Enable/disable the AutoSize configuration item. Checking (enabling) this item results in the Editor remembering the screen size of floating panels and opening new instances of the same panel type at the previous panels and opening new instances of the same panel type at the previous size.

Clear Preferences: Selecting this item opens a confirmation dialog for clearing all the panel Preferences. If accepted, all saved panel locations and sizes will be reset to their defaults, generally centered in the Editor at their preferred sizes.

Module Manager - This option opens the *Module Manager* panel that enables the loading, updating, and removal of DTS Editor User Modules without direct user intervention. Module information is uploaded from an Internet accessible file. Module version information is available and Module actions (Add, Update, Remove) can be specified. These actions are performed on the next DTS Editor restart. For detailed information on Module Manager operation, see the Using the Module Manager section later in this document.

PUB/SUB Notifications – This option opens the *Configure DTS Notifiers* panel of the DTS Publish/Subscribe system. The Publish/Subscribe system supports notification of DTS server events, such as namespace creation and namespace version publishing, to client listeners (subscribers). Event notifications in the form of XML messages are sent to registered subscriber URLs. The *Configure DTS Notifiers* panel allows entry of listener URLs and specification of notification parameters. The PUB/SUB Notifications option is only enabled for users having the *apelondtsadmin* Application Server role. For more information, see the <u>Publish Subscribe</u> Introduction Guide.

User Manager - This module manages Roles and User Profiles. The **User Manager** enables the creation of DTS Roles and their association with Permissions, and the creation of DTS User Profiles and assignment of the Roles to these Users. The User Manager option is only enabled for users having the *apelondtsadmin* Application Server role. For more information, see the <u>User Manager Guide</u>.

B.2.4 Help

Help Topics - Provides online help (you also can click the **Help** icon in the toolbar). To simplify DTS documentation update and release processes, current documentation is hosted online at

www.ApelonDTS.org.

About DTS Editor – Shows the DTS Editor version, copyright date, etc., for the DTS Editor instance. Additional technical information on the client and server configurations is available by clicking on the *Details* >> label in the popup:

About Apelon DTSEditor X
Apelon
Apelon DTSEditor
Version: 4.7.0-844
Java 1.8.0_181
Copyright ©2018 Apelon, Inc.
Details >>
ОК

B.3 DTS Editor Main Window Toolbar Options

Most of the options available from the menus on the *DTS Editor Main* window also are available from the window toolbar.



Connect to DTS Server - Establishes your connection to the DTS Server and the knowledgebase (you also can click **Connect** in the **File** menu).

Disconnect - Disconnects you from the DTS Server and the knowledgebase (you also can click **Disconnect** in the **File** menu).

Open New Tree - Displays the *Concept Tree* panel as a floating window (you also can click **New Concept Tree** in the **Tools** menu). Use this window in conjunction with the *Concept Tree* panel that you can display by clicking the **Tree** tab in the left pane. with the *Concept Walker* panel that you can display by clicking the **Walker** tab in the left pane.

Search – Displays the *Search* panel as a separate window (you also can click **New Search** in the **Tools** menu). The *Search* panel allows you to search for a concept based on

?

the parameters you specify. Use this window in conjunction with, or as an alternative to, the *Search* panel that you can display by clicking the **Search** tab in the left pane.

Open New Walker - Displays the *Concept Walker* panel as a floating window (you also can click **New Concept Walker** in the **Tools** menu). Use this window in conjunction

Set Current Local Namespace - Allows you to select the default local namespace, to which you can add and maintain local content for a subscription namespace (you also can click Set Current Local Namespace in the Options menu).

Classify - Click to open the *Ontylog Classification* panel (you also can click **Classify** in the **Tools** menu). Refer to the *Classify an Ontylog Extension Namespace* discussions in the *Ontylog Extension Namespaces and Extension Namespace Classification in DTS* document for more on Ontylog Extension namespace classification.

Open New Details Panel - Displays the *Details* panel as a floating window, which lists detailed information for any concept you drag and drop on the window from anywhere else in the application (you also can click **Concept/Term Details** in the **Tools** menu).

Open Association Editor - Displays the *Association Editor* as a floating window, which allows you to create and maintain associations between concepts or terms within the same namespace, or across namespaces (you also can click **Associations** in the **Tools** menu).

Open Property Editor - Displays the *Property Editor* as a floating window, which allows you to view, create, and maintain properties for selected concepts (you also can click **Properties** in the **Tools** menu).

Open Synonym Editor - Displays the *Synonym Editor* as a floating window, which allows you to establish a synonymous term for a concept (you also can click **Synonyms** in the **Tools** menu).

Open Subset Editor - Displays the *Subset Editor* as a floating window (you also can click **New Subset Editor** in the **Tools** menu). The *Subset Editor* panel allows you to view, create, publish, and maintain the subsets in your knowledgebase. Refer to the *Subsets* discussion later in this guide for procedures on subset creation and maintenance.

Help - Provides online help (you also can click Help Topics in the Help menu). To

simplify DTS documentation update and release processes, current documentation is hosted online at <u>www.ApelonDTS.org</u>.

B.4 DTS Editor Main Window Tab View Options

The following tabs are displayed in the left DTS Editor panel (under the icon bar described above) when the *DTS Editor Main* window opens initially. Each brief introduction that follows outlines the view panel displayed when you click the appropriate tab. Detailed procedures and discussions on use of these panels are provided later in the guide.

Tree - The *Concept Tree* view panel displays as the default in the left pane when the main window first opens. When either of the other panels (**Search** or **Concept Walker**) displays in the left pane, click the *Tree* tab to redisplay the concept tree. This tree unfolds the taxonomy to display the concept hierarchy in a selected namespace in the knowledgebase, or an association tree.

Walker - Displays the *Concept Walker* panel, which lists the parents and children of a concept in the selected namespace.

Search - Displays the *Search* panel, which allows you to search for concepts based on the parameters you specify (**Name**, **Property**, **Role**, etc.).

B.4.1 DTS Editor Keyboard Options

Press the **Enter** key to perform the default action (e.g., **Apply**, **Close**, **OK**, etc.) in any panel or popup window. Press the **Esc** key to close any displayed popup window.

B.4.2 View Concept Tree – *Tree* Panel *aka* Tree Tab

The DTS Editor *Concept Tree* panel lists concepts in a "tree" format for easy viewing. As mentioned earlier, the *Concept Tree* panel displays in the left pane when the *DTS Editor Main* window first opens, or when you click the *Tree* tab. Top-level namespaces/concepts ("nodes") in the hierarchy display in a collapsed view. You can expand or collapse segments of the tree to display only those elements you want.



B.5 Concept Tree Panel Display Preferences

Right click in a white-space area of the *Concept Tree* panel to view the *Concept Tree* display preference settings.

B.5.1 Click to Edit (Ontylog or Thesaurus Tree)

The **Click to Edit** option (on by default) is available for either an Ontylog or a Thesaurus tree. If you click **Click to Edit**, any concept you select displays automatically in the *Details* panel. If you unselect this option, you will need to drag the selected concept to the *Details* panel for view.



B.5.2 Set Tree Config...



The *Set Tree Config...* panel allows you to configure the *Display Name* and *Sort* parameters for each namespace in your knowledgebase.

🗧 Tree Display C	Configuration
Namespace:	
ICD-9-CM	▼
Display Name	
Oncept Na	me
Preferred T	erm
Synonym	Preferred Name[ICD-9-CM]
Property	Code Expansion Required [ICD-9-CM]
Sort Name	
Oisplay Nan	ne
Property	Code Expansion Required[ICD-9-CM]
Low to High	High to Low
Alpha Orde	r 💿 Numeric Order
	Apply Close

Namespace - From the Namespace field you can select the Namespace that you would like to customize.

Display Name - You can change the Display Name to another attribute, *Concept Name*, *Preferred Term, a specified Synonym,* or a *specified Property*. The default is set to the *Concept Name*.

Sort Name - You can change the **Sort Name** to *Concept Name or a specified Property*. The **Sort Order** can be set from *Low to High* or *High to Low* and *Alpha Order* or *Numeric Order*. Any changes you make to the *Concept Tree* panel display settings are retained if you disconnect from the current session (**File>Disconnect**) or exit the DTS Editor (**File>Exit**).

B.5.3 Reload Tree

The **Reload** option allows you to manually refresh the Tree when data has been externally modified.

B.5.4 Icons and Colors

The following icons indicate concept or term attributes in the DTS Editor. These icons and colors are defined in advance for you (you cannot modify them).

Symbol/ color	Description
•	Indicates a concept object (used in multiple panels).
*	Indicates a term object (used in multiple panels).
۵	Indicates a concept in the <i>Concept Tree</i> panel. In the <i>Concept/Term Details</i> panel, indicates a subconcept of the concept displayed in the detailed view.
•	In the <i>Concept/Term Details</i> panel, indicates a Superconcept of the concept displayed in the detailed view.
*	In the <i>Concept Tree</i> and <i>Concept/Term Details</i> panels, indicates a synonym for a concept.
4	In the <i>Concept Tree</i> and <i>Concept/Term Details</i> panels, indicates a property (such as print name, medical code, etc.) for a concept.
×	In the <i>Concept Tree</i> and <i>Concept/Term Details</i> panels, indicates the role that relates one concept to another.
	In the <i>Concept Tree</i> panel, indicates the non-editable values concept Code , concept ID , and Namespace .
	In the <i>Concept Tree</i> and <i>Concept/Term Details</i> panels, indicates an association between one concept and another.
4	In the <i>Concept Tree</i> and <i>Concept/Term Details</i> panels, indicates an association or property qualifier for a concept.
0	In the <i>Concept Tree</i> panel, indicates that the concept in the detailed view is included in the subset that is listed.
	In the <i>Subset Editor</i> and <i>Subset</i> tab of the <i>Details</i> panel, indicates the Subset Description. In the <i>Concept</i> and <i>Term</i> tabs of the <i>Details</i> panel, indicates that the object Status is modifiable.
	In the <i>Namespace Editor</i> , <i>Subset Editor</i> and <i>Namespace</i> and <i>Subset</i> tabs of the <i>Details</i> panel, indicates a Version of the associated DTS object.
0	In the <i>Subset Editor</i> and <i>Subset</i> tab of the <i>Details</i> panel, indicates the Subset Expression.
•	Indicates that the Read-Only/Read-Write attribute of Namespaces and Subsets is modifiable (used in multiple panels).
*	Indicates that the Authority attribute of Namespaces and Subsets is modifiable (used in multiple panels).

B.5.5 Concept Name and Attribute Text Wrapping

If lengthy concept names and/or attribute text extend beyond the border of the *Concept Tree* panel, the text will wrap around to a new line. The concept name or attribute text also will be enclosed in brackets.



If you enlarge the *Concept Tree* panel, the panel size setting is retained if you disconnect from the DTS Server, then reconnect. During the next session, the text wrapping and brackets will be removed if they are not required in the larger panel.

B.6 Multiple Panel Instances

The DTS Editor allows you to open multiple occurrences of the *Concept Tree*, *Concept Walker*, and *Search* panels by selecting these options from the **Tools** menu, by clicking the appropriate tab, or by clicking the corresponding icon in the toolbar. Each instance of the panel displays as a free-floating, sizable window; the size and location of these floating panels are retained for future sessions.

You can view, compare, and drag information from multiple instances of each window. The data in each instance of the window can be from the same namespace, or can reflect data from different namespaces. Drag and drop capability between the DTS Editor windows and panels lets

you create associations between namespaces, and view the results immediately on the *Concept Tree* panel.

In the following illustration, two floating instances of the *Concept Tree* panel window (each showing a different namespace) have been opened and placed over the left side of the DTS main window.

	Concept Tree	x
Namespace:	LOINC	~
Version:	2.65.18AB (01-Dec-2018)	3
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	¥
Focus Concept:		¥
Subset:		¥
Hier Attachme Clinical C Clinical C Concepts Laborato E Survey In	nts (LP 29695-1) ategories (LP 29694-4) : with no Multi-axial Parent ry Categories (LP 29693-6) nstruments (LP 29696-9)	
5	Concept Tree	x
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	~
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) v 📰 31-Jan-2019)
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	~
Focus Concept:		~
Subset:		~
SNOMED CT Concept (SNOMED RT+CTV3) Body structure (body structure) Clinical finding (finding) Event (event) Observable entity (observable entity) Organism (organism) Pharmaceutical / biologic product (product) Physical object (physical object) Physical object (physical object) Procedure (procedure) Record artifact (record artifact) Situation with explicit context (situation) Social context (social concept) Special concept (special concept) Staging and scales (staging scale) Substance (substance)		

In the next illustration, the main *Concept Tree* panel displays in the left pane, and an additional floating *Concept Tree* panel has been placed in the bottom right of the DTS main window.

DTS 4: Editor Users Guide

🍚 🖶 🚓 🛤 🕺 🏭 🎄 🏔 🗐 🍤 🍫 🏀 🖣	P. 🦉 🖓 🖻	
Tree Walker Search	Details	
Namespace: ICD-9-CM	Concept Term Namespace Subset Authority	
Version: 2014.1.13AA (01-Oct-2013) V	🔻 k New Delete Inferred View	⇒ 🔅
View Axis: Superconcepts / Subconcepts	CHAPTER 12: DISEASES OF THE SKIN AND SUBCLITANEOUS TISSUE (680-709)	
Focus Concept:	Code: CH12	
Subset: V	Status: Active	
The International Classification of Diseases: 9th revision, Clinical Modification (V-ICD9CM) CLASSIFICATION OF DISEASES AND INJURIES [001-999] CLASSIFICATION OF DISEASES OF THE GENITOURINARY ICHAPTER 10: DISEASES OF THE GENITOURINARY ICHAPTER 11: COMPLICATIONS OF PREGNANCY, CHAPTER 12: DISEASES OF THE GENITOURINARY SUBCITANEOUS TISSUE (680-709) CHAPTER 12: DISEASES OF THE MUSCULOSKELETAL SYSTEM AND CONNECTIVE TISSUE (710-739) CHAPTER 13: DISEASES OF THE MUSCULOSKELETAL SYSTEM AND CONNECTIVE TISSUE (70-739) CHAPTER 14: CONGENTIAL ANOMALIES (740-759) ICHAPTER 15: SYMPTOMS, SIGNS, AND ILL-DEFINED ICONDITIONS (780-799) CHAPTER 15: SYMPTOMS, SIGNS, AND ILL-DEFINED ICONDITIONS (780-799) CHAPTER 11: INFECTIOUS AND PARASITIC DISEASES (101-139) CHAPTER 2: NEOPLASMS (140-239) ICHAPTER 2: NEOPLASMS (140-239) ICHAPTER 3: ENDOCRINE, NUTRITIONAL AND METABOLIC DISEASES, OF THE BLOOD AND BLOOD-FORMING ORGANS (280-289) ICHAPTER 4: DISEASES OF THE BLOOD AND BLOOD-FORMING ORGANS (280-289) ICHAPTER 5: MENTAL, BEHAVIORAL AND NEURODEVELOPMENTAL DISORDERS (20-319) ICHAPTER 7: DISEASES OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM AND ISENSE ORGANS (320-389) ICHAPTER 7: DISEASES OF THE REVOUS SYSTEM AND ISENSE ORGANS (320-389) ICHAPTER 7: DISEASES OF THE CIRCULATORY SYSTEM (390-459)	Imagespace: ICD-9-CM (Ontylog, Subscription, Read-Only) ■ Version: 2014,1.13AA (01-Oct-2013 00:00:00 by) ● Synonyms (1) Concept Properties (1) ▲ Code in Source: CH12 ● Superconcepts (1) ● Namespace: SNOMED CT Version: 2015.07.15AA (31-Jul-2015) ● Namespace: SNOMED CT Version: 2015.07.15AA (31-Jul-2015) ● Subset: ● Subset: ● Subset: ● Subset: ● Body structure (body structure) ● Christ Inding (finding) ● Environment or geographical location (environment / location) ● Sobservable entity (observable entity) ● Observable entity (observable entity) ● Observable of force (physical object) ● Physical object (pervalue (partifact)	X > >>>
CHAPTER 8: DISEASES OF THE RESPIRATORY SYSTEM [(460-519) □ CHAPTER 9: DISEASES OF THE DIGESTIVE SYSTEM (Version: Special concept (special concept)	♥ 013

B.7 Customize the Tree View

The *Tree* panel initially displays trees for all namespaces. Follow these procedures to select a specific namespace for which you want to view data. The format of the concept tree display depends in part on the type of namespace you select, **Ontylog** or **Thesaurus**. Based on the view parameters, you configure the tree to display in either a hierarchical format (subconcepts/superconcepts) or an association format that reflects concepts associated with a specific **focus** concept. You can expand and collapse the tree in either format, as needed. Formats that display subset participation are also available.

B.7.1 Hierarchy Tree View

Select the namespace for which the concept tree will display from the *Namespace* dropdown field list. Click the dropdown arrow to display all namespaces available for view options.

Tree Walker Searc	h	
Namespace:	- All -	•
Varaian	- All -	
version:	DTS4 Namespace	
View Axis:	ICD-10 R	
	LOINC	
Focus Concept:	NDF-RT2 [Public Edition]	
Subset:	RxNorm R	
IDTC 4 Norman	SNOMED CT	
ICD-10 R	SNOMED CT to ICD-10	

Select the namespace version for which the concept tree will display from the Version field dropdown field list. The default is the most recent version. For more information on the Version selection widget, see the Versioning Guide.

Tree Walker Searc	h			
Namespace:	SNOMED CT			¥
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019)	۷	📰 31-Jan-2019	
View Axis:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019)	^		\mathbf{v}
	2018.07.18AA (31-Jul-2018)	≡		=1
Focus Concept:	2018.01.17AB-b (31-Jan-2018)			~
Subset:	2018.01.17AB (31-Jan-2018)			\mathbf{v}
	2017.07.17AA (31-Jul-2017)			<u> </u>
SNOMED CT (2017.01.16AB (31-Jan-2017)			
	2016.07.16AA (31-Jul-2016)			
	2016.01.15AB (31-Jan-2016)	$\mathbf{\vee}$		

When you select an Ontylog namespace for view, the default in the *View Axis* dropdown field is **Superconcepts/Subconcepts**, which results in a hierarchal view of the namespace concepts.

Tree Walker Searc	h	
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	¥
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) 🗸 📰 31-Jan-2019	
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	~
Focus Concept:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	^
	Defined Concepts	
Subset:	Access (attribute) [SNOMED CT]	
E SNOMED CT (ALTERNATIVE (attribute) [SNOMED CT]	
 − •	Ask At Order Entry [LOINC]	
	Associated finding (attribute) [SNOMED CT]	
	Associated Observations [LOINC]	
	Associated procedure (attribute) [SNOMED CT]	\sim

You may also select **Defined Hierarchy** which will display concepts instead of the Super/Sub hierarchy, but by their definition hierarchy.

Tree Walker Searc	h	
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	¥
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) 🗸 📰 31-Jan-2019	
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	~
Focus Concept:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	~
·····	Defined Concepts	
Subset:	Access (attribute) [SNOMED CT]	
E SNOMED CT (ALTERNATIVE (attribute) [SNOMED CT]	
	Ask At Order Entry [LOINC]	
	Associated finding (attribute) [SNOMED CT]	L II
	Associated Observations [LOINC]	
	Associated procedure (attribute) [SNOMED CT]	\sim

To expand a selection to view lower-level nodes, click adjacent the **Expand** button B. When expanded, the concepts are listed in a hierarchical scheme, or "taxonomy."

Tree Walker Searc	h	
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	¥
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) 🗸 📄 31-Jan-2019	
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	¥
Focus Concept:		¥
Subset:		¥
Body stru Body stru Anato Anato Anato Anato Anato Body Morpi Nons Norm Clinical fir Clinical fir Environm Event (event (event)	Intervention of the second structure (body structure) (body structure) (body structure (body structure) (body structure, altered from its original anatomical structure (nologic abnormality) (body structure) (b	

If there is no **Expand** button adjacent to a concept, it indicates there are no additional subconcepts hidden for the concept. The nodes immediately above a concept are called direct superconcepts (**parents**). Nodes immediately below a concept are called direct subconcepts (**children**).

As you expand the tree, you may want to collapse the tree to view only the higher levels of the hierarchy. Click the **collapse** button \Box to hide the subconcepts.

B.7.2 Association Tree View

Select the namespace for which the concept tree will display from the *Namespace* dropdown field list. Click the dropdown arrow to display all namespaces available for view options. When you select an Ontylog namespace for view, the default in the *View Axis* dropdown field is **Superconcepts/Subconcepts**, which results in a hierarchal view of the namespace concepts. If you wish, you can configure a tree view that consists of all concepts for which **associations** are established for a specified concept. An association is a relationship between concepts and/or terms within a namespace, or across namespaces.

The default association type for an association tree configuration is **Parent Of**.

Tree	Walker Searc	h	
× v	Namespace:	SNOMED CT	~
	Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) v 📄 31-Jan-2019	
	View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	~
Fo	cus Concept:		~
	Subset:		¥

The association tree that displays in the *Concept Tree* panel reflects the default association type.

Tree Walker Searc	h	
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	~
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) v 📄 31-Jan-20	019
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	~
Focus Concept:		~
Subset:		~
SNOMED CT (Body stru Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Anatt Clinical fir Clinical fir Clinic	Concept (SNOMED RT+CTV3) chure (body structure) omical or acquired body structure (body structure) natomical structure (body structure) natomical structure (body structure) omical organizational pattern (body structure) omical organizational pattern (body structure) omical organizational pattern (body structure) structure, altered from its original anatomical structure (morphologic mailty) becific site (body structure) al anatomy (body structure) graphy unknown (body structure) orgaphy unknown (body structure) ding (finding) ent or geographical location (environment / location) rent) ole entity (observable entity) (organism) eutical / biologic product (product) force (physical force) vbject (physical object) e (procedure) value (qualifier value) tifact (record artifact) with explicit context (situation) CT Model Component (metadata) text (social concept) (specimen) nd scales (staging scale) e (substance)	

You have the option of selecting another association type on which to base the tree view. Click the arrow on the *View Axis* field to list all existing concept associations in the knowledgebase. Click the desired association to select it; the namespace in which the association was created displays in parentheses.

You also have the option of establishing a **focus concept** in your association tree. The focus concept serves as the **root** concept in your tree view.

Drag a concept from another panel or window (e.g., *Concept /Term Details* panel) and drop it into the *Focus Concept* field. The focus concept sets the starting point (i.e., root, or threshold) for the chain of associations to be displayed.



To view concepts with associations to those listed in the displayed association tree, click the **Expand** button B next to the desired concept in the tree. Note the illustration.

Tree Walker Search	h	
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	¥
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) 🗸 📄 31-Jan-2019	
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	~
Focus Concept:	Clinical finding (finding)	~
Subset:		~
Administrative statuses (finding) Adverse incident outcome categories (finding) Bleeding (finding) Calculus finding (finding) Clinical history and observation findings (finding) Clinical stage finding (finding) Clinical stage 0 (finding) Clinical stage 0 (finding) Clinical stage I (finding) Clinical stage I (finding) Clinical stage I B (finding) Clinical stage I B (finding)		
Clinica Clinica Clinica Clinical st Clinical st Clinical st Clinical st Clinical st Clinical st Clinical st	al stage I D (finding) al stage I E (finding) al stage I S (finding) age II (finding) age III (finding) age IV (finding) (finding) ding)	-

B.7.3 View Concepts in a Selected Namespace Subset

A **subset** is a set of concepts that you can create from namespaces and other subsets, based on selection criteria that you define.

The concepts in each subset can share associated attributes, and each subset may include a few concepts or many concepts. Refer to the *Subsets* discussion later in this guide for procedures on subset creation and maintenance.

If the namespace in the view has one or more subsets created for it, you can choose to highlight each concept in the *Tree* view that was selected for a subset. The *Subset* field dropdown lists all existing subsets for (only) the namespace in the view; the subsets display in gold color.

Tree Walker Searc	h	
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	¥
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) 🗸 📄 31-Jan-2019	
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	¥
Focus Concept:		\checkmark
Subset:		~
SNOMED CT (Body stru Clinical fir Brook Environm	Clinical Findings Procedures ent or geographical location (environment / location)	

Click the desired subset in the list. Each namespace concept that is included in that subset is highlighted (in gold color) in the hierarchy tree in the *Concept Tree* panel.

Tree Walker Searc	h		
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	¥	
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) 🗸 📄 31-Jan-2019		
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	¥	
Focus Concept:		¥	
Subset:	Procedures	¥	
Version:	Working v 📄 27-Jun-2019		
SNOMED CT Concept (SNOMED RT+CTV3)			
Body stru	icture (body structure)		
	naing (finaing) ent or geographical location (environment / location)		
Event (ev	vent)		
🗄 🥉 Observal	ble entity (observable entity)		
📄 🛓 🍝 Organism	(organism)		
😟 🎍 ě Pharmace	🕀 🏅 Pharmaceutical / biologic product (product)		
🕀 🍋 Physical f	Physical force (physical force)		
Physical object (physical object)			
Procedure (procedure)			
Administrative procedure (procedure)			
Blood bank procedure (procedure)			
Community nealth procedure (procedure)			
procedure)			
Environmental care procedure (procedure)			
Galva	anism (procedure)		
Gene	ral treatment (procedure)		
🗈 🍐 Laboratory procedure (procedure)			
📄 🗄 👌 Nucle	ar medicine procedure (procedure)		
🗄 📄 🕑 Obst	etric procedure (procedure)		
🗉 🕐 Outp	atient procedure (procedure)		
🗄 🕐 Patie	nt encounter procedure (procedure)		
🗏 🕘 Posto	perative procedure (procedure)		
Preoperative procedure (procedure)			
	edure by intent (procedure)		
	adure by method (procedure)		
	edure by phoney (procedure)	\sim	
You also can view the concept hierarchy within each subset. From the *View Axis* field dropdown list, select **Subset Hierarchy** (**Subset Hierarchy** is enabled as a selection only when a namespace that has existing subsets is in the view). From the *Subset* field dropdown list, select the subset for which you want to view a concept hierarchy.

The hierarchy tree for the subset (only) displays, also in gold color.

Click the Expand \oplus and collapse \boxdot buttons to view and hide subconcepts, as needed.

B.8 Concept Walker View

The Concept Walker provides a view of a selected concept's place in the Concept Tree, and its relationships with other concepts. You can configure the view to reflect either a Subconcept/Superconcept hierarchical, Defined Concepts hierarchical, or an association format that reflects concepts associated with a specific **focus** concept. Formats that display subset participation are also available.

B.8.1 Hierarchy View

Follow this procedure to display and use the *Concept Walker* panel to provide a view of the selected concept's relationships (i.e., ancestor and descendant concepts).

1. Click the *Walker* tab in the upper-left portion of the *DTS Editor Main* window. The *Concept Walker* panel displays in the left pane.

Tree Walker Search		
	<	Parent Section (Superconcepts)
Focus Concept: Namespace: Version: View Axis: Subset:	26-Jun-2019	Concepts in View
	<	Child Section (Subconcepts)

The dropdown field in the center of the panel (*Focus Concept*) is where you select the concept for which relationships will be listed. If you used the Concept Walker earlier in the current session, previous focus concepts are retained in the *Focus Concept* field pull-down list for your selection.

2. You can drag any concept visible on another window or panel (*Search* panel, *Concept/Term Details* panel, etc.) to the *Focus Concept* field on the *Concept Walker* panel. For example, click the *Search* tab to display the *Search* panel, or click the **Search** icon in the toolbar to display the floating *Search* window; you can position the floating window so that it is adjacent to the *Concept Walker* panel.

Drag a concept to the *Focus Concept* field and release the mouse to drop the concept.

- 3. When you select a focus concept from an Ontylog namespace for view, the default in the *View Axis* dropdown field is **Superconcepts/Subconcepts**, which results in a hierarchal view of the namespace concepts. You also have the option of the Defined Concept hierarchy for Subscription Ontylog Namespaces.
- 4. If the focus concept you selected is from an Ontylog namespace, the name of that Ontylog namespace displays in the *Namespace* field. If any **Ontylog Extension** namespaces exist for that namespace, these will be listed in the *Namespace* field dropdown list.

An Ontylog Extension namespace is an extension of a specifically linked **Ontylog Subscription** namespace. You create an Ontylog Extension namespace to create and maintain new local content for the linked Ontylog subscription namespace. From the list, select the Ontylog Extension namespace for which you want to display a hierarchy view. Refer to the *Concept Walker View and Ontylog Extension Namespaces* discussions in the *Ontylog Extension Namespaces and Extension Namespace Classification in DTS* document for more on using the Concept Walker with Ontylog Extension namespaces.

- 5. If your *Focus Concept* has one or more parents, these display in the **Parent** section above the *Focus Concept* dropdown field. The section below the *Focus Concept* dropdown field displays the subconcepts, or children, of the concept.
- 6. In the **Parents** section, you can expand any visible ancestor concept to list its parent concepts. Click the **Expand** button 𝔅. Higher-level concepts are listed in inverse order to their place in the hierarchy tree.

r… of SNOMED CT Concept (SNOMED RT+CTV3) □ of Procedure (procedure)						
Focus Concept: Blood bank procedure (procedure)						
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	~				
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) 🗸 🛅 31-Jan-2019					
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	~				
Subset:		v				
 Blood bank inventory control (procedure) Blood compatibility test (procedure) Blood donor accounting, clerical (procedure) Blood donor rejection, clerical (procedure) Blood Product Unit Description (procedure) Blood transfusion test (procedure) Blood unit processing (procedure) Reservation of blood product (procedure) Special blood bank procedure, explain by report (procedure) 						

B.8.2 Association View

You can configure a Concept Walker view that consists of all concepts for which **associations** are established for a specified concept. Each association is a relationship between concepts and/or terms within a namespace, or across namespaces.

Follow this procedure to display and use the *Concept Walker* panel to provide a view of associations for the selected concept.

1. Click the *Walker* tab in the upper-left portion of the *DTS Editor Main* window. The *Concept Walker* panel displays in the left pane.

The dropdown field in the center of the panel (*Focus Concept*) is where you select the concept for which relationships will be listed. If you used the Concept Walker earlier in the current session, previous focus concepts are retained in the *Focus Concept* field pull-down list for your selection.

2. You can drag any concept visible on another window or panel (*Search* panel, *Concept/Term Details* panel, etc.) to the *Focus Concept* field on the *Concept Walker* panel. For example, click the *Search* tab to display the *Search* panel, or click the **Search** icon in the toolbar to display the floating *Search* window; you can position the floating window so that it is adjacent to the *Concept Walker* panel.

- 3. Drag a concept to the *Focus Concept* field. When the field changes to yellow, unclick the mouse to drop the concept. The focus concept will serve as the **root** concept in your association view.
- 4. When you select a focus concept from an Ontylog namespace for view, the default in the *View Axis* dropdown field is **Superconcepts/Subconcepts**, which results in a hierarchal view of namespace concepts. Click the arrow on the *View Axis* field to list all existing concept associations within all the namespaces in your knowledgebase.

of SNOMED CT Cor	cept (SNOMED RT+CTV3)		
Focus Concept: Body structure (body structure)		~	
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	~	
Version:	2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) 🗸 📄 31-Jan-2019		
View Axis:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts	~	
Subset:	Superconcepts / Subconcepts		
Anatomical or ac Access (attribute) [SNOMED CT] Anatomical organ ALTERNATIVE (attribute) [SNOMED CT] Anatomical site n Ask At Order Entry [LOINC] Body structure, Associated finding (attribute) [SNOMED CT] morphologic abn Associated Observations [LOINC] Nonspecific site (Normal anatomy Associated procedure (attribute) [SNOMED CT] Topography pot assigned (body structure)		~	
Topography unknown (body structure)			

Click the desired association to select it (the namespace in which the association was created displays in parentheses). The concept(s) for which there are associations with the *Focus Concept* are listed in the *Concept Walker* panel. In the following illustration for the focus concept **Allergy (LP31625-4)**, the concepts associated through the association **Multiaxial Parent Of** are listed.

🖭 🍯 Laboratory Cate	gories (LP29693-6)			
Focus Concept:	Allergy (LP31625-4)	~		
Namespace:	LOINC	¥		
Version:	2.65.18AB (01-Dec-2018) V 📄 01-Dec-2018			
View Axis:	Multiaxial Parent Of [LOINC]	~		
Subset:		~		
Animal (LP31627-0) Drug allergens (LP30682-6) House dust (LP16999-2) Miscellaneous allergens (LP30681-8) Molds and Other Microorganisms (LP30672-7) Occupational allergens (LP30689-1) Others (LP32758-2) Plant (LP31628-8) XXX allergen Bld-Ser-Plas (LP199002-9)				

You can drag the returned concept to the *Concept/Term Details* panel to view attribute details.

B.8.3 View Subset Concepts in the Concept Walker

If the *Focus Concept* field concept is from a subscription, local, or (classified) extension namespace for which a subset exists, you can choose to highlight in the displayed hierarchy those concepts within that subset. From the *Subset* field dropdown (which lists all subsets for the *Focus Concept* namespace field, in gold text) select the desired subset.

The *Namespace* field reflects the namespace from which the subset concepts were derived. Each concept from the focus concept *Namespace* that is listed in the **Parents** and **Subconcepts** hierarchies is highlighted (in gold color).



If the focus concept is from an Ontylog namespace, you also can view a select portion of the concept hierarchy for each of the Ontylog namespace's subsets. From the *View Axis* field dropdown list, select **Subset Hierarchy** (**Subset Hierarchy** is enabled as a selection only when the concept in the *Focus Concept* field is from a subset namespace).

From the *Subset* field dropdown list, select the subset for which you want to view a portion of the concept hierarchy.

The hierarchy tree for the **subset** (only) displays, also in gold color.



Click the Expand \oplus and collapse \boxdot buttons to view and hide subconcepts, as needed.

B.9 Concept Walker Panel Display Preferences

Right click in a white-space area of the *Concept Walker* panel to view the *Concept Walker* display preference settings. The *Concept Walker* supports the **Click to Edit** and **Set Tree Config** ... options as previously described in the *Concept Tree* display preferences. Note that the values for these preference options are shared with those in the *Concept Tree* panel, i.e., setting **Click to Edit** on the *Concept Walker* panel also sets **Click to Edit** in the *Concept Tree* panel. The **Parents** (upper) section of the *Concept Walker* panel also supports a **Top Down Tree/Bottom Up Tree** display preference. In the examples above, the **Parents** section has shown hierarchies displayed in the **Bottom Up** view, i.e., the concept trees grow "up" from the bottom of the section. To have the trees grow "down" from the top of the section (as was the case prior to DTS 4.0) select **Top Down Tree** from the preference menu. You can restore the current default behavior by selecting **Bottom Up Tree**.

B.10 Dynamic Click to Edit

The **Dynamic Click to Edit** functionality extends upon the **Click to Edit** functionality in that it allows customization of Concept/Term transfer support. **Dynamic Click to Edit** allows specification of which panels to use as sources and targets when a Concept/Term is clicked. This

can be especially useful when using floating panels where **Click to Edit** functionality is not available by default. The three panel types include:

Source Panels – These panels act as sources for Click to Edit operations. The Search Panel is a Source Panel.

Target Panels – These panels act as receivers for Click to Edit operations. The Details Panel is a Target Panel.

Combination Panels – These panels act as both sources and targets for Click to Edit operations. The Tree and Walker Panels are Combination Panels.

To view the current **Dynamic Click to Edit** assignments for a panel, hover over the icon. The example below indicates that clicking on a search result will transfer that concept/term to the Details Panel.

Tree Walker Search	
Search: O Concepts O Terms	Status: ACTIVE 🗸
Module IID: Search102	Show Count Only Search
Starget IID: detail	~

To set **Dynamic Click to Edit** assignments for a panel, open both panels that you want to use. Note that no Target Panel is currently set for this floating Search Panel.

Concept/Term Search	×	🥃 Details Pa	nel	×
Search: Concepts Terms	Status: ACTIVE 🗸	Concept Term	Namespace Subset Authority	
Module IID: Search106	nt Only Search	▼ ←	New Delete	Close 🔿 🎲
Starget IID:	~			
Search In: Namespace Subset				
Namespace: SNOMED CT	~			
Version: 2015.07.15AA (31-Jul-2015) ~	📰 31-Jul-2015			
Search By: Name	~			
Search Results:	4 Matches (of 4)			
Myocardial infarction (disorder)[SNOMED CT]				
Myocardial infarction education (procedure)[SNOMED CT]				
Myocardial infarction in recovery phase (disorder)[SNOMED CT]				
Myocardial infarction with complication (disorder)[SNOMED CT]				
⇐ Page 1 of 1 ⇒		Version:		∨ 📰 08-Aug-2017

Set the Target Panel by dragging the arrow of the Target Panel to the arrow of the Source Panel. Dragging the floating Details Panel arrow to the floating Search Panel arrow defines the Details Panel as the target for the Search Panel. The panels are now configured so that clicking on a Search result will transfer the concept/term to the Details Panel.

G Conce	pt/Term Search	×	🛜 Detai	ls Pan	el				×
A Search:	: O Concepts O Terms Status: ACTIVE	~	Concept	Term	Namespace Sub	set Au	uthority		
Module	IID: Search106 Show Count Only Search				New Delet	e	Inferred View	Close	⇒ 🔅
Se Target I	D: Details108 rct*	$\overline{}$		1yocar	dial infarction (diso	rder)			^
Search In:	Namespace ○ Subset			ID:	22298 tus: Active				
Namespace:	SNOMED CT	~		Nan	nespace: SNOMED	CT (On	tylog, Subscriptio	n, Read-On	ly)
Version:	2015.07.15AA (31-Jul-2015) V 📄 31-Jul-2015			Ver:	sion: 2015.07.15A	A (31-Ju	ul-2015 00:00:00	by)	
Search By:	Name	~	- P	Synon	iyms (11) Svnonvm: Cardiac	infarcti	on		
Search Resul	ts: 4 Matches (o	-4)		*	Synonym: Cardiac Synonym: Heart a	infarcti ttack	on, NOS		
Myocardial in	farction (disorder)[SNOMED CT]			*	Synonym: Heart a	ttack, N	IOS		
Myocardial in	ifarction education (procedure)[SNOMED CT]	- 1		*	Synonym: Infarcti Synonym: Infarcti	on of he	eart NOS		
Myocardial in	Itarction in recovery phase (disorder)[SNOMED CT]	- 1		÷	Synonym: MI - My	ocardial	infarction		
Myocardial Ir	Trancuon with complication (disorder)[SNOMED.CT]	- 1		*	Synonym: Myocan	dial infa	rct		
				*	Synonym: Myocan	dial infa	rction (Preferred	1)	~
	⇐ Page 1 of 1 ⇒		Version:	2015.0	17.15AA (31-Jul-20	15)		🔡 31-Ju	-2015

To remove a **Dynamic Click to Edit** assignment, click on the arrow of the Source Panel and select 'Clear transfer target'. You can also turn off **Click to Edit**, but this will affect all panels, not just those configured for **Dynamic Click to Edit**.

Concept/Term Search	×
Clear transfer target	Status: ACTIVE V
Search For: Myocardial Infarct*	

C. Concept Search

Use the DTS Editor *Search* tab panel to search a selected namespace, or all namespaces, and retrieve specific concepts, concept terms, or concepts and synonyms that match the search criteria you specify. Search can be performed on any attribute defined in the DTS knowledgebase. You then can drag and drop any retrieved concept/term into another view panel (e.g., *Concept/Term Details*) for further review, or onto one of the Editor windows (e.g., *Synonym Editor, Property Editor*). You can display the *Search* panel as a floating window; this option is available from the toolbar on the *DTS Editor Main* window menu bar, as well as from the **Tools** menu (**Tools>Search**).

Search a selected namespace, all namespaces, or a selected namespace subset based on any of the following criteria:

- Name
- Name & Synonyms
- Synonym
- Concept Property
- Concept Property Qualifier
- Role
- Inverse Role

- Concept Association
- Inverse Concept Association
- Concept Association Qualifier
- Id
- Code
- Kind (specific namespace only, not "all")

To display the *Search* panel, click the *Search* tab on the *DTS Editor Main* window.

Tree Walker Search	
Search: Concepts Terms Status: ACTIVE	¥
Page Size: 10 Show Count Only Search	
Search For:	¥
Search In: Namespace Subset	
Namespace: - All -	~
Version: Version: 27-Jun-2019	
Search By: Name	¥
Search Results:	
J	
€ →	

Follow this procedure to search the namespace based on the criteria you specify.

- 1. Assure that the *Search* tab is selected and the search criteria fields display.
- 2. To search for matching concepts, click *Concepts*. To search for matching terms, click *Terms*.
- 3. Select the types of Concepts to be searched from the Status dropdown. When searching for Concepts with Status A11, individual search results are prefixed with an icon if Inactive or Deleted.
- 4. From the *Page Size* field dropdown list, select the number of concepts and/or terms to be retrieved from each search. From the dropdown, you can specify that the page size search limit be **10**, **50**, **or 100**. **10** is the default. Another page size can also be explicitly entered, with a maximum value of **999**. Retrieved concepts or terms display in the *Search Results* area in the lower portion of the tab.

The Search panel also supports retrieving a specific page number for result sets larger than one page. Entering "4", for example, will return the 4th page of search results, preventing the user from having to page over numerous times to find the desired result. If no page is entered, the Search function will return the first page of results by default. If a number larger than the number of pages in the result set is entered, the Search function will return the last page of results.

- 5. The *Show Count Only* checkbox is an optional feature that will display the total number of search results that meet the specified criteria without actually displaying the results in the *Search Results* area in the lower portion of the tab.
- 6. In the *Search For* field, specify the value (i.e., search string) for which you want to search the namespace for a match. Specify the search string value in one of these manners:
 - Enter the specific search string in its entirety (e.g., **abdomen endoscopy**).
 - Broaden the search criteria by entering the asterisk (*) wildcard character. Note these examples when **Name** is the *Search By* parameter:
 - To retrieve all concept/term names containing the string **abdomen**, type ***abdomen*** as the search string in the *Search For* field.
 - To retrieve only concept/term names that begin with the string **abdomen**, type **abdomen*** as the search string in the *Search For* field.
 - To retrieve concept/term names that end with the string **abdomen**, type ***abdomen** as the search string in the *Search For* field.
- 7. In the **Search In** area of the panel, click the option that reflects where you want to perform the search (*Namespace* or *Subset*). If you select *Namespace*, the accompanying dropdown lists all namespaces in your DTS knowledgebase.

Click the namespace in which you want to perform the search. The default, **All**, applies if you want to search in all existing namespaces. Note that if you select an Ontylog © 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

Extension namespace to search, the results will be from the Extension namespace only (no concepts from the linked Ontylog subscription namespace will be returned). Refer to the *Ontylog Extension Namespaces and Extension Namespace Classification in DTS* document for more on Extension namespaces.

If you select a *Subset* in which to search, the accompanying dropdown lists all subsets that were created for namespaces in your DTS knowledgebase.

Click the subset in which you want to perform the search.

The version dropdown lists all versions that are available for the specified namespaces or subsets in your DTS knowledgebase. Select the version in which you want the search performed. The latest (most recent) version is the default.

8. In the *Search By* field, select the parameter that will be searched in the namespace(s) or subset for the string you specified in the *Search For* field.

For concept searches the following options are available:

- **Name** This search will retrieve each concept (or each term, if you are performing a term search) with a name that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field.
- Name & Synonyms This search will retrieve each concept with a name that matches the search string parameter you specified and each concept with a synonym that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field. Name & Synonym search is not available for Terms.
- **Synonym** This search will retrieve each concept with a synonym that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field.
- **Concept Property** This search will retrieve each concept with a property value that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field, for the property or properties you select. If you select **Property** as the search parameter, a list of current knowledgebase properties displays in the *Search On* list area; you select the properties to be searched from this list.
- **Concept Property Qualifier** This search will retrieve each concept with a concept property qualifier value that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field, for the property qualifier you select. If you select **Concept Property Qualifier** as the search parameter, a list of current knowledgebase properties displays in the *Search On* list area; you select the concept property qualifier to be searched from this list.
- **Role** This search will retrieve each concept with a role value (i.e., target concept name) that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field, for the role type(s) you select (e.g., **Procedure site**). If you select **Role** as

the search parameter, a list of current role types displays in the *Search On* list area; you select the role type(s) to be searched from this list.

- **Inverse Role** This search will retrieve each concept with an inverse role value that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field, for the inverse role type(s) you select (e.g., **Procedure site**). If you select **Inverse Role** as the search parameter, a list of current inverse role type(s) displays in the *Search On* list area; you select the inverse roles to be searched from this list.
- **Concept Association** This search will retrieve each concept that has an association **target** concept with a name that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field, for the association(s) you select (e.g., **Is A Parent Of**). If you select **Concept Association** as the search parameter, a list of current association type(s) displays in the *Search On* list area; you select the association type(s) to be searched from this list.
- **Inverse Concept Association** This search will retrieve each concept that has an inverse association **from** concept with a name that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field, for the inverse association(s) you select (e.g., **Is A Parent Of**). If you select **Inverse Concept Association** as the search parameter, a list of current inverse association types displays in the *Search On* list area; you select inverse association type(s) to be searched from this list.
- **Concept Association Qualifier** This search will retrieve each concept that has an association **qualifier** with a name that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field, for the association(s) you select. If you select
- **Concept Association Qualifier** as the search parameter, a list of current association qualifier type(s) displays in the *Search On* list area; you select the association qualifier type(s) to be searched from this list.
- Id This search will retrieve each concept (or term, if you are in a term search) that has an ID that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field.
- **Code** This search will retrieve each concept (or term, if you are in a term search) that has a Code that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field.
- **Kind** This search will retrieve each concept, with a specified namespace, that has a Kind value that matches the search string parameter you specified in the *Search For* field. Note, this search requires that a namespace be selected in the search tool, and cannot be run against an "all namespaces" search.
- 9. After you specify all search criteria, click **Search**. The retrieved concepts and/or terms are listed in the *Search Results* area in the lower portion of the tab. When you find the desired concept(s), you can drag the concept(s) to the *Concept Walker* or *Concept/Term Details* panel to view details.

Note that after you click **Search** to begin the search, the button changes to **Cancel**; to terminate a long-running search, click **Cancel** and enter alternate search criteria. The button changes back to **Search** when the search is completed.

The primary search parameters (*Search On, Status, Page Size, Show Count Only, Search In, and Namespace*) are saved in the Editor configuration so that the most recently used parameters are automatically populated upon starting DTS or opening a new *Search* panel.

When searching on attributes other than just Name, ToolTips are available on each result line to show where the match string was found. In the screen shot below, the "*heart*" search term has been located in the Name and two of the Synonyms in the **Abdominal heart (disorder)** concept.

To increase performance of *Search*, the use of ToolTips can be disabled. To disable ToolTips, right-click anywhere in the *Search Results* area in the lower portion of the tab and select *Show Search ToolTips*. When this option is disabled, hovering over results will not display the ToolTip indicating where the match string was found, but performance of search will improve.

If more than **Page Size** results are found that match the search criteria, the result count (found on the right immediately above the result list) will display in red and the "next page" icon (\Rightarrow) will be enabled. Use this icon, and its partner, the previous page icon (\Leftarrow), to move among the result pages.

Tree Walker Search	Details
▲ Search: ● Concepts ◯ Terms Status: ACTIVE ✓	Concept Term Namespace Subset Authority
Page Size: 10 V Search	V New Delete Inferred View
Search For: *heart* v	Abdominal heart (disorder)
Search In: Namespace Subset	ID: 14886
Namespace: SNOMED CT V	Namespace: SNOMED CT (Ontylog, Subscription, Read-Only)
Version: 2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019) 🗸 📄 31-Jan-2019	
Search By: Name & Synonyms	Synonym: Abdominal neart (Preterred)
Search Results: 10 Matches (of 1, 135)	Concept Properties (6)
Ability to achieve target heart trate (observable entity)[SNOMED CT] Able to achieve target hear [N: Abdominal heart (disorder)] Abnormal fetal heart beat first noted during labor AND/OR delivery in liveborn infant (disorder)[SNOMED CT] Abnormal fetal heart beat, not dear if noted before OR after onset of labor in liveborn infant (finding) Abnormal fetal heart tate (finding)[SNOMED CT] Abnormal first heart sound, S>1< (finding)[SNOMED CT] Abnormal first heart sound, S>1< (finding)[SNOMED CT] Abnormal fourth heart sound, S>4< (finding)[SNOMED CT] Abnormal fourth heart sound, S>4< (finding)[SNOMED CT]	MODULEID: 9000000000207008 MHS Clinical Terms Version 3: P6y64 MULS Clu: C0255862 UMLS Semantic Type: Congenital Abnormality Superconcepts (1) Congenital malposition of heart (disorder) Congenital malposition of heart (disorder) Roles (4) Some Associated morphology (attribute): Congenital malposition (morphologic abnormality) Some Associated morphology (attribute): Congenital malposition (morphologic abnormality) Some Associated morphology (attribute): Congenital malposition (morphologic abnormality) Some Associated morphology (attribute): Congenital malposition (morphologic abnormality) Some Associated morphology (attribute): Congenital (qualifier value) Some Pathological process (attribute): Entire heart (body structure) Some Pathological process (attribute): Pathological developmental mores (qualifier value) Some Pathological process (attribute): Pathological developmental maformations of heart (Q24.8] [ICD-10]: Other specified congenital maRdvice: 1.1 RUMAYS Q24.8 mapCategory: 1.1 Properly Classified mapRule: 1.1 TRUE Inverse Concept Associations (1) SAME AS (attribute): Abdominal heart (disorder) [204387000]
Page 1 of 114	Version: 2019.01.18AB (31-Jan-2019)

D. Namespace Maintenance

D.1 Overview

Each **namespace** in DTS represents an individual source terminology (e.g., **SNOMED**, **ICD-9**-**CM**) or independently developed terminology content, e.g., a local namespace containing map (association) information. The DTS Editor provides a set of options that allow you to view data in all namespaces, edit namespaces of certain types, and create new, local namespaces.

A namespace **authority** indicates the organization (e.g., U.S. National Library of Medicine, U.S. Medical Terms Review) that approved and/or certified a specific terminology. A namespace authority must be specified as part of each namespace definition. In addition to namespace maintenance, authority maintenance is discussed in this section.

A namespace's **locality** indicates how the namespace data was acquired. A **Subscription** namespace is one for which content was loaded into DTS through a subscription import. A **Local** namespace is one that was created using the DTS Editor, from DTS import utilities, or from user programs using the DTS API, for the purpose of using and maintaining local terminology content.

In DTS, a namespace is one of four distinct types: **Subscription Ontylog**, **Local Ontylog**, **Thesaurus**, or **Ontylog Extension**. Each namespace type is described briefly, as well as the level of functionality available in each namespace type using the DTS Editor.

D.1.1 Subscription Ontylog Namespaces

Ontylog is a language used to build and maintain large knowledgebases using description logic. Concepts in Ontylog are organized into a taxonomy by a process called **classification**. A Subscription Ontylog namespace is one provided by Apelon's Subscription Content Distribution process, and is by definition "read-only".

The DTS Editor provides view capabilities for Subscription Ontylog subscription namespaces. In the DTS Editor you can view the concept hierarchy tree in any selected Subscription Ontylog terminology namespace. You also can view attribute details (e.g., properties, roles) for any selected concept in the namespace.

You cannot use the DTS Editor to perform edits directly **to** a Subscription Ontylog-type namespace. However, the DTS Editor allows you to create and maintain new content **for** the Subscription Ontylog namespace through two different approaches.

- You can create a new local, editable namespace using the DTS Editor
 - Within this local namespace you can add new properties, synonyms and associations (including qualifiers to properties and associations) to the Subscription Ontylog concepts.

- Because the local content is in a separate namespace, this approach prevents inadvertent overwrite of this local data if the Subscription Ontylog namespace is updated at a later time.
- You can create a local, editable Ontylog-Extension namespace using the DTS Editor to integrate new concepts and terms (and their relationships) with the Subscription Ontylog namespace. See <u>Ontylog Extension Namespaces</u> below for more information.

D.1.2 Local Ontylog Namespaces

A Local Ontylog Namespace is one created within the DTS Editor, utilizing the Local Ontylog Namespace options newly added to DTS 4.5. With these tools you can now create your own local namespaces with the same Ontylog description logic. Local Ontylog Namespaces also undergo the same process of **classification** to be organized into a taxonomy. Once created, Local Ontylog Namespaces, unlike Subscription Ontylog Namespaces, can remain read-write until published and edits are finalized.

D.1.3 Ontylog Extension Namespaces

You can create an Ontylog Extension namespace:

- As its title implies, each Ontylog Extension namespace is an **extension** of a specific Subscription Ontylog namespace, created for the purpose of creating/maintaining new local content for the linked Subscription Ontylog namespace.
- In the Extension namespace you can add new concepts, add or change concept relationships (i.e., superconcept/subconcept relationships) add or change role relationship values, and add new associations for the Subscription Ontylog namespace.
- You can classify the Extension namespace against the linked Subscription Ontylog namespace, then view the new hierarchy for the Ontylog Extension namespace; the displayed Extension namespace hierarchy reflects both the linked Subscription Ontylog namespace concepts, **and** concepts from the Extension namespace.

D.1.4 Thesaurus Namespaces

A Thesaurus namespace is one that is created from locally defined information, e.g., concepts, terms and associated attributes. Data in a thesaurus namespace can reference (via local associations) information in any namespace including an Ontylog namespace. For **Thesaurus** namespaces, concepts are organized based on relationships (associations) with other concepts. Subscription namespaces with the type of **Thesaurus** are not editable in the DTS Editor. However, you can create a new local namespace that is a **Thesaurus** type and create and maintain content locally.

D.2 Current Local Namespace

Since a DTS knowledgebase often contains many local namespaces, each having multiple attribute types, selection of the desired type during the editing process can be awkward. The DTS Editor defines a **Current Local Namespace** for the purpose of shortening the content in dropdowns, etc. used in the editing process. Select **Set Current Local Namespace** from the **Options** menu to set a current local namespace using the *Set Current Local Namespace* window. The namespace you specify here becomes the default local (writable) namespace for the addition

and maintenance of the property types, association types, and qualifier types used during the addition of local content.

Set	Current Local Namespace	x
Select a writa default attribu	ble local Namespace to be used as the te Namespace in edit operations.	
Namespace:	DTS4 Namespace	~
	OK Cancel	

- 1. Thereafter, you can add a new property, synonym, or association to a concept or term in a namespace, by selecting the appropriate attribute type (e.g., **property type**) from the Current Local Namespace. Remember that the Current Local Namespace is simply a convenience to reduce the complexity (length) of selection dropdowns. You can change the Current Local namespace value at any time.
- Local attributes added in this manner to a concept or term in a subscription namespace are listed in *italics* in the *Concept/Term Details* panel view, as well as in the *Concept Tree* panel view (Container and Inline versions of the Ontylog Tree view). Note the illustration.



- 3. The attributes themselves actually are written to the *local namespace*; no changes occur for the *subscription namespace* itself.
- 4. The DTS Editor allows you to select or change the current local namespace at any time; it remembers the current local namespace the next time you connect to it. For your reference, the current local namespace always displays in the right-most panel of the **Status Bar** at the bottom of the *DTS Editor Main* window.

For the purpose of adding local content, you can create property types, concept or term association types, and qualifier types in any local namespace. If you add instances of these types to a concept, the types do not have to reside in the same namespace as the target concept, but can be from any local namespace.

Qualifier types, however, must reside in the same namespace as the property or association types they modify.

- 5. Since the current local namespace may be changed, it is not necessary for local content for a subscription namespace to be stored in a single local namespace.
- 6. Since properties, synonyms, and associations are attached directly to concepts in a namespace, you can retrieve these details along with the existing attributes of the concepts. In the DTS Editor, when you add or modify properties, synonyms, associations, or qualifiers of a subscription concept, the list of types (e.g. property types) will be those defined in the current local namespace, rather than those in the subscription namespace.

D.3 Create a Local Namespace

Follow this procedure to add a new local namespace to your knowledgebase. **Note**: To create a local namespace you must have the NAMESPACE_ADMIN permission. From the Menu select **Tools > Namespace Editor**.

<u>T</u> ool	s] <u>O</u> ptions <u>H</u> elp
	Concep <u>t</u> Tree
	Search
	Concept <u>W</u> alker
	Concept/Term <u>D</u> etails
	Associations
	Properties
	<u>S</u> ynonyms
	Attribute Types
	Namespace Editor
	Subset Editor
	Subset <u>C</u> ompare
	<u>A</u> uthority Editor

1. The Namespace Editor window will open.

Filter By: - All - Search E Namespace / Type Local Extends DTS4 Namespace Thesaurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus HCPCS Ontylog Image: Control of the saurus LOINC Ontylog Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus)		or	Namespace Edit	8
Namespace / Type Local Extends DTS4 Namespace Thesaurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus ICD-10 R Thesaurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus LOINC Ontylog Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] Ontylog Image: Control of the saurus SNOMED CT Ontvloa Image: Control of the saurus V Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus V Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus V Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus V Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus V Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus V Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus V Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus Image: Control of the saurus	xport	Search]	Filter By: - All -
DTS4 Namespace Thesaurus ♥ HCPCS Ontylog □ ICD-10 R Thesaurus □ LOINC Ontylog □ NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] Ontylog □ RxNorm R Thesaurus □ SNOMED CT Ontvloa □ ▼ ▼ New Delete Publish Close		Extends	Local	Туре	Namespace /
HCPCS Ontylog ICD-10 R Thesaurus LOINC Ontylog NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] Ontylog RxNorm R Thesaurus SNOMED CT Ontvloa 	^		~	Thesaurus	DTS4 Namespace
ICD-10 R Thesaurus LOINC Ontylog NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] Ontylog RxNorm R Thesaurus SNOMED CT Ontvloa				Ontylog	HCPCS
LOINC Ontylog NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] Ontylog RxNorm R Thesaurus SNOMED CT Ontvloa V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	=			Thesaurus	ICD-10 R
NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] Ontylog RxNorm R Thesaurus SNOMED CT Ontvloa V V V Delete Publish Close	-			Ontylog	LOINC
RxNorm R Thesaurus SNOMED CT Ontvloa				Ontylog	NDF-RT2 [Public Edition]
SNOMED CT Ontvloa				Thesaurus	RxNorm R
New Delete Publish Close	~			Ontvloa	SNOMED CT
New Delete Publish Close					•
	🔿 🏟		Close	New Delete Publish	(

2. To create a namespace click **New**.

Filter By: - All - ✓ Search Export Namespace / Type Local Extends DTS4 Namespace Thesaurus ✓ HCPCS Ontylog □ ICD-10 R Thesaurus □ LOINC Ontylog □ NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] Ontylog □ RxNorm R Thesaurus □ SNOMED CT Ontvloa □	x		or	Namespace Edit	•
Namespace / Type Local Extends DTS4 Namespace Thesaurus Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus HCPCS Ontylog Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus LOINC Ontylog Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] Ontylog Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus SNOMED CT Ontvloa Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus Image: Constraint of the saurus	Export	Search			Filter By: - All - 🗸
DTS4 Namespace Thesaurus HCPCS Ontylog ICD-10 R Thesaurus LOINC Ontylog NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] Ontylog RxNorm R Thesaurus SNOMED CT Ontvloa		Extends	Local	Туре	Namespace /
New Delete Publish Close	× == ×			Thesaurus Ontylog Thesaurus Ontylog Ontylog Thesaurus Ontyloa	DTS4 Namespace HCPCS ICD-10 R LOINC NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] RxNorm R SNOMED CT
	⇒ \$		Close	New Delete Publish	

3. The New Namespace window will open.

0	New Namespace	x
Name:		
ID:	(auto)	
Code:	(auto)	
Authority	Apelon, Inc.	~
Type:	Thesaurus	~
Linked Namespace:		\checkmark
Permission:	Read-Write	~
Locality:	Local	~
Profile	- None -	~
	OK Cancel	

4. In the Name field, type the desired name of your local namespace, i.e., LocalNS.

Name:	LocalNS
	•

5. The ID & Code fields are set to auto generate by default; this is the normal operation. If desired, however, specific values can be entered.

ID:	(auto)	
Code:	(auto)	

6. The next field is the **Authority** field. Select the desired Authority for the namespace from the dropdown. If you wish to add a new Authority (or review the details of any Authority), click the **Authority button**.

0	New Namespace	x
Name	LocalNS	
ID:	(auto)	
Code	auto)	
Authority	Apelon, Inc.	~
Type	: Thesaurus	~
Linked Namespace:	:	~
Permission	Read-Write	~
Locality	Local	~
Profile	- None -	~
	OK Cancel	

7. The *Authority Editor* window will open. To add your organization as an Authority, click **New**.

Authority Editor	x
	Export
Name /	Local
Apelon FHIR Authority Apelon, Inc. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) International Health Terminology Standard Development Organisation (IHTSDO) National Library of Medicine (NLM) Regenstrief Institute U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) U.S. National Library of Medicine	
New Delete Close	⇒ \$

8. The *New Authority* window will open. In the **Description** field enter the name of your organization, **i.e.**, **MyOrg**. The ID field will auto generate so leave it as is and click **OK**.

0	New Authority
Description:	MyOrg
ID:	(auto)
	OK Cancel

9. The authority you created will now be listed and the Local authority field will be checked, click **Close**.

Authority Editor	x
	Export
Name /	Local
Apelon FHIR Authority Apelon, Inc. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) International Health Terminology Standard Development Organisation (IHTSDO)	
MyOrg National Library of Medicine (NLM) Regenstrief Institute U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)	
New Delete Close	⇒ Ø

10. In the *New Namespace* window, click the dropdown next to the **Authority** field and choose your organization, i.e., **MyOrg**.

0	New Namespace
Name:	LocalNS
ID:	(auto)
Code:	(auto)
Authority	Apelon FHIR Authority 🗸
Type:	Apelon FHIR Authority
Linked Namespace:	Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (
Permission:	International Health Terminology Standard MyOrg
Locality:	National Library of Medicine (NLM) Recenstrief Institute
Profile	U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)
	OK Cancel

- 11. The Type field has (3) options, Ontylog, Thesaurus or Ontylog Extension namespace.
 - An *Ontylog* namespace is one that is created locally using the Ontylog language, for purposes of creating a taxonomy through **classification**. This option is new to DTS 4.5. Unlike Subscription Ontylog Namespaces, Local Ontylog Namespaces can be created as read-write and edited through the DTS Editor tools.
 - A *Thesaurus* namespace is one that is created from locally-defined data. For Thesaurus namespaces, concepts are organized based on relationships (associations) with other concepts.
 - An *Ontylog Extension* namespace is an extension of a specific Ontylog subscription namespace, created for the purpose of creating/maintaining new local content for the linked Ontylog subscription namespace, i.e., SNOMED CT.
- 12. Based on your organization's needs, choose the desired namespace type.

Type:	Thesaurus 🗸
	Thesaurus
	Ontylog Extension

13. The **Linked Namespace** field will be grayed out if you selected a *Thesaurus* namespace above.

Linked Namespace:
Linked Namespace:

If you selected an *Ontylog Extension* namespace above you will need to choose the linked Subscription Ontylog namespace, e.g., SNOMED CT.

Linked Namespace:	СРТ 🗸	
	СРТ	
	ICD-10-CM	1
	ICD-9-CM	
	LOINC	
	SNOMED CT	
	Triad	

14. In the **Permission** field you have (2) Options *Read-Write* or *Read-Only*. If you want modelers to be able to edit and add information you will need to choose *Read-Write*.

Permission:	Read-Write 👻
	Read-Write
	Read-Only

15. The **Locality** field is set to *Local* by default and is not editable.

		_
Locality:	Local	Ψ.

16. The **Profile** field lets you specify whether you want the Namespace initialized with a predefined set of Namespace Attribute Types. These types are defined in a Namespace Profile object. If no Profile is desired, just leave the selection to **- None** -; otherwise, select a Profile name from the dropdown. If you wish to add a new Profile (or review the details of any Profile), click the **Profile** button. See the <u>Namespace Profile View and Maintenance</u> section for directions on use of the Profile Editor.

0	New Namespace	x	
Name	: LocalNS		
ID:	(auto)		
Code	: (auto)		
Authority	Apelon, Inc.	~	
Туре	: Thesaurus	~	
Linked Namespace	:	~	
Permission	: Read-Write	¥	
Locality	: Local	\checkmark	
Profile	- None -	~	
	- None -		
	Ontylog Namespace Profile (U)		
	System Namespace Profile (S)		
	Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)		-

17. Based on your selections above your window should now look similar to the images below. Verify your field parameters and click **OK**.

9	New Namespace	9	New Namespace
Name:	LocalNS	Name:	LocalNS
ID:	(auto)	ID:	(auto)
Code:	(auto)	Code:	(auto)
Authority	MyOrg 🗸	Authority	MyOrg 🗸
Type:	Ontylog Extension 🗸 🗸	Type:	Thesaurus 🗸
Linked Namespace:	SNOMED CT 🗸	Linked Namespace:	
Permission:	Read-Write 🗸	Permission:	Read-Write 🗸
Locality:	Local 🗸	Locality:	Local 🗸
Profile	- None - V	Profile	- None - V
	OK Cancel		OK Cancel

0	New Namespace	0	New Namespace	x
Name:	LocalNS	Name:	LocalNS	
ID:	(auto)	ID:	(auto)	
Code:	(auto)	Code:	(auto)	
Authority	MyOrg 🗸	Authority	MyOrg	✓
Type:	Ontylog Extension 🗸 🗸	Type:	Thesaurus	✓
Linked Namespace:	SNOMED CT 🗸	Linked Namespace:		$\overline{}$
Permission:	Read-Write 🗸	Permission:	Read-Write	✓
Locality:	Local v	Locality:	Local	✓
Profile	Ontylog Namespace Profile (U) 🗸 🗸	Profile	Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)	✓
	OK Cancel		OK Cancel	

0	New Namespace	x	0	New Namespace X
Name:	LocalNS		Name:	LocalNS
ID:	(auto)		ID:	(auto)
Code:	(auto)		Code:	(auto)
Authority	MyOrg	~	Authority	MyOrg 🗸
Type:	Ontylog Extension	~	Type:	Thesaurus 🗸
Linked Namespace:	SNOMED CT	~	Linked Namespace:	×
Permission:	Read-Write	~	Permission:	Read-Write 🗸
Locality:	Local	<u> </u>	Locality:	Local 🗸
Profile	System Namespace Profile (S)	~	Profile	System Namespace Profile (S) 🗸 🗸
	OK Cancel		[OK Cancel

18. The new namespace will be added and listed in the **Namespace Editor** Window, example images below. If desired, repeat this process to create additional namespaces.

5	Namespace Editor		x
Filter By: - All - 🗸		Searc	h Export
Namespace /	Туре	Local Extends	
HCPCS	Ontylog		~
ICD-10 R	Thesaurus		
LocalNS	Ontylog Extension	SNOMED (ET
LOINC	Ontylog		
RxNorm R	Thesaurus	H	
SNOMED CT	Ontvloa		~
•			
•	New Delete Publish	Close	⇒ \$
Local Read/Write Authority: MyOrg Versions (1) Version: Working Version Date: Roots (1) SNOMED CT	T Concept (SNOMED RT+CTV3)	[SNOMED CT]	
5	Namespace Editor		X
Filter By: - All - 🗸		Searc	th Export
Namespace /	Туре	Local Extends	
HCPCS	Ontylog		^
ICD-10 R	Thesaurus		_
LocalNS LocalNS2	Untylog Extension	SNOMED (
LOINC	Ontylog		
NDF-RT2 [Public Edition]	Ontylog		
RxNorm R	Thesaurus		~
	lew Delete Publish	Close	⇒ Ø
LocalNS2] Code: N32769 Gode: N32769 ID: 32769 (relative ID: 1) ID: 32769 (relative ID: 1) Amespace Type: Thesa Local	aurus		

When you are done adding namespaces, **Close** the Namespace Editor.

D.4 View an Existing Namespace

Follow this procedure to view information for an existing subscription namespace, or local namespace in your knowledgebase.

1. From the Menu select Tools > Namespace Editor.



2. The Namespace Editor window will open.

ē	Namespace Editor	X
Filter By: 🛛 - All - 🗸 🗸	Search	Export
Namespace /	Type Local Extends	
HCPCS ICD-10 R LocalNS	Ontylog Thesaurus Ontylog Extension SNOMED CT	~
LOCAINS2 LOINC NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] RxNorm R	Ontylog Ontylog Thesaurus	~
•	New Delete Publish Close	⇒ Ø

3. Information for each available namespace is listed in a table format. Information includes the namespace name and namespace type (**Ontylog**, **Thesaurus**, **or Ontylog Extension**). An indicator referencing if each namespace is a local namespace is included as well. For each listed Ontylog Extension namespace, the name of the Subscription Ontylog namespace that it **Extends** is referenced.

The list of namespaces displayed in the Namespace Editor can be filtered based on the following parameters:

Name	Namespaces whose names match the pattern in the entry field will be displayed. Simple wildcards, e.g., "Subset*", are supported
Property	All namespaces that include Property Filters naming the selected Property will be displayed.
Version	
Property	All namespaces that include Version Property Filters naming the selected Version Property will be displayed.
Extends	All Ontylog Extension Namespaces that extend the selected base namespace will be displayed

You can resize the table columns. To change the sort for the namespace list, click the

column header for the characteristic (Namespace, Type, Local, or Extends) on which you want to base the sort.

Namespace / Type Local Ext	tends
----------------------------	-------

The table displaying the Namespace Editor parameters may be also be exported. The export respects any filters currently in use by the Namespace Editor. To export the contents displayed in the upper table view, click the **Export** button. Select **Clipboard** to copy the contents to your clipboard in order to transfer the data to other desktop applications. Select **File** to export the data as a locally saved .csv file.

4. In the table listing, click the namespace you want to view to highlight the row. The data in the bottom portion of the window changes to reflect information from that namespace.

6	Namespace Editor		x
Filter By: - All - 🗸		Search E	Export
Namespace /	Туре	Local Extends	
HCPCS	Ontylog		~
ICD-10 R	Thesaurus		
LocalNS	Ontylog Extension	SNOMED CT	≡
LocalNS2	Thesaurus	✓	
LOINC	Ontylog		
NDF-RT2 [Public Edition]	Ontylog		~
RxNorm R	Thesaurus		
+	New Delete Publish (Close	⇒ 🔅
			~
Code: HCPCS			
Namespace Type: Onty	log		≡
Subscription	-		
Read-Only			
Authority: Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)			
Versions (27)			
📄 📃 Version: 2019.3.18	AB		
Version Date: 0	1-Apr-2019 00:00:00 by		
Healthcare	Common Procedure Coding Syste	em (HCPCS Level II)	
Uersion: 2019.2.18	AB		
Version Date: 0	1-Jan-2019 01:00:00 by Apelon		
Roots (1)			
Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System (HCPCS Level II)			
Version Date: 01-Jan-2019 00:00:00 by Apelon			
Roots (1)		6	
Healthcare Common Procedure Coding System (HCPCS Level II)			
Version 2018.4.18	1-Oct-2018 00:00:00 by		\sim

• The *Code* provides additional namespace identification for an existing namespace and is not editable, regardless of whether it is a subscription or local namespace.

- The *ID* for an existing namespace is not editable, regardless of whether it is a subscription or local namespace.
- A namespace is one of three types: **Ontylog**, **Thesaurus**, or **Ontylog Extension**. Each namespace may be a **subscription** namespace, or a **local** namespace. Refer to the *Overview* discussions under *Namespace Maintenance* for more on namespace types.
- The namespace *Locality* indicates how the namespace data was acquired. **Subscription** indicates a load of namespace content into DTS through a subscription import. **Local** indicates the namespace was created using the DTS Editor, from DTS import utilities, or from user programs using the DTS API, for the purpose of using and maintaining local terminology content. This field is not editable for existing namespaces.
- The namespace *Permission* indicates whether or not the namespace is writable. The value (**Read-Only** or **Read-Write**) is set when the namespace is created. For a local namespace, this value can only be edited by a user with NAMESPACE_MANAGE permission. Subscription namespaces are always **Read-Only**.
- An **authority** indicates the organization (e.g., **U.S. National Library of Medicine**) that approved and/or certified a terminology. Refer to the *Authority View and Maintenance* discussions for procedures on viewing and creating authorities.

When you finish viewing/editing namespaces, close the Namespace Editor window.

D.5 Delete a Local Namespace

Follow this procedure to delete an existing local namespace from your knowledgebase. **Note**: To delete a local namespace you must be logged into the DTS Editor as a user with the NAMESPACE_ADMIN permission.

1. From the Menu select Tools > Namespace Editor.

Tool	Tools Options Help		
	Concept Tree		
	Search		
	Concept Walker		
	Concept/Term Details		
	Associations		
	Properties		
	Synonyms		
	Attribute Types		
	Namespace Editor		
	Namespace Profile Editor		
	Subset Editor		
	Subset Profile Editor		
	Subset Compare		
	Authority Editor		

2. The Namespace Editor window will open.

ē	Namespace Editor	x
Filter By: 🛛 - All - 🗸 🗸	Search	Export
Namespace /	Type Local Extends	
HCPCS	Ontylog	^
ICD-10 R	Thesaurus	
LocalNS	Ontylog Extension 🗹 SNOMED CT	≡
LocalNS2	Thesaurus 🗸	
LOINC	Ontylog	
NDF-RT2 [Public Edition]	Ontylog	
RxNorm R	Thesaurus	
	UDUISN Close	
I		

3. In the namespace table listing, click the namespace you want to delete to highlight the row. The data in the bottom portion of the window changes to reflect information from that namespace. The **Delete** option is not available if you selected a subscription namespace. Click the enabled **Delete** button if you selected a local namespace for deletion



4. A confirmation window similar to the following displays. This window will also display if there are Subsets that reference the namespace that is being deleted. If the namespace is deleted, any Subsets that reference the namespace in its expression will become invalid.

Delete Namespace		
This Namespace is referenced in 2 Subsets. Are you sure you want to delete the Namespace 'LocalNS2'?		
OK Cancel		

5. Click **OK** to delete the namespace from the knowledgebase or click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion.



6. If you click **OK**, the namespace is deleted from the table in the *Namespace Editor* along with all concepts, terms, and associations from the namespace. A confirmation window similar to the following displays.

Ø	Delete Namespace	x
	Namespace 'LocalNS2' deleted.	
	OK Cancel	

Click **OK** and close the *Namespace Editor* window.

D.6 Authority View and Maintenance

A namespace **authority** indicates the organization (e.g., **U.S. National Library of Medicine**, **U.S. Medical Terms Review**) that approved or certified a terminology. An authority must be specified as part of each namespace (and subset) definition.

Authorities can be viewed and managed within the Authority Editor.

Authority Ed	ditor x
	Export
Name /	Local
Apelon, Inc. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) International Health Terminology Standard Developme MyOrg National Library of Medicine (NLM) Regenstrief Institute U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) LU.S. National Library of Medicine	ent Organisation (IHTSDO)
New Delete	Close 🔿 🔅

The table displaying the Authority Editor parameters may be also be exported. To export the contents displayed in the upper table view, click the **Export** button. Select **Clipboard** to copy the contents to your clipboard in order to transfer the data to other desktop applications. Select **File** to export the data as a locally saved .csv file.

D.6.1 Create an Authority

Follow this procedure to create an authority that you can assign to a local namespace. **Note**: To create authority you must be logged into the DTS Editor as a user with the AUTHORITY_ADMIN permission.

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Authority Editor*.

<u>T</u> ool	s <u>O</u> ptions <u>H</u> elp
	Concep <u>t</u> Tree
	<u>S</u> earch
	Concept <u>W</u> alker
	Concept/Term <u>D</u> etails
	Associations
	<u>P</u> roperties
	<u>S</u> ynonyms
	Attribute Types
	Namespace Editor
	Subset Editor
	Subset <u>C</u> ompare
	<u>A</u> uthority Editor

2. The Authority Editor window will display.

Authority Editor		x
	Expo	rt
Name /	Local	
Apelon, Inc. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) International Health Terminology Standard Development Organisation (IHTSDO) MyOrg National Library of Medicine (NLM) Regenstrief Institute U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) IU.S. National Library of Medicine		< III >
New Delete Close	•	<i>©</i>

3. Click the **New** button on the *Authority Editor* floating window.
| authority Editor | x |
|--|--------|
| | Export |
| Name / | Local |
| Apelon, Inc.
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS)
International Health Terminology Standard Development Organisation (IHTSDO)
MyOrg
National Library of Medicine (NLM)
Regenstrief Institute
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)
ULS. National Library of Medicine | |
| New Delete Close | |

4. The *New Authority* window displays.

0	New Authority	
Description:		
ID:	(auto)	
	OK Cancel	

5. Specify the name of the authority for a local namespace in the *Description* field. In the *ID* field specifies the ID number of the authority for a local namespace. Leave this field blank to accept the auto-generated ID (the usual case), or enter the desired authority ID.

0	New Authority
Description:	NewAuthority
ID:	(auto)
	OK Cancel

6. Click **OK** to update the knowledgebase with the new authority, or click **Cancel** to ignore the addition. If you click OK the authority will be added to the list.

See Authority Editor	x
	Export
Name /	Local
Apelon, Inc. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) International Health Terminology Standard Development Organisation (IHTSDO) MyOrg National Library of Medicine (NLM)	
NewAuthority Recenstrief Institute	
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)	
New Delete Close	⇒ 🔅
NewAuthority ID: 32770 (relative ID: 2) Local Read/Write	

D.6.2 View an Existing Authority

Follow this procedure to view information for an existing, local namespace authority.

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Authority Editor*.

Tool	s Options Help
	Concept Tree
	Search
	Concept Walker
	Concept/Term Details
	Associations
	Properties
	Synonyms
	Attribute Types
	Namespace Editor
	Namespace Profile Editor
	Subset Editor
	Subset Profile Editor
	Subset Compare
	Authority Editor

2. The Authority Editor window will display.

authority Editor	x
	Export
Name /	Local
Apelon, Inc. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) International Health Terminology Standard Development Organisation (IHTSDO) MyOrg National Library of Medicine (NLM) NewAuthority Regenstrief Institute ULS. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)	
New Delete Close	÷ \$

3. To view the information about a specific Authority, click on the Authority name in the list in the *Authority Editor* floating window.

F Authority Editor	x
	Export
Name /	Local
Apelon, Inc. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) International Health Terminology Standard Development Organisation (IHTSDO) MyOrg National Library of Medicine (NLM)	
NewAuthority	
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)	
New Delete Close	⇒ 🔅
NewAuthority ID: 32770 (relative ID: 2) Local Read/Write	

- 4. The information on each Authority is displayed in the bottom half of the *Authority Editor* window. The data in the window changes to reflect information from that authority.
 - The ID number assigned to this authority displays.
 - The locality of the Authority, **Local** or **Subscription**, displays.
 - The *permission* of the Authority (**Read-Only** or **Read-Write**). Subscription namespaces are **Read-Only**.
- 5. Click **Close** when you are through viewing authority information, and to close the *Authority Editor* window.

D.6.3 Delete an Authority

Follow this procedure to view information for an existing, local namespace authority. **Note**: To delete an authority you must be logged into the DTS Editor as a user with the AUTHORITY_ADMIN permission.

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Authority Editor*.

Tool	s Options Help
	Concept Tree
	Search
	Concept Walker
	Concept/Term Details
	Associations
	Properties
	Synonyms
	Attribute Types
	Namespace Editor
	Namespace Profile Editor
	Subset Editor
	Subset Profile Editor
	Subset Compare
	Authority Editor

2. The Authority Editor window will display.

authority Editor	x
	Export
Name /	Local
Apelon, Inc. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) International Health Terminology Standard Development Organisation (IHTSDO) MyOrg National Library of Medicine (NLM) NewAuthority Regenstrief Institute LU.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)	
New Delete Close	⇒ Ø

3. To delete an Authority, click on the Authority name in the list in the *Authority Editor* floating window and click **Delete**.

See Authority Editor	x
	Export
Name /	Local
Apelon, Inc. Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) International Health Terminology Standard Development Organisation (IHTSDO) MyOrg National Library of Medicine (NLM)	
NewAuthority Regenstrief Institute	
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA)	
New Delete Close	⇒ 🔅
NewAuthority ID: 32770 (relative ID: 2) Local Read/Write	

4. A confirmation window similar to the following displays.

Delete Authority	x
Are you sure you want to delete the Authority 'NewA	uthority'?
OK Cancel	

5. Click **OK** to delete the authority from the knowledgebase. Click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion. If you click **OK**, a confirmation window similar to the following displays.



D.7 Namespace Profile View and Maintenance

A Namespace Profile is a set of Namespace Attribute Types that are automatically added to a Namespace when the Namespace is created. The *Namespace Profile Editor* enables users to create, manage, and delete Namespace Profiles. Both User (specific to individual users) and System (accessible to all users) Profiles are available. Only users logged in with the "**apelondtsadmin**" role can create or edit system profiles.

The *Namespace Profile Editor* is available from the DTS Editor Tools menu, as well as from the *New Namespace* panel.

D.7.1 Create a Namespace Profile

Follow this procedure to create a new namespace profile:

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Namespace Profile Editor*, or click the **Profile** button in the *New Namespace* panel.

<u>T</u> ools <u>O</u> ptions <u>H</u> elp		
Concep <u>t</u> Tree		
Search		
Concept <u>W</u> alker		
Concept/Term <u>D</u> etails	S New Namespace	x
Associations	Name: LocalNS	
Properties	ID: (auto)	
<u>S</u> ynonyms	Code: (auto)	
Attribute Types	Authority Apelon, Inc.	~
Nameraace Editor	Type: Thesaurus	
	Linked Namespace:	V
Namespace Profile Editor	Permission: Read-Write	~
<u>S</u> ubset Editor	Locality: Local	✓
Subset <u>P</u> rofile Editor	Profile - None -	~
Subset <u>C</u> ompare		
<u>A</u> uthority Editor	OK Cancel	

2. After the Namespace profile Editor appears, click on the **New** button opposite the **Profile** field dropdown.

Namespace P	rofile Editor	×					
File							
Profile: Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)							
Description:							
Association Type Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role Type	e Validator						
Name	Connects	Inverse Name					
Also Means	Concept With Synonymous						
Is Equal To	Terms						
Parent Of	Concepts	Child Of					
Add Remove Restore							
Save Rename Copy	Restore Delete Ca	ncel					

3. The *New Namespace Profile* window displays. Enter the name of new profile. Then select if you wish to create a new profile from scratch, or import the settings of an existing profile (importing all existing attribute types, and allowing you to modify it further from that point), and click **OK** to initialize a new profile, or click **Cancel** to ignore the addition.

<u>\$</u>	New Profile	x
Profile Name	2:	
Initialize Pro	file from Namespace:	
- None -		~
	OK Cancel	

4. A new profile will be loaded into the *New Namespace Profile* window. If you chose to initialize your profile from an existing namespace, all the existing Association, Property, Qualifier, and Role Types, and Validators will be present in this new profile. Created profiles are always user profiles, designated by a "(U)" following its name. Follow the steps in the <u>View and Edit a Namespace Profile</u> section below to complete the profile. Note that the profile will not be stored in the DTS Knowledgebase until the profile has been explicitly saved.

ſ

Namespace Profile Editor							
File							
Profile: My editable SNOMED CT Profile (U)							
Description:							
Association Type Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role T	ype Validator						
Name	Connects	Inverse Name					
Access (attribute)	Concepts	NOT DISPLAYABLE					
ALTERNATIVE (attribute)	Concepts	ALTERNATIVE (attribute)					
Associated finding (attribute)	Concepts	NOT DISPLAYABLE					
Associated procedure (attribute)	Concepts	NOT DISPLAYABLE					
Clinical course (attribute)	Concepts	NOT DISPLAYABLE					
CTV3 Parent Of	Concepts	CTV3 Child Of					
Episodicity (attribute)	Concepts	NOT DISPLAYABLE					
Laterality (attribute)	Concepts	NOT DISPLAYABLE					
MAY BE A (attribute)	Concepts	MAY BE A (attribute)	\sim				
Add Remove Restore							
Save Rename Copy	Restore Delete	Cancel					

D.7.2 View and Edit a Namespace Profile

Follow this procedure to view an existing namespace profile or edit the profile definition.

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Namespace Profile Editor*, or click the **Profile** button in the *New Namespace* panel.

<u>T</u> ools	Options <u>H</u> elp	T		
	Concep <u>t</u> Tree			
	Search			
	Concept <u>W</u> alker			
	Concept/Term <u>D</u> etails	9	New Namespace	x
	Associations	Name	LocalNS	
	Properties	ID:	(auto)	
	<u>S</u> ynonyms	Code	(auto)	
	Attribute Types	Authority	Apelon, Inc.	
	<u>N</u> amespace Editor	Type: Linked Namespace:	Thesaurus	
	Names <u>p</u> ace Profile Editor	Permission	Read-Write	
	Subset Editor	Locality	Local	51
	Subset Profile Editor	Profile	- None -	
	Subset <u>C</u> ompare			·
	Authority Editor		OK Cancel	

2. To view an existing namespace profile, click on the profile name in the **Profile** field dropdown.

ē	New Namespace	x
Name:	LocalNS	
ID:	(auto)	
Code:	(auto)	
Authority	Apelon, Inc.	~
Type:	Thesaurus	~
Linked Namespace:		~
Permission:	Read-Write	~
Locality:	Local	\sim
Profile	- None -	~
	- None -	
	Ontylog Namespace Profile (U)	
	System Namespace Profile (S)	
	Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)	

3. The information on the selected profile is displayed below the Profile field of the *Namespace Profile Editor* window. This information consists of:

6	Namespace Profile Editor							
File								
Profile: Thesa	Profile: Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U) V							
Description: This is	s a Thesaurus Namespace Profi	e to be used for the	DTS Editor Guide					
Association Type	Property Type Qualifier Typ	e Kind Role Type	Validator]				
Name			Connects	Inverse Name				
Concept to Concept	pt Association		Concepts					
Synonym			Concept With Synonymous					
Term to Term Asso	ciation		Terms					
Add Remove Restore								
	Save Rename	Copy	Restore Delete Ca	ncel				

a. The description of the Profile.

Description: This is a Thesaurs Namespace Profile to be used for the DTS Editor Guide.

b. A set of tabs panels, each of which shows the attribute types, of the selected class (Association Type, Property Type, Qualifier Type Role Type, and Validator), to

be added to a created namespace. These tab panels, and the panel's elements, are similar to those in the *Attribute Type Editor* described in the <u>next section</u>. See this section for further details on attribute type definitions. The rows in any of these tab panels can be sorted by clicking on the header of the desired sort column.

Association Type Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role Type	Validator	
Name	Connects	Inverse Name
Concept to Concept Association	Concepts	
Synonym	Concept With Synonymous	
Term to Term Association	Terms	

- 4. To change the description of a Profile, edit the **Description** text field.
- 5. To add, modify or remove an association type, select the Association Type tab.
 - a. To add an association to the profile, click on the **Add** button at the bottom of the tab panel and enter the name of the association type to be created in the popup. Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

Namespace Profile Editor								
File								
Profile: Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)								
Description:	Description: This is a Thesaurus Namespace Profile to be used for the DTS Editor Guide							
Association	Association Type Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role Type Validator							
Name						Connects	Inverse Name	
Concept to	Concep	t Association				Concepts		
Synonym						Concept With Synonymous		
Term to Terr	m Asso	ciation				Terms		
Add Remove Restore								
		Save	Rename	C	R R	estore Delete Ca	ancel	

New Association Type					
Enter new Attribute Name:					
Parent Of					
OK Cancel					

i. As necessary, click in the **Connects** cell to select the Connects value for the new type.

Association Type * Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role Type	e Validator							
Name Connects Inverse Name								
Concept to Concept Association	Concepts							
Parent Of	Concepts							
Synonym	Concept With Synonymous Ter							
Term to Term Association	Concepts							
	Terms							

ii. Double click in the **Inverse Name** cell to enter an optional inverse name for the association.

Association Type *	Property Type Qu	alifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator		
Name					Connects		Inverse Name
Concept to Concept Association				0	Concepts		
Parent Of					Concepts		Child Of
Synonym				(Concept Wit	th Synonymous	
Term to Term Associa	ation			٦	Ferms		

b. To modify an existing profile association, double click in the **Name** cell to edit the association type name, click in the **Connects** cell to change the Connects value for the type, or double click in the **Inverse Name** cell to modify (or remove) an optional inverse name for the type. Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

Association Type *	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator			
Name Connects Inverse Name								
Concept to Concept		C	Concepts					
Modified Parent Of				(Concepts		Child Of	
Synonym				C	Concept Wi	th Synonymous		
Term to Term Association				T	Terms			

c. To remove an association type from the profile, select the association in the table and click on the **Remove** button.

ō	Namespace Profile Editor								
File									
Profile:	Profile: Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)								New
Description:	This is	a Thesaurus Nar	mespace Profile t	o be u	sed for the [OTS Editor	Guide		
Association	Туре	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator			
Name						Connects		Inverse Name	
Concept to (Concep	t Association Typ	De			Concepts		Inverse Concept to	Concep
	Add Remove Restore								
	Save Rename Copy Restore Delete Cancel								

i. A confirmation dialog will be shown.

	Remove Association Type					
Are you sure you want to remove Association Type 'Concept to Concept Association Type						
	OK Cancel					

ii. Click **OK** to remove the association type, or **Cancel** to cancel the operation.



- 6. To add, modify or remove a property type, select the **Property Type** tab.
 - a. To add a property to the profile, click on the Add button at the bottom of the tab panel and enter the name of the property type to be created in the popup.
 Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

5		Nan	nespace Pr	ofile Editor)
ile							
Profile: Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)							
Description: Th	iis is a Thesaurus Name	espace Profile to b	e used for the	DTS Editor Guide			
Association Ty	Property Type *	Qualifier Type	Kind Role Typ	e Validator			
Name				Modifies		Validator	
Namespace Pro	operty			Namespace			
Term Property				Term			
Version Proper	ty			Version			
	Add Remove Restore						
	Save	Rename	Сору	Restore Delete 0	Cancel		

New Property Type					
Enter new Attribute Name:					
Concept Property					
OK Cancel					

i. As necessary, click in the **Modifies** cell to select the Modifies value for the new type.

Association Type Property Type * Qualifier Type Kind Role Type	e Validator
Name	Modifies Validator
Concept Property	Concept
Namespace Property	Namespace
Term Property	Version
Version Property	Concept
	Term

b. To modify an existing profile property, double click in the **Name** cell to edit the property type name, click in the **Modifies** cell to change the Modifies value for the type. Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

Association Type Property Type * Qualifier Type Kind Role Ty	pe Validator	
Name	Modifies	Validator
Modified Concept Property	Concept	
Namespace Property	Namespace	
Term Property	Term	
Version Property	Version	
		-

c. To remove a property type from the profile, select the property in the table and click on the **Remove** button.

Namespace Profile Editor						
File						
Profile: Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)						
Description: This is a Thesaurus Namespace Profile to be used for the	DTS Editor Guide					
Association Type Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role Type	Validator					
Name	Modifies	Validator				
Modifed Concept Property	Concept					
Namespace Property	Namespace					
Term Property	Term					
Version Property	Version					
Add Remove Restore						
Save Rename Copy	Restore Delete Cancel					

i. A confirmation dialog will be shown.

	Remove Property Type	x
?	Are you sure you want to remove Property Type 'Modifed Concept Property'?	m

- ii. Click **OK** to remove the property type, or **Cancel** to cancel the operation.
- 7. To add, modify or remove a qualifier type, select the **Qualifier Type** tab.
 - a. To add a qualifier to the profile, click on the Add button at the bottom of the tab panel and enter the name of the qualifier type to be created in the popup.
 Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

B		N	ame	space Pro	file Ed	itor		
ile								
Profile: These	aurus Namespace	Profile (U)					~	New
Description: This is	s a Thesaurus Na	mespace Profile	to be u	ised for the [OTS Edito	r Guide		
Association Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validato	r		
Name						Qualifies	Validator	
Concept Property	Qualifier					Concept Property		
Namespace Prope	rty Qualifier					Namespace Property		
Term Association (Qualifier					Term Association		
Term Property Qu	alifier					Term Property		
Version Property C	Qualifier					Version Property		
		Ad	d [Remove	Res	store		
	Save	Rename	C	opy R	estore	Delete Cancel	1	

	New Qu	alifier Type	x			
Enter new Attribute Name:						
Concept	Association Q	ualifier				
	ОК	Cancel				

i. As necessary, click in the **Qualifies** cell to select the Qualifies value for the new type.

Association Type Property Type Qualifier Type * Kind Role Type Valida	ator	
Name	Qualifies	Validator
Concept Association Qualifier	Concept Property	
Concept Property Qualifier	Namespace Property	
Namespace Property Qualifier	Version Property	
Term Association Qualifier	Concept Property	
Term Property Qualifier	Concept Association	
Version Property Qualifier	Term Property	
	Term Association	

b. To modify an existing profile qualifier, double click in the **Name** cell to edit the qualifier type name, click in the **Qualifies** cell to change the Qualifies value for the type. Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

Association Type Property Type Qua	lifier Type * Kind	Role Type Valida	tor	
Name			Qualifies	Validator
Modified Concept Association Qualifier			Concept Property	

c. To remove a qualifier type from the profile, select the qualifier in the table and click on the **Remove** button.

Namespace Profile Editor											
file											
Profile: Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)											
Description: This is a Thesaurus Namespace Profile to be used for the DTS Editor Guide											
Association Type Property Type Qualifier Type * Kind Role Type Validator											
Name Qualifies Validator											
Concept Association Qualifier	Concept Property										
Concept Property Qualifier	Concept Property										
Namespace Property Qualifier	Namespace Property										
Term Association Qualifier	Term Association										
Term Property Qualifier	Term Property										
Version Property Qualifier	Version Property										
Version Property Quaimer Version Property Add Remove Restore Save Rename Copy Restore											

i. A confirmation dialog will be shown.

	Remove Qualifier Type	x
?	Are you sure you want to remove Qualifier Type 'Concept Association Qualifie	r'?"
	OK Cancel	

- ii. Click **OK** to remove the qualifier type, or **Cancel** to cancel the operation.
- 8. To add, modify, or remove a kind, select the Kind tab.
 - a. Note that if any Kinds are entered in this tab, the resulting profile can only be applied to a Local Ontylog, or Ontylog Extension namespace.
 - b. To add a Kind to the profile, click on the **Add** button at the bottom of the tab panel and enter the name of the Kind to be created in the popup. Duplicate (case-insensitive) kind names are not permitted.

ō	Namespace Profile Editor	x									
File											
Profile:	Ontylog Namespace Profile (U)	w									
Description:											
Association	Type Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role Type Validator	_									
Name CONCEPT_K	and 1										
	Add Remove Restore										
	Save Rename Copy Restore Delete Cancel										
	New Kind X										
	Enter new Attribute Name:										
	CONCEPT_KIND_2										
	OK Cancel										

c. To modify an existing profile kind, double click in the **Name** cell to edit the kind name. Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

Association Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind *	Role Type	Validator				
Name									
CONCEPT_KIND_1									
MODIFIED_CONCEPT_KIND_2									

d. To remove a kind from the profile, select the kind in the table and click on the **Remove** button.

ø	Namespace Profile Editor											x	
File													
Profile:	Profile: Ontylog Namespace Profile (U)										¥	New	
Description:	Description:												
Association	Туре	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator]						
Name													
CONCEPT_K	(IND_1												
CONCEPT_K	(IND_2												
Add Remove Restore													
		Save	Rename	C	opy F	estore	Delete	2	Cancel				

i. A confirmation dialog will be shown.

	Remove Kind X								
?	Are you sure you want to remove Kind 'CONCEPT_KIND_2'?"								
OK Cancel									

- ii. Click **OK** to remove the kind, or **Cancel** to cancel the operation.
- 9. To add, modify or remove a role type, select the **Role Type** tab.
 - a. Note that if any Role Types are entered in this tab, the resulting profile can only be applied to an Ontylog Extension namespace.
 - b. To add a Role Type to the profile, click on the **Add** button at the bottom of the tab panel and enter the name of the Role Type to be created in the popup. Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

6				N	ame	space Pro	ofile Edi	tor		2		
file												
Profile:	Profile: Ontylog Namespace Profile (U)											
Description:												
Association	Туре	Property	Туре	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator					
Name Domain					Ra	nge		Right Identity	Parent Role Type			
Role 1		CC	ONCEP	T_KIND_1	CON	CEPT_KIND	1	- None -	- None -			
				Ad	d	Remove	Rest	tore				
		Sa	ave	Rename	C	opy R	estore	Delete Cance	I			

		New	Rol	le T	ype		x
Enter ne	w Atl	tribute	Nan	ne:			
Role 2							
		ОК		0	ance	I	

i. As necessary, click in the **Domain**, **Range**, **Right Identity**, and **Parent Role Type** cells to select the desired values for the new type. Domain and Range are required.

Association Type Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role Type * Validator										
Name	Domain	Range	Right Identity	Parent Role Type						
Role 1	CONCEPT_KIND_1	CONCEPT_KIND_1	- None -	- None -						
Role 2	CONCEPT_KIND_1	CONCEPT KIND 1 🤍	- None -	- None -						
		CONCEPT_KIND_1								
		CONCEPT_KIND_2								

c. To modify an existing profile Role, double click in the **Name** cell to edit the Role name. Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

Association Type Prope	rty Type Qualifier Type	Kind Role Type Validator		
Name	Domain	Range	Right Identity	Parent Role Type
Role 1	CONCEPT_KIND_1	CONCEPT_KIND_1	- None -	- None -
Modified Role 2	CONCEPT_KIND_1	CONCEPT_KIND_2	- None -	- None -

d. To remove a Role from the profile, select the kind in the table and click on the **Remove** button.

6					N	ame	pace	Prof	ile Edi	tor			>
File													
Profile:	Profile: Ontylog Namespace Profile (U)												
Description:	escription:												
Association	Туре	Propert	ty Type	Qualifier	Туре	Kind	Role Ty	/pe	Validator]			
Name	Name Domain						Range			Right Identity		Parent Role Type	
Role 1			CONCEP	T_KIND_	1	CON	CEPT_K	IND_1	L	- None -	·	- None -	
Role 2			CONCEP	T_KIND_		CON	ICEPT_K	IND_2		- None -		- None -	
Add Remove Restore													
			Save	Rena	ame	Co	ру	Re	store	Delete	Cancel		

i. A confirmation dialog will be shown.

	Remove Role Type	x								
Are you sure you want to remove Role Type 'Role 2'?"										
OK Cancel										

- ii. Click **OK** to remove the kind, or **Cancel** to cancel the operation.
- 10. To add, modify or remove a validator type, select the Validator Type tab.
 - a. To add a Validator Type to the profile, click on the **Add** button at the bottom of the tab panel and enter the name of the Validator Type to be created in the popup. Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

5	Namespace Profile Editor								
ile									
Profile: Ontyle	og Namespace Pro	ofile (U)				~	New		
Description:]		
Association Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind Role Type	Validator					
Name	Method Value(s)		ToolTip		Error Text				
List Validator	LIST	3 values		Must be Value 1-3		Please enter value	1-3		
		Add	d Remove	Restore					
	Save	Rename	Сору	Restore	Delete Ca	ncel			

New Validator							
Enter new Attribute Na	me:						
Regex Validator							
ОК	Cancel						

i. As necessary, click in the **Method**, **Value**(**s**), **ToolTip**, and **Error Text** cells to select the desired values for the new type. Method and Value(s) are required.

Association Type Proper	ty Type	Qualifier Type Kind Role Type	Validator *	
Name	Method	Value(s)	ToolTip	Error Text
List Validator	LIST	3 values	Must be Value 1-3	Please enter value 1-3
Regex Validator	R 🗸			
	LIST			
	REGEX			

b. To modify an existing profile Validator, double click in the **Name** cell to edit the Role name. Duplicate (case-insensitive) type names are not permitted.

Association Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind Role Type	Validator *	
Name	Method	Value(s)		ToolTip	Error Text
List Validator	ist Validator LIST			Must be Value 1-3	Please enter value 1-3
Modified Regex Valid	ator REGEX	[1-9]			

c. To remove a Validator from the profile, select the kind in the table and click on the **Remove** button.

5	Namespace Profile Editor									
ile										
Profile: Ontylog	Namespace Pro	file (U)		✓ New						
Description:										
Association Type P	roperty Type	Qualifier Type Kind Role Typ	e Validator							
Name	Method	Value(s)	ToolTip	Error Text						
List Validator	LIST	3 values	Must be Value 1-3	Please enter value 1-3						
Regex Validator	REGEX	[1-9]								
		Add Remove	Restore							

i. A confirmation dialog will be shown.



- ii. Click **OK** to remove the validator, or **Cancel** to cancel the operation.
- 11. To discard any pending changes and return to the last saved version of the profile, click the **Restore** button.

0	Namespace Profile Editor								x
File									
Profile: Ontylog	Profile: Ontylog Namespace Profile (U)								New
Association Type *	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator]			
Name	•				Connects	Validator	Inverse Name	•	
Concept to Concept	Association				Concepts	validator			
Synonym					Concepts				
Term to Term Associa	ation				Concepts				
	Add Remove Restore								
	Save	Rename	Сор	ey Re	store	Delete	Cancel		

12. Click **Save** (which becomes enabled if you make an edit) to update the selected Namespace profile with the changes.

Namespace Profile Editor									X
ïle									
Profile: Ontylog Namespace Profile (U)									N
Description:									
Association Type *	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator				
Name	•				Connects		Inverse Name		
Concept to Concep	t Association				Concepts	Validator			
Synonym					Concepts	Validator			
Term to Term Asso	lation				Concepts				
		Add	F	Remove	Restore	2			
	Save	Rename	Сору	Re	store	Delete Ca	incel		

13. Click **Cancel** to close the *Namespace Profile Editor* window.

ē	Namespace Pr	ofile Editor	x
File			
Profile: Ont	ylog Namespace Profile (U)		✓ New
Description:			
Association Type	Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role Type	Validator	
Name	A	Connects	Inverse Name
Concept to Conc	ept Association	Concepts	
Synonym		Concepts	
Term to Term As	sociation	Concepts	
	Add Remove	Restore	
	Save Rename Copy	Restore Delete Ca	ncel

D.7.3 Copy a Namespace Profile

Follow this procedure to copy a namespace profile to a new profile. The original profile will be unchanged after the operation.

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Namespace Profile Editor*, or click the **Profile** button in the *New Namespace* panel.

<u>Tools</u> Options <u>H</u> elp			
Concep <u>t</u> Tree			
Search			
Concept <u>W</u> alker			
Concept/Term <u>D</u> etails	Ō	New Namespace	x
Associations	Name:	LocalNS	
Properties	ID:	(auto)	
<u>S</u> ynonyms	Code:	(auto)	
Attribute Types	Authority	Apelon, Inc.	•
Namesnace Editor	Type:	Thesaurus	×
Nemenae Refle Editor	Linked Namespace:		~
Namespace Profile Editor	Permission:	Read-Write	~
Subset Editor	Locality:	Local	
Subset Profile Editor	Profile	- None -	-
Subset <u>C</u> ompare		L	
<u>A</u> uthority Editor		OK Cancel	

2. Select the namespace profile to be copied from the **Profile** field dropdown and click the **Copy** button at the bottom of the panel.

5			N	ame	space Pro	file Editor				x
File										
Profile:	Profile: Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)									
Description:	This is	a Thesaurus Nar	nespace Profile	to be u	sed for the [TS Editor Guide				
Association	Association Type Property Type Qualifier Type Kind Role Type Validator									
Name	Name					Connects		Inverse Name		
Concept to C	Concep	t Association				Concepts				
Synonym						Concept With Synonymous				
Term to Terr	n Asso	ciation				Terms				
			Ad	d	Remove	Restore				
		Save	Rename	C	ppy R	estore Del	ete Car	ncel		

- 3. Enter the name of the new profile to be created in the **Profile Name** field of the **Copy Profile** dialog box. Click **OK** to copy the profile or click **Cancel** to cancel the operation. If the entered name is already in use, an error dialog will be shown.
- 4. If you are logged in with the "**apelondtsadmin**" role, a dialog appears giving you the option to create the Namespace Profile copy as a system profile. Click on the preferred button to save the profile.



5. Click **Cancel** to close the *Namespace Profile Editor* window.

D.7.4 Rename a Namespace Profile

Follow this procedure to rename a namespace profile.

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Namespace Profile Editor*, or click the **Profile** button in the *New Namespace* panel.

Tools Options Help		
Concep <u>t</u> Tree		
Search		
Concept <u>W</u> alker		
Concept/Term <u>D</u> etails	Sew Namesp	ace x
Associations	Name: LocalNS	
Properties	ID: (auto)	
<u>S</u> ynonyms	Code: (auto)	
Attribute Types	Authority Apelon, Inc.	
Namespace Editor	Linked Namespace:	
Namespace Profile Editor	Permission: Read-Write	~
<u>S</u> ubset Editor	Locality: Local	~
Subset Profile Editor	Profile - None -	~
Subset <u>C</u> ompare		
<u>A</u> uthority Editor	OK Ca	ncel

2. Select the namespace profile to be renamed from the **Profile** field dropdown and click the **Rename** button at the bottom of the panel.

6	Namespace Profile Editor								x	
File										
Profile:	Profile: Thesaurus Namespace Profile (U)								w	
Description:	This is	a Thesaurus Nar	mespace Profile	to be u	ised for the [OTS Editor (Guide			
Association	Туре	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator				
Name	Name					Connects		Inverse Name		
Concept to (Concep	t Association				Concepts				
Synonym						Concept V	/ith Synonymous			
Term to Terr	n Asso	ciation				Terms				
			Ad	d	Remove	Resto	ore			
		Save	Rename	C	R	estore	Delete Car	ncel		

- 3. Enter the new name of the profile in the **Profile Name** field of the **Rename Profile** dialog box. Click **OK** to rename the profile or click **Cancel** to cancel the operation. If the entered name is already in use, an error dialog will be shown.
- 4. Click **Cancel** to close the *Namespace Profile Editor* window.

D.7.5 Delete a Namespace Profile

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Namespace Profile Editor*, or click the **Profile** button in the *New Namespace* panel.

<u>T</u> ools	Options <u>H</u> elp		
	Concep <u>t</u> Tree		
	Search		
	Concept <u>W</u> alker		
	Concept/Term <u>D</u> etails	6	New Namespace X
	Associations	Name:	LocalNS
	Properties	ID:	(auto)
	<u>S</u> ynonyms	Code:	(auto)
	Attribute Types	Authority	Apelon, Inc.
	Name and Filling	Type:	Thesaurus v
	Namespace Editor	Linked Namespace:	~ ·
	Namespace Profile Editor	Permission:	Read-Write 🗸
	<u>S</u> ubset Editor	Locality:	Local 🗸
	Subset Profile Editor	Profile	- None - 🗸 🗸
	Subset <u>C</u> ompare		
	Authority Editor		OK Cancel

© 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

2. Select the namespace profile to be deleted from the **Profile** field dropdown and click the **Delete** button at the bottom of the panel.

6			N	ame	space Pro	file Edit	or		x
File									
Profile:	Thesa	ourus Namespace	Profile (U)					~	New
Description:	This is	a Thesaurus Nar	nespace Profile (to be u	used for the [OTS Editor (Guide		
Association	Туре	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator			
Name		4	•			Connects		Inverse Name	
Concept to	Concep	ot Association				Concepts			
Synonym						Concept V	/ith Synonymous		
Term to Terr	m Asso	ciation				Terms			
					Demous	Dest			
			Ad	d	Remove	Resto	bre		
		Save	Rename	C	opy R	estore	Delete Car	ncel	

- 3. Click **OK** to delete the namespace profile from the system. Click **Cancel** to cancel the operation.
- 4. Click **Cancel** to close the *Namespace Profile Editor* window.

D.7.6 Export a Namespace Profile

Namespace user profiles are only visible to the user that created the profile. To exchange one of your profile definitions so that it can be used by other users, the profile can be exported to an xml file in your local file system. The profile can then be sent to other users and imported as one of their profiles (or as a system profile). See **Import a Namespace Profile** below for information on importing.

Follow this procedure to export a namespace profile.

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Namespace Profile Editor*, or click the **Profile** button in the *New Namespace* panel.

<u>T</u> ools	Options <u>H</u> elp			
	Concep <u>t</u> Tree			
	Search			
	Concept <u>W</u> alker			
	Concept/Term <u>D</u> etails	5	New Namespace	x
	Associations	Name:	LocalNS	
	Properties	ID:	(auto)	
	<u>S</u> ynonyms	Code:	(auto)	
	Attribute Types	Authority	Apelon, Inc.	~
	Namesnace Editor	Type:	Thesaurus	~
	Newsyace Euror	Linked Namespace:		<u> </u>
	Namespace Profile Editor	Permission:	Read-Write	¥
	<u>S</u> ubset Editor	Locality:	Local	~
	Subset Profile Editor	Profile	- None -	~
	Subset <u>C</u> ompare			
	<u>A</u> uthority Editor		OK Cancel	

2. Select the namespace profile to be exported from the **Profile** field dropdown and select the **Export** item in the *Namespace Profile Editor's* **File** menu.

0			N	amespace Pro	file Editor	×
File						
Des	Import Export cription: This	aurus Namespace s a Thesaurus Nar	Profile (U) nespace Profile t	to be used for the D	DTS Editor Guide	✓ New
As	ssociation Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind Role Type	Validator	
Na	ame				Connects	Inverse Name
Co	ncept to Conce	pt Association			Concepts	
Syr	nonym				Concept With Synonymous	
Ter	rm to Term Ass	ociation			Terms	
			Ade	d Remove	Restore	
		Save	Rename	Copy	estore Delete Ca	ncel

3. The *Export Profile* file chooser dialog is shown. Browse to the desired file location and enter the desired file name. The file must have an ".xml" extension.

Export Profile			×
Save in:	DTS Name	espace Profile Exports 🔹 🚽 🎓	≓ 🖽 🕈
Recent Items			
Desktop			
My Documents			
Computer			
Network	File name: Files of type:	DTS Thesaurus Namespace Profile.xml	Save Cancel

- 4. Click the **Save** button to export the profile to the selected file or **Cancel** to cancel the operation.
- 5. Click **Cancel** to close the *Namespace Profile Editor* window.

D.7.7 Import a Namespace Profile

Profile definitions can be imported to the *Namespace Profile Editor* from xml files produced by the above profile export process. Once imported, these profiles can be saved as new user profiles, or, if the user has the "**apelondtsadmin**" role, as new system profile.

Follow this procedure to export a namespace profile.

1. From the Menu select Tools > *Namespace Profile Editor*, or click the **Profile** button in the *New Namespace* panel.

Tools Options Help		
Concep <u>t</u> Tree		
Search		
Concept <u>W</u> alker		
Concept/Term <u>D</u> etails	Sew Namespace	x
Associations	Name: LocalNS	
Properties	ID: (auto)	
<u>S</u> ynonyms	Code: (auto)	
Attribute Types	Authority Apelon, Inc.	~
Namesnace Editor	Type: Thesaurus	~
Marriespace Editor	Linked Namespace:	<u> </u>
Namespace Profile Editor	Permission: Read-Write	¥
<u>S</u> ubset Editor	Locality: Local	\checkmark
Subset Profile Editor	Profile - None -	~
Subset <u>C</u> ompare		
<u>A</u> uthority Editor	OK Cancel	

2. Select the namespace profile to be imported from the **Profile** field dropdown and select the **Import** item in the *Namespace Profile Editor's* **File** menu.

0			N	ame	space Pro	file Edito	or		x
File									
Des	Import Export cription: This i	aurus Namespace s a Thesaurus Nar	Profile (U) nespace Profile t	to be u	ised for the [DTS Editor G	uide	V	New
As	sociation Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind	Role Type	Validator			
Na	ame					Connects		Inverse Name	
Co	ncept to Conce	pt Association				Concepts			
Syr	nonym					Concept W	ith Synonymous		
Ter	rm to Term Ass	ociation				Terms			
			Ad	4	Remove	Resto	P		
					remove	Trestor			
		Save	Rename	C	opy R	estore	Delete Car	ncel	

3. The *Export Profile* file chooser dialog is shown. Browse to the desired file location and select the desired file. The file must have an ".xml" extension.

Import Profile				-		×
Look in:	🕕 DTS Name	space Profile Exports		•	🏂 📂 🛄 •	
Recent Items	🔮 DTS Thes	aurus Namespace Pro	file			
Desktop						
My Documents						
Computer						
Network	File name: Files of type:	DTS Thesaurus Names	space Profile.xml		_	Open Cancel

- 4. Click the **Open** button to import the selected file into a new profile or **Cancel** to cancel the operation.
- 5. Enter the name of the profile to be created in the **Profile Name** field of the **Import Profile** dialog box. Click **OK** to copy the profile or click **Cancel** to cancel the operation. If the entered name is already in use, an error dialog will be shown.

4	Import Profile	x
Profile Na	ame:	
Importe	d Thesaurus Namespace Profile	
	OK Cancel	

6. Click Cancel to close the Namespace Profile Editor window.

E. Assign Permissions to Newly Created Namespaces

After you create a new namespace you will need to open the User Manager module and grant permissions to each user that you want to have *Write* or *Manage* permissions. By default, all users receive *Read* access. Note: To open the User Manager you must be logged into the DTS Editor as a user with the "apelondtsadmin" role, i.e., dtsadminuser / dtsadmin.

1. From the menu select **Options > User Manager**.



2. After selecting the User Manager, the *DTS User Manager* window displays. From the *Role Defs* tab, select the Role to which you want to add the new permission. In the example below we have selected the role named **SuperUser**. (See the User Manager Guide for details on creating and managing DTS Roles and Permissions). You can review the current permissions assigned to the new namespaces you created.

/			DT	S User M	anager			X
lole Defs	Roles	by User	Users by R	ole User Su	ummary			
Roles								
Filter by U	lser: -	All -	~					
Modeler								
Super Use	er							
User Acce	SS							
			1	New C	Delete			
Descriptio	n							
DTC C		Dele						
DISSU	iper Us	er Role						
Permissio	ns							
rennissio	113							
A Norm		Adusta (a		-1				
✓ Nan	nespac	e Admin (cr	eate/delet	e)				
✓ Nan	nespacioset Adr	e Admin (cr min (create	eate/delet /delete)	e)				
✓ Nan ✓ Sub	nespaci oset Adi	e Admin (cr min (create	reate/delet e/delete)	e)				
✓ Nan ✓ Sub ✓ Aut	nespaci oset Adi hority /	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (crea	reate/delet e/delete) ate/delete)	e)				
Van Sub	nespacion set Adri hority /	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (crea Subsets	reate/delet e/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e) ·s				
Van Sub Aut Names Filter B	nespace oset Adi hority / spaces By: -	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (crea Subsets All -	reate/delet e/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e) Is			Search	
 ✓ Nan ✓ Sub ✓ Auti Names Filter B Name 	nespace oset Adr hority / spaces 3y: -,	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (crea Subsets All -	reate/delet e/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e) s	Read	Write	Search Manage	
Names Name HCPCS	nespace oset Adi chority / cpaces 3y: -	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (crea Subsets All -	reate/delet e/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e) IS	Read	Write	Search Manage	
✓ Nan ✓ Sub ✓ Auti Names Filter B Name HCPCS ICD-10	nespace set Adi hority / spaces By: -	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (crea Subsets All -	reate/delet e/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e) IS	Read ©	Write	Search Manage	
Names Kares	nespace oset Adu hority / spaces 3y: - R 5	e Admin (cr nin (create Admin (crea Subsets All -	reate/delet :/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e) Is	Read ©	Write	Search Manage	× ==
Names Kares	nespace oset Adu hority / spaces 3y:	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (create Subsets All -	reate/delet :/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e)	Read © ©	Write	Search Manage	 III
Names Aut Names Filter B Name HCPCS ICD-10 LocaINS LOINC NDF-RI	nespace oset Adi hority / spaces 3y: R S T2 [Pub	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (create Subsets All -	reate/delet :/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e)	Read 0 0 0 0 0 0	Write	Search Manage	· =
Names Aut Names Filter B Name HCPCS ICD-10 LocaINS LOINC NDF-RT RxNorm	nespace oset Adu paces 3y: R S T2 [Pub n R	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (create Subsets All -	reate/delet ;/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e) .s	Read 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Write	Search Manage	< III >
Names Kares	nespace oset Adu paces 3y: - 1R 5 T2 [Pub n R	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (create Subsets All -	reate/delet ;/delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e) IS	Read 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Write	Search Manage	< III >
Names Filter B Names ICD-10 LocalNS LOINC NDF-R1 RxNorm	nespaci pset Adri paces 3y: - 1 R 5 T2 [Pub n R	e Admin (cr min (create Admin (create Subsets All -	reate/delet /delete) ate/delete) Authoritie	e) s	Read (6) (9) (9) (9) (9) (9) (9) (9) (9	Write	Search Manage	 >

3. With the *SuperUser* role selected in the top section, grant **Manage** permissions to each desired local namespace and click **Save**.

	DI	S User Mana	ger			
le Defs* Roles by	User Users by	Role User Summ	ary			
oles						
lter by User: - All -	~					
lodeler						
uper User						
ser Access						
	1	New Delete	2			
escription						
DTS Super User Pr	lo					_
bro super oser ite	nc.					
Namespace Adr	nin (create/delet	e)				
Namespace Adr Subset Admin (Authority Admir Namespaces * Filter By: - All -	nin (create/delet create/delete) n (create/delete) ubsets Authori	e) ties			Search	
Namespace Adr Subset Admin (Authority Admir Namespaces * Filter By: -All -	nin (create/delet create/delete) n (create/delete) ubsets Authori	e) iies	Read	Write	Search	1
Namespace Adr Subset Admin (Authority Admir Namespaces * Filter By: - All - Name	nin (create/delet create/delete) n (create/delete) ubsets Authori	e) iies	Read	Write	Search Manage	1
Namespace Adr Subset Admin (Authority Admir Namespaces * S Filter By: - All - Name HCPCS TCD-10 P	nin (create/delet create/delete) n (create/delete) ubsets Authori	e) iies	Read	Write	Search Manage	
 ✓ Namespace Adr ✓ Subset Admin (r ✓ Authority Admir Namespaces * S Filter By: - All - Name HCPCS ICD-10 R LocalNS 	nin (create/delet create/delete) n (create/delete) ubsets Authori v	e) iies	Read ©	Write	Search Manage	
Namespace Adr Subset Admin (Authority Admir Namespaces * Filter By: - All - Name HCPCS ICD-10 R LocalNS LOINC	nin (create/delet create/delete) n (create/delete) ubsets Authori	e) iies	Read	Write	Search Manage	
Namespace Adr Subset Admin (Authority Admir Namespaces * Filter By: - All - Name HCPCS ICD-10 R LocalNS LOINC NDF-RT2 [Public Ed	nin (create/delet create/delete) n (create/delete) ubsets Authori v	e) iies	Read	Write	Search Manage	
 ✓ Namespace Adr ✓ Subset Admin (✓ Authority Admir Namespaces * S Filter By: - All - Name HCPCS ICD-10 R LocalNS LOINC NDF-RT2 [Public Ed RxNorm R 	nin (create/delet create/delete) n (create/delete) ubsets Authori v	e) ties	Read 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Write O O O O O O O O O O O	Search Manage	

4. Similarly, with the *Modeler* role selected in the top section, grant **Write** permissions to each desired local namespace and click **Save**.

y			DTS U	ser Mana	ager)
ole Defs* R	oles by Use	er Users	by Role	User Sum	nary			
Roles					i			
Filter by User:	- All -	~						
Modeler								
Super User								
User Access								
			New	Delet	ie			
Description								
DTO M L L								_
DTS Model	er							_
Permissions*								
Namoor		· · · ·	1.1.3					
Indiffest	bace Admin	(create/d	elete)					
Subset	oace Admin Admin (crea	(create/d ate/delete	elete) :)					
Subset	oace Admin Admin (crea	(create/d ate/delete	elete) :)					
Subset	bace Admin Admin (crea ty Admin (c	(create/d ate/delete reate/dele	elete) :) ete)					
Subset	oace Admin Admin (crea ty Admin (c es * Subs	(create/d ate/delete reate/dele sets Auth	elete) :) ete) norities					
Subset Authori Namespac	ace Admin Admin (crea ty Admin (c tes * Subs - All -	(create/d ate/delete reate/dele sets Aut	elete) :) ete) norities				Search	
Subset Authori Namespac Filter By: Name	ace Admin Admin (crea ty Admin (c es * Subs - All -	(create/d ate/delete reate/dele sets Auth	elete) e) ete) norities		Read	Write	Search Manage	
Subset Subset Authori Namespac Filter By: Name HCPCS	ace Admin Admin (crea ty Admin (c res * Subs - All -	(create/d ate/delete reate/dele sets Auth	elete) :) ete) norities		Read	Write	Search Manage	
Subset Subset Authori Namespac Filter By: Name HCPCS ICD-10 R	ace Admin Admin (crea ty Admin (c es * Subs - All -	(create/d ate/delete reate/delet iets Auth	elete) :) ete) norities		Read	Write	Search Manage	
Namespace Authori Namespace Filter By: Name HCPCS ICD-10 R LocalNS ICD-10 R	ace Admin Admin (crea ty Admin (c res * Subs - All -	(create/d ate/delete reate/dele iets Auth	elete) :) ete) norities		Read	Write	Search Manage	
Namespace Authori Authori Namespace Filter By: Name HCPCS ICD-10 R LocalNS LOINC NDE.ET2 0	Admin (crea Admin (crea ty Admin (crea ty Admin (crea es * Subs - All -	(create/d ate/delete reate/delete sets Auth	elete) :) ete) norities		Read	Write	Search Manage	
Namespace	Admin (crea Admin (crea ty Admin (c es * Subs - All -	(create/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete	elete) ;) horities		Read 0 0 0 0 0 0	Write	Search Manage O	
Namespace	Admin (crea Admin (crea ty Admin (c es * <u>Subs</u> - All -	(create/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete	elete) ;) horities		Read 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Write	Search Manage	
Namespace	Admin (crea ty Admin (crea ty Admin (c es * Subs - All -	(create/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete v	elete) :) horities		Read 0 0 0 0 0 0	Write	Search Manage	
Authori Authori Namespac Filter By: Name HCPCS ICD-10 R LocalNS LOINC NDF-RT2 [F RxNorm R	Admin (crea ty Admin (crea ty Admin (c es * Subs - All -	(create/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete reate/delete v	elete) e) ete) norities	Resto	Read 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Write	Search Manage	
F. Attribute Type Maintenance

The *Attribute Type Editor* panel consolidates the management of Attribute Types (metadata) for all Namespaces in the knowledgebase. The *Attribute Type Editor* panel provides a two-tier tab structure to accommodate the different kinds of available metadata (see screen shots below). The top level of tabs name the primary DTS object that holds attributes: Namespaces, Subsets and Authorities. Within each of these tabs, the second level tabs are used to select the specific Attribute Types to be created, displayed or modified:

- For Namespaces: Association Types, Property Types, Qualifier Types, Kinds, Role Types and Validators
- For Subsets: Property Types and Qualifier Types
- For Authorities: Property Types and Qualifier Types

The sections below describe the procedures for managing the Attribute Types associated with Namespaces (from the Namespace tab). Procedures for Subset and Authority Attribute Types are similar.

F.1 Association Types

This section includes basic procedures for creating and maintaining associations between concepts (concept associations), between terms (term associations) or between concepts and terms (synonym associations). An association type (e.g., **Related To**) is assigned to each association between concepts or terms to define the nature of the association. An association may also have a **qualifier**, which provides additional detail regarding the nature of the association (e.g., **Usually**). Procedures for creating and maintaining association types and qualifiers are included as well.

In a **writable** namespace you can create associations between concepts and terms that reside in one namespace (writable or not) or create associations between concepts and terms across namespaces.

F.1.1 Create Association Types

Each association you create must be assigned a specific type to indicate the nature of the link (e.g., one concept is **Broader Than** the other, or is a **Parent** of the other). The following procedures pertain to creating and maintaining association types.

Follow this procedure to add one or more new association types to an editable namespace.

1. From the Menu select Tools > Attribute Types.



2. The *Attribute Type* window displays. The window initially opens with the Namespace tab selected and *All* selected in the Namespace dropdown. This shows the types from all namespaces in the DTS knowledgebase. To limit the displays to a single namespace, select that namespace from the dropdown. Note that the panel remembers the selected namespace (or subset/authority) between invocations.)

	Attribute Type Edite	or	
espaces Subsets Authorities			
Namespace: - All -			Close
ssociation Type Property Type Q	ualifier Type Kind Role Type Validator		
All O Name Filter:			Search
Association Type	Namespace	Connects	
Access (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	^
ALTERNATIVE (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	=
Analytic_Technique	Triad	Two Concepts	
Ask At Order Entry	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated finding (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated Observations	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated procedure (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated_Diagnosis	Triad	Two Concepts	
Associated_Procedure	Triad	Two Concepts	
Child Of	ICD-10 R	Two Concepts	
Clinical course (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	~
Name:			
ID:			
Namespace:			~
Connects: Concepts			~
Inverse Name:			
	New Apply Restore	Delete	

3. To create a new Association Type, select the Association Type tab and click New.

espaces outpaths Authorities			
espaces Subsets Authorities			
lamespace: - All -		¥	Close
ssociation Type Property Type Out		-	
Property Type Qua	amer type Kind Role type Validato	1	
All O Name Filter:			Search
Association Type /	Namespace	Connects	
Access (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	^
ALTERNATIVE (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	=
Analytic_Technique	Triad	Two Concepts	
Ask At Order Entry	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated finding (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated Observations	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated procedure (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated_Diagnosis	Triad	Two Concepts	
Associated_Procedure	Triad	Two Concepts	
Child Of	ICD-10 R	Two Concepts	
Clinical course (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	~
Name:			
ID:			
Namespace:			~
Connects: Concepts			~
Inverse Name:			
	Apply Restor	e Delete	

4. The fields at the bottom of the *Attribute Type Editor* are activated.

	Attribute Type Eur		
espaces Subsets Authorities			
Namespace: - All -		¥	Close
ssociation Type Property Type Qualifie	er Type Kind Role Type Validator	r	
All O Name Filter:			Search
Association Type ,	Namespace	Connects	
Access (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	~
ALTERNATIVE (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	=
Analytic_Technique	Triad	Two Concepts	_
Ask At Order Entry	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated finding (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated Observations	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated procedure (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated_Diagnosis	Triad	Two Concepts	
Associated_Procedure	Triad	Two Concepts	
Child Of	ICD-10 R	Two Concepts	
Clinical course (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	~
Name:			
ID:			
Namespace: LocalNS			~
Connects: Concepts			¥
Inverse Name:			
New	Apply Restore	Delete	

5. In the *Name* field, type the name of the *Association Type*.

Name:	Parent Of

6. The association type ID is generated automatically, and displayed in the **ID** field. You cannot modify the generated association type ID.

ID:

In the *Namespace* dropdown field, select the local, editable namespace in which you are creating this association type, i.e. **LocalNS**. Only local namespaces are included in the list. If a namespace was selected in the top *Namespace* dropdown, this namespace will be pre-selected.

Namespa	ice:	LocalNS
---------	------	---------

The value in the *Connects* dropdown field indicates if the association type represents a connection between **Two Concepts**, between a concept and a synonym (**Concept With Synonymous Term**) or **Two Terms**. Select the kind of connection this association type represents.

© 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

Ŧ



8. The *Inverse Name* describes the inverse relationship of this association, and displays when you view **Inverse Concept Associations** (e.g., when you perform a search). For example, "**Is Narrower Than**" is the inverse of "**Is Broader Than**" or "**Child Of**" is the inverse of "**Parent Of**". Inverse Name is optional.

Inverse Name: Child Of

- 9. For Property and Qualifier type attributes, you also have the option of assigning a Validator. Validators can be defined in the "Validator" tab, and allow you to restrict the string input to match rules based on a regex or predefined dropdown list. See the "Validators" section below for more information on defining Validators.
- 10. Click **Apply** to update the selected local namespace with the new association type; the new association type is added to the table on the *Attribute Type Editor* > Association Type window. You can click **New** again and create additional association types in the local namespace.

When you finish creating association types, click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

F.1.2 View and Edit an Association Type

Follow this procedure to view information for an existing association type that exists in any namespace, and edit the information if the association type was created in a local, writable namespace. You can also filter Attribute Types for easier viewing/editing using the Name Filter tool, or view them all by clicking the "All" radial button.

1. From the Menu select Tools > Attribute Types.



2. The Attribute Type Editor window displays.

		Attribute Type Ed	itor	
amespaces Subsets	Authorities			
Namespace: - A	All -		\	Close
Association Type p	Property Type Qualifier Typ	e Kind Role Type Validato	r	
All Name	Filter:			Search
Association Type	7	Namespace	Connects	
Access (attribute)		SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	~
ALTERNATIVE (att	tribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	=
Analytic_Techniqu	e	Triad	Two Concepts	_
Ask At Order Entr	у	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated finding	(attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated Observ	vations	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated proced	lure (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated_Diagno	osis	Triad	Two Concepts	
Associated_Proce	dure	Triad	Two Concepts	
Child Of		ICD-10 R	Two Concepts	
Clinical course (att	tribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	· ·
Name:				
ID:				
Namespace:				~
Connects:	Concepts			~
Inverse Name:				
	New	Apply Restor	e Delete	

Select the *Association Type* tab. To change the sort for the association type list, click the column header for the characteristic (**Association Type**, **Namespace**, or **Connects**) on which you want to base the sort.

3. In the association type table listing, click the association type you want to view or modify to highlight the row. The lower portion of the window changes to reflect information from that association type. If the association type you selected was created in a

subscription namespace, none of the fields are editable. If the association type was created in a local, writable namespace, the editable fields are enabled.

	a at an			
Subsets	Authorities			
Namespace: -/	All -		✓ C	ose
ssociation Type	Property Type Qualifie	r Type Kind Role Type Validato	n.	
	Filter		Sea	rch
				- Ch
Association Type	7	Namespace	Connects	
Мар То		LOINC	Two Concepts	~
MAY BE A (attribu	te)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
MOVED TO (attrib	ute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Multiaxial Parent (Df	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Parent Of		ICD-10 R	Two Concepts	
Parent Of		LOINC	Two Concepts	≡
Parent Of		LocalNS	Two Concepts	
Part of (attribute)		SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
PharmClass_Memb	ber	NDF-RT2 [Public Edition]	Two Concepts	
print_name		Iriad SNOMED CT	Concept with Synonymous Term	-
Priority (attribute)		SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Name:	Parent Of			
ID:	2			
Namespace:	LocalNS			~
Connects:	Concepts			~
	a di ac			
inverse Name:	Child Of			
	New	Apply Dester	Delete	

4. In the *Name* field, modify the association type name, as necessary.

Name:	Parent Of
-------	-----------

5. The *ID* that was generated when the association type was created displays; the ID is not editable, for any type of namespace.

ID:	1
-----	---

6. The *Namespace* in which the association type was created is not editable, for any type of namespace.

Namespace:	LocalNS
------------	---------

7. The value in the *Connects* dropdown field indicates if the association type represents a connection between **Two Concepts**, between a concept and a synonym (**Concept With Synonymous Term**), or **Two Terms**. The value in the *Connects* field is editable as long as this is an association type that was created in a writable namespace, and no instances of this association type exist.



8. The *Inverse Name* describes the inverse relationship of this association, and displays when you view **Inverse Concept Associations** (e.g., when you perform a search). For example, "**Is Narrower Than**" is the inverse of "**Is Broader Than**" or "**Child Of**" is the inverse of "**Parent Of**".

Inverse Name: 0	hild Of
-----------------	---------

- 9. Click **Apply** (which becomes enabled if you make an edit) to update the selected local namespace with the association type edits; the *Attribute Type Editor* window remains displayed for additional edits and/or additions.
- 10. Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

F.1.3 Delete an Association Type

Follow this procedure to delete an existing association type that was created in a local, writable namespace. If there are associations that exist with this association type, you will not be permitted to delete the association type.

Follow this procedure to view information for an existing association type that exists in any namespace, and edit the information if the association type was created in a local, writable namespace.

1. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.

Tool	s Options Help
	Concept Tree
	Search
	Concept Walker
	Concept/Term Details
	Associations
	Properties
	Synonyms
	Attribute Types

2. The Attribute Type Editor window displays.

spaces Subsets Authorities			
amespace: - All -			Close
sociation Type Property Type Qu	alifier Type Kind Role Type Validato	r	
			Correct.
			Search
Association Type /	Namespace	Connects	
Access (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	^
ALTERNATIVE (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	=
Analytic_Technique	Triad	Two Concepts	_
Ask At Order Entry	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated finding (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated Observations	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated procedure (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated_Diagnosis	Triad	Two Concepts	
Associated_Procedure	Triad	Two Concepts	
Child Of	ICD-10 R	Two Concepts	
Clinical course (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	~
Name:			
ID:			
Namespace:			
Connects: Concepts			`
Inverse Name:			

Select the *Association Type* tab. To change the sort for the association type list, click the column header for the characteristic (**Association Type**, **Namespace**, or **Connects**) on which you want to base the sort.

3. In the association type table listing, click the association type you want to delete and click **Delete.**

			, ittinoate i jpe z				
spaces Subsets	s Authorities						
	hus						-1
amespace: Lo	ocalNS					· · · ·	lose
sociation Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind Role Type Valida	tor			
● All ○ Name	e Filter:					Sea	arch
Association Type	17.		Namespace		Connects		
Parent Of			LocalNS		Two Concepts		
Name:	Parent Of						
Name: ID:	Parent Of						
Name: ID: Namespace:	Parent Of 2 LocalNS						
Name: ID: Namespace: Connects:	Parent Of 2 LocalNS Concepts						
Name: ID: Namespace: Connects: nverse Name:	Parent Of 2 LocalNS Concepts Child Of						

4. A window similar to the following displays if associations with this type exist in a local namespace.



5. As long as associations of this type exist, you will not be permitted to delete the association type. If no associations with this type exist, a delete confirmation window similar to the following displays.



- 6. Click **OK** to delete the association type from the namespace in which it was created; the association type is removed from the table on the *Attribute Type Editor* window in the *Association Type* tab. Click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion.
- 7. Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

F.2 Property Types

A property is user-definable metadata that can be used for any purpose and can be added to Concepts, Terms, Namespaces, Versions, and Authorities. Properties are available for both Subscription and Local DTS Objects. Properties allow for the creation of more expressive objects including definitions, provenance, OIDs, URIs, etc. For example, a property can be a textual definition for a concept, or can identify the source terminology where a term originated. A property type (i.e., definition) is assigned to each property to define the nature of the property. One or more qualifier types and values can be assigned to each property as well.

All Property values may contain up to 4,000 characters, the first 255 characters of which are automatically indexed.

F.2.1 Create Property Types

Follow this procedure to add a new property type to a local namespace. You then can assign the property type to a concept in any local namespace, or add the property type (as local content) for a concept in a subscription namespace.

Follow this procedure to add one or more new property types to an editable namespace.

1. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.



2. The Attribute Type window displays.

	Attribute Type Edi		
espaces Subsets Authorities			
			Close
		¥	Close
ssociation Type Property Type Qu	alifier Type Kind Role Type Validator]	
All O Name Filter:			Search
Association Type	Namespace	Connects	
Access (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	^
ALTERNATIVE (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	=
Analytic_Technique	Triad	Two Concepts	
Ask At Order Entry	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated finding (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated Observations	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated procedure (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated_Diagnosis	Triad	Two Concepts	
Associated_Procedure	Triad	Two Concepts	
Child Of	ICD-10 R	Two Concepts	
Clinical course (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	~
Name:			
ID:			
Namespace:			~
Connects: Concepts			~
Inverse Name:			
	New Apply Restore	Delete	

3. To create a new Property Type, select the **Property Type** tab and click **New**.

6	Attr	ibute Type Editor		×
Namespaces Subsets A	uthorities			
Namespace: - All -			~	Close
Association Type Prope	e <mark>rty Type</mark> Qualifier Type Kind R	tole Type Validator]
All O Name Filte	er:			Search
Property Type 7	Namespace	Modifies	Validator	
ACS Payment Group C	ode HCPCS	Concept		^
ACS Payment Group E	ffective Date HCPCS	Concept		
ACSSYM	LOINC	Concept		
Action Code	HCPCS	Concept		
Added Date	HCPCS	Concept		
Answer List	LOINC	Concept		
Answer List OID	LOINC	Concept		
ASTM Code	LOINC	Concept		
ATC Code	RxNorm R	Concept		
Base Name	LOINC	Concept		×
Name:				
ID:				
Namespace:				~
Modifies: Conce	ept			~
Validator:				~
	New Ap	pply Restore	Delete	

DTS 4: Editor Users Guide

4. The fields at the bottom of the Attribute Type Editor are activated.

nespaces Subsets Authorities				
Namespace: - All -			~	Close
Association Type Property Type	Qualifier Type Kind Role	Type Validator		
All O Name Filter:				Search
Property Type /	Namespace	Modifies	Validator	
ACS Payment Group Code ACS Payment Group Effective Da ACSSYM Action Code Action Effective Date Added Date Answer List Answer List OID ASTM Code ATC Code Base Name	HCPCS LOINC LOINC HCPCS HCPCS LOINC LOINC LOINC RXNorm R LOINC	Concept Concept Concept Concept Concept Concept Concept Concept Concept Concept Concept Concept		~
Name: D: D: Namespace: LocalNS				
Validator: - None -				~

5. In the *Name* field, type the name of the *Property*, i.e., **Code in Source**.

Name: Code in Sou	rce
-------------------	-----

6. The property type ID is generated automatically, and displayed in the **ID** field. You cannot modify the generated property type ID.

ID:

In the *Namespace* dropdown field, select the local, editable namespace in which you are creating this property type, i.e. **LocalNS**. Only local namespaces are included in the list. If a namespace was selected in the top *Namespace* dropdown, this namespace will be preselected.

Namespace: LocalNS

7. From the *Modifies* field dropdown list, indicate what the property type will be assigned to, either a **Concept, Namespace, Term,** or a **Version**.

•

Modifies:	Concept 🗸
	Concept
	Namespace
	Term
	Version

8. Click **Apply** to update the selected local namespace with the new property type; the new property type is added to the table on the *Attribute Type Editor* > Property Type window. You can click **New** again and create additional property types in the local namespace.

When you finish creating property types, click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

F.2.2 View and Edit a Property Type

Follow this procedure to view information for an existing association type that exists in any namespace, and edit the information if the property type was created in a local, writable namespace.

1. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.



2. The Attribute Type Editor window displays.

Subsets Additionaes				
lamesnace: - All -				Close
amospace.			•	close
sociation Type Property Type	Qualifier Type Kind Role	Type Validator		
All O Name Filter:				Search
	1			
Property Type 🦯	Namespace	Modifies	Validator	
ACS Payment Group Code	HCPCS	Concept		^
ACS Payment Group Effective Da	te HCPCS	Concept		
ACSSYM Action Code	LOINC	Concept		
Action Code Action Effective Date	HCPCS	Concept		
Added Date	HCPCS	Concept		
Answer List	LOINC	Concept		
Answer List OID	LOINC	Concept		
ASTM Code	LOINC	Concept		
ATC Code	RxNorm R	Concept		
Base Name	LOINC	Concept		~
Name:				
ID:				
Namespace:				~
Modifies: Concept				~
Validator:				~

Select the *Property Type* tab. To change the sort for the property type list, click the column header for the characteristic (**Property Type**, **Namespace**, or **Modifies**) on which you want to base the sort.

3. In the property type table listing, click the property type you want to view or modify to highlight the row. The lower portion of the window changes to reflect information from that property type. If the property type you selected was created in a subscription namespace, none of the fields are editable. If the association type was created in a local, writable namespace, the editable fields are enabled.

espaces Subse	ts Authorities				
lamespace:	All -			~	Close
ssociation Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type Kind Role	Type Validator		
● All O Nan	ne Filter:				Search
Property Type	r.	Namespace	Modifies	Validator	
Code in Source Code in Source		HCPCS ICD-10 R	Concept Concept		^
Code in Source		LocalNS	Concept		
Code Table		LOINC	Concept		
Comment		LOINC	Concept		
Common Order F	Rank	LOINC	Concept		
Common SI Test	Rank	LOINC	Concept		
Common Test Ra	ank	LOINC	Concept		
Component		LOINC	Concept		
Concept Status		SNOMED CT	Concept		~
Name:	Code in Source				
ID:	1				
Namespace:	LocalNS				~
Modifies:	Concept				~
Validator:	- None -				~

4. In the *Name* field, modify the property type name, as necessary.

Name: Code in Sou	rce
-------------------	-----

5. The *ID* that was generated when the association type was created displays; the ID is not editable, for any type of namespace.

ID:	1
-----	---

6. The *Namespace* in which the association type was created is not editable, for any type of namespace.

Namespace:	LocalNS	Ŧ
------------	---------	---

7. From the *Modifies* field dropdown list, indicate what the property type will be assign to, either a **Concept, Namespace, Term,** or a **Version**. Change the *Modifies* field, as necessary. The *Modifies* field will only be editable if instances of the property type do not already exist in the knowledgebase.

Modifies: Concept

- 8. Click **Apply** (which becomes enabled if you make an edit) to update the selected local namespace with the association type edits; the *Attribute Type Editor* window remains displayed for additional edits and/or additions.
- 9. Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

F.2.3 Delete an Property Type

Follow this procedure to delete an existing property type that was created in a local, writable namespace. If there are properties that exist with this property type, you will not be permitted to delete the property type.

Follow this procedure to delete a property type that exists in a local, writable namespace.

1. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.



2. The Attribute Type Editor window displays.

PSDaces Subsets Authorities			
Subseta Addiointes			
lamespace: - All -			✓ Close
en de lieu Trans			
Property Type Qu	alifier Type Kind Role Type Validato	r	
All O Name Filter:			Search
Association Type /	Namespace	Connects	
Access (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	^
ALTERNATIVE (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	=
Analytic_Technique	Triad	Two Concepts	
Ask At Order Entry	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated finding (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated Observations	LOINC	Two Concepts	
Associated procedure (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	
Associated_Diagnosis	Triad	Two Concepts	
Associated_Procedure	Triad	Two Concepts	
Child Of	ICD-10 R	Two Concepts	
Clinical course (attribute)	SNOMED CT	Two Concepts	~
Name:			
10.			
Namespace:			~
Connects: Concepts			~
Inverse Name:			
	taur		

Select the *Property Type* tab. To change the sort for the property type list, click the column header for the characteristic (**Property Type**, **Namespace**, or **Modifies**) on which you want to base the sort.

3. In the Property Type table listing, click the property type you want to delete and click **Delete.**

espaces Suhs	ets Authorities				
lamespace:	LocalNS				Close
ssociation Type	Property Type Qu	alifier Type Kind Role T	ype Validator		
● All 🔿 Na	me Filter:			S	Search
Property Type	7	Namespace	Modifies	Validator	
Code in Source		LocalNS	Concept		
Name:	Code in Source				
Name: ID:	Code in Source				
Name: ID: Namespace:	Code in Source 1 LocalNS				~
Name: ID: Namespace: Modifies:	Code in Source 1 LocalNS Concept				~
Name: ID: Namespace: Modifies: Validator:	Code in Source 1 LocalNS Concept - None -				~

4. A window similar to the following displays if properties with this type exist in a local namespace.



5. As long as properties of this type exist, you will not be permitted to delete the property type. If no properties with this type exist, a delete confirmation window similar to the following displays.



6. Click **OK** to delete the property type from the namespace in which it was created; the property type is removed from the table on the *Attribute Type Editor* window in the *Property Type* tab. Click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion.

Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

F.3 Qualifier Types

For each association or property you can specify (optionally) an established **qualifier type** and **value**.

For an association type, a qualifier provides additional detail regarding the nature of a concept or term association (for example, the origin of an association, or the degree of accuracy of a mapping between concepts, such as **Usually**). You can assign a qualifier type and value to each association between concepts or terms.

For a property type, a qualifier provides additional detail regarding the nature of a concept or term property (e.g., a property **effective date**, or an indicator reflecting that the property is **Current**). You can assign a type and value to each concept or term property qualifier. The following procedures pertain to creating and maintaining qualifier types.

F.3.1 Create Association Qualifier Types

Follow this procedure to add one or more new qualifier types to a local, editable namespace.

1. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.

Tool	s Options Help
	Concept Tree
	Search
	Concept Walker
	Concept/Term Details
	Associations
	Properties
	Synonyms
	Attribute Types

2. The Attribute Type Editor window displays. Select the Qualifier Type tab.

espaces Subsets Authorities	3		
,	•		
Namespace: - All -			✓ Close
	Our title of the second second second		
ssociation Type Property Type	Qualifier Type Kind Role	Type Validator	
All O Name Filter:			Search
Qualifier Type 🕖	Namespace	Qualifies Validator	
ALLOWABLE_ALTERNATIVE	LOINC	Concept Association	^
ANSWER_CARDINALITY	LOINC	Concept Association	=
ANSWER_LIST_ID_OVERRIDE	LOINC	Concept Association	_
ANSWER_LIST_TYPE_OVERRID	DE LOINC	Concept Association	
ANSWER_REQUIRED_YN	LOINC	Concept Association	
ANSWER_SEQUENCE_OVERRI	DE LOINC	Concept Association	
CODING_INSTRUCTIONS	LOINC	Concept Association	
comments	Triad	Concept Association	
CONDITION_FOR_INCLUSION	LOINC	Concept Association	
CONSISTENCY_CHECKS	LOINC	Concept Association	
CONTEXT	LOINC	Concept Association	Y
Name:			
ID:			
Namespace:			~
Qualifies: Concept Prope	erty		~
Validator:			~
	New Arch	Delate	

Information for existing qualifier types (for both associations and properties) is listed in a table format in columns you can resize. Qualifier types from both writable and non-writable namespaces are listed.

Table information includes the qualifier type name, the namespace in which the qualifier was created, and an indicator that references the kind of association it qualifies, either **Concept Association** or **Term Association** (the **Concept Property** and **Term Property** values relate to qualifier types for concept and term **properties**). To change the sort for the qualifier type list, click the column header for the characteristic (**Qualifier Type**, **Namespace**, or **Qualifies**) on which you want to base the sort.

3. Click New. The fields in the lower portion of the window are enabled.

espaces Subsets Authorities	5		
			Close
sociation Type Property Type	Qualifier Type Kind Ro	e Type Validator	
All O Name Filter:			Search
Qualifier Type /	Namespace	Qualifies Validator	
ALLOWABLE_ALTERNATIVE	LOINC	Concept Association	^
ANSWER_CARDINALITY	LOINC	Concept Association	≡
ANSWER_LIST_ID_OVERRIDE	LOINC	Concept Association	
ANSWER_LIST_TYPE_OVERRID	DE LOINC	Concept Association	
ANSWER_REQUIRED_YN	LOINC	Concept Association	
ANSWER_SEQUENCE_OVERRI	DE LOINC	Concept Association	
control contro	LOINC	Concept Association	
CONDITION FOR INCLUSION	LOINC	Concept Association	
CONSISTENCY CHECKS	LOINC	Concept Association	
CONTEXT	LOINC	Concept Association	~
Name:			
ID:			
Namespace:			V
Qualifies: Concept Prope	erty		Ŷ
Validator:			~

4. Specify a name for the new association qualifier type in the *Name* field, i.e., **Effective Date**.

Name:	Effective Date

5. The qualifier type ID is generated automatically, and displayed in the *ID* field. You cannot modify the generated qualifier type ID.

ID:

From the *Namespace* field dropdown list, select the local namespace to which this association or property qualifier type should be written. Since a qualifier type can be written to editable namespaces only, only these namespaces are included in the list, i.e., LocalNS. If a namespace was selected in top *Namespace* dropdown, this namespace will be preselected.

Namespace: LocalNS

7. The value you select in the *Qualifies* field dropdown list indicates the kind of association this qualifier type will qualify. The *Qualifies* field will only be editable if instances of the association type do not already exist in the knowledgebase.

© 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

Ŧ

Qualifies:	Concept Property 🗸
	Concept Property
	Concept Association
	Namespace Property
	Term Property
	Term Association
	Version Property

- Select Concept Property for a qualifier of a property on a concept.
- Select **Concept Association** for a qualifier of an association between two concepts.
- Select Namespace Property for a qualifier of a property on a Namespace.
- Select **Term Property** for a qualifier of a property on a term.
- Select **Term Association** for a qualifier of an association between two terms.
- Select Version Property for a qualifier of a property on a Namespace Version.
- 8. Click **Apply** to update the selected local namespace with the new qualifier type.

nespaces * Sub	sets Authorities				
Namespace:	- All - Property Type Qu	alifier Type * Kind Rol	e Type Validator	~	Close
● All ○ Na	me Filter:	,			Search
Qualifier Type	7	Namespace	Qualifies	Validator	
ALLOWABLE_A	TERNATIVE	LOINC	Concept Association		^
ANSWER_CARE	DINALITY	LOINC	Concept Association		=
ANSWER_LIST_	ID_OVERRIDE	LOINC	Concept Association		_
ANSWER_LIST_	TYPE_OVERRIDE	LOINC	Concept Association		
ANSWER_REQU	JIRED_YN	LOINC	Concept Association		
ANSWER_SEQU	ENCE_OVERRIDE	LOINC	Concept Association		
CODING_INSTR	UCTIONS	LOINC	Concept Association		
comments		Triad	Concept Association		
CONDITION_FO	DR_INCLUSION	LOINC	Concept Association		
CONSISTENCY_	CHECKS	LOINC	Concept Association		
CONTEXT		LOINC	Concept Association		~
Name:	Effective Date				
ID:					
Namespace:	LocalNS				~
Qualifies:	Concept Property				~
Validator:	- None -				~
		New Apply	Restore	ete	

9. The new qualifier type is added to the table on the *Attribute Type Editor* window > *Qualifier Type* tab. The *Attribute Type Editor* window remains displayed; click **New** again to create additional qualifier types in the local namespace.

DTS 4: Editor Users Guide

10. Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

F.3.2 View and Edit a Qualifier Type

Follow this procedure to view information for an existing qualifier type, and to perform any required edits.

1. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.



2. The Attribute Type Editor window displays. Select the Qualifier Type tab.

espaces Subsets Authorities	5		
Namespace: - All -			✓ Close
	Qualifier Type	- Turne Maltidation	
ssociation Type Property Type			
All O Name Filter:			Search
Qualifier Type /	Namespace	Qualifies Validator	
ALLOWABLE_ALTERNATIVE	LOINC	Concept Association	^
ANSWER_CARDINALITY	LOINC	Concept Association	=
ANSWER_LIST_ID_OVERRIDE	LOINC	Concept Association	
ANSWER_LIST_TYPE_OVERRID	DE LOINC	Concept Association	
ANSWER_REQUIRED_YN		Concept Association	
CODING INSTRUCTIONS		Concept Association	
comments	Triad	Concept Association	
CONDITION FOR INCLUSION	LOINC	Concept Association	
CONSISTENCY_CHECKS	LOINC	Concept Association	
CONTEXT	LOINC	Concept Association	~
Name:			
ID:			
Namespace:			~
Qualifies: Concept Prope	erty		~
Validator:			V

Information for existing qualifier types (for both associations and properties) is listed in a table format in columns you can resize. Qualifier types from both writable and non-

writable namespaces are listed.

Table information includes the qualifier type name, the namespace in which the qualifier was created, and an indicator that references the kind of association it qualifies, either **Concept Association** or **Term Association** (the **Concept Property** and **Term Property** values relate to qualifier types for concept and term **properties**). To change the sort for the qualifier type list, click the column header for the characteristic (**Qualifier Type**, **Namespace**, or **Qualifies**) on which you want to base the sort.

3. In the qualifier type table listing, click the qualifier type you want to view or modify to highlight the row. The data in the bottom portion of the window changes to reflect information for that qualifier.

0		Attribute Ty	/pe Editor		x
Namespaces Subs	sets Authorities				
	All			Chara	
Namespace:	- All -			V Close	
Association Type	Property Type Qual	ifier Type Kind Role Type	Validator		
● All O Na	ame Filter:			Search	
Qualifier Type	£7	Namespace	Qualifies	Validator	
CONSISTENCY CONTEXT DATA_TYPE_I DATA_TYPE_S Date Of Status DEFAULT_VALI DISPLAY_NAM Effective Date EXTERNAL_CO FILE FIRST_IN_SUE	CHECKS N_FORM OURCE s Change UE FOR_FORM PYRIGHT_NOTICE ISET [date]	LOINC LOINC LOINC SNOMED CT LOINC LOINC LOINC LOINC NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] SNOMED CT	Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association Concept Property Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association		
Name:	Effective Date				1
ID:	2				
Namespace:	LocalNS			~	
Qualifies:	Concept Property			~	
Validator:	- None -			~	
	Ne	ew Apply	Restore Delete		

4. If the qualifier type was created in a local (writable) namespace, you can modify the qualifier type *Name*, as needed. The *Name* is not editable if the qualifier type is from a subscription namespace.

Name: Effective Date

5. The *ID* generated for the qualifier type when it was created displays. The field is not editable.

6. The *Namespace* in which this qualifier type was created displays. The field is not editable.

Namespace: LocalNS

7. The value in the *Qualifies* field indicates what this qualifier type will qualify (the field is not editable, regardless of the namespace in which the qualifier type was created). The *Qualifies* field will only be editable if instances of the qualifier type do not already exist in the knowledgebase.

Qualifies: Concept Property

- A Concept Property for a qualifier of a property on a concept.
- A **Concept Association** for a qualifier of an association between two concepts.
- A Namespace Property for a qualifier of a property on a Namespace.
- A **Term Property** for a qualifier of a property on a term.
- A Term Association for a qualifier of an association between two terms.
- A Version Property for a qualifier of a property on a Namespace Version.
- 8. Click **Apply** (which becomes enabled if you make an edit) to update the selected local namespace with the qualifier type edits; the *Attribute Type Editor* window > *Qualifier Type tab* remains displayed if you want to view or edit other qualifier types.
- 9. Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window

F.3.3 Delete an Association Qualifier Type

Follow this procedure to delete an existing qualifier type from a local namespace. The qualifier type must have been created in a local (i.e., writable) namespace in order for you to delete it.

1. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.

÷



2. The Attribute Type Editor window displays. Select the Qualifier Type tab.

Namespace: - All -							✓ Close	_
ssociation Type Property 1	vne Qualifier	Type Kind	Role Type	Validator				
	76-		1					-
● All ○ Name Filter:							Search	
Oualifier Type	N	amespace		Oualifies		Validator		٦
ALLOWABLE ALTERNATIVE	10	INC		Concept Asso	tiation			
ANSWER CARDINALITY		INC		Concept Asso	tiation		-	ì
ANSWER LIST ID OVERRI	DE LO	DINC		Concept Asso	iation		=	1
ANSWER LIST TYPE OVER	RIDE LO	DINC		Concept Asso	iation			
ANSWER_REQUIRED_YN	LC	DINC		Concept Asso	iation			
ANSWER_SEQUENCE_OVER	RRIDE LO	DINC		Concept Asso	iation			
CODING_INSTRUCTIONS	LC	DINC		Concept Asso	iation			
comments	Tr	iad		Concept Asso	iation			
CONDITION_FOR_INCLUSI	ON LC	DINC		Concept Asso	tiation			
CONSISTENCY_CHECKS	LC	DINC		Concept Asso	tiation			
CONTEXT	LC	DINC		Concept Asso	tiation		~	1
Name:								
ID:								٦
								۲
Namespace:							~	4
Qualifies: Concept Pr	operty							/
Validator:								2
		_						-

Information for existing qualifier types (for both associations and properties) is listed in a table format in columns you can resize. Qualifier types from both writable and non-writable namespaces are listed.

Table information includes the qualifier type name, the namespace in which the qualifier was created, and an indicator that references the kind of association it qualifies, either **Concept Association** or **Term Association** (the **Concept Property** and **Term Property** values relate to qualifier types for concept and term **properties**). To change the sort for

the qualifier type list, click the column header for the characteristic (**Qualifier Type**, **Namespace**, or **Qualifies**) on which you want to base the sort.

3. In the qualifier type table listing, click the qualifier type you want to view or modify to highlight the row. The data in the bottom portion of the window changes to reflect information for that qualifier.

ē	1	Attribute T	ype Editor		x
Namespaces Subs	sets Authorities				
Namespace:	- All -			V Close	
Association Type	Property Type Qua	lifier Type Kind Role Type	Validator		
● All O Na	ame Filter:			Search	
Qualifier Type	Ez.	Namespace	Qualifies	Validator	
CONSISTENCY CONTEXT DATA_TYPE_I DATA_TYPE_S DATE_OFSTATUS DEFAULT_VALU DISPLAY_NAMU Effective Date EXTERNAL_CO FILE FIRST_IN_SUB	_CHECKS N_FORM OURCE s Change JE E_FOR_FORM PYRIGHT_NOTICE ISET [date]	LOINC LOINC LOINC SNOMED CT LOINC LOINC LOINC LOINC NDF-RT2 [Public Edition] SNOMED CT	Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association Concept Property Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association Concept Association Concept Property		
Name:	Effective Date				
ID:	2				
Namespace:	LocalNS			v	
Qualifies:	Concept Property			v	
Validator:	- None -			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	N	ew Apply	Restore Delete	2	

4. In the Qualifier Type table listing, click the qualifier type you want to delete and click **Delete.**

espaces Subs	sets Authorities			
lamespace:	LocalNS			✓ Close
ssociation Type	Property Type Qual	ifier Type Kind Role Ty	/pe Validator	
All O Na	ame Filter:			Search
Qualifier Type	т	Namespace	Qualifies	Validator
Effective Date		LocalNC	Concept Property	
		LUCAINS		
		LUCAINS		
Name:	Effective Date	LUCAINS		
Name: ID:	Effective Date			
Name: ID: Namespace:	Effective Date 2 LocalNS			
Name: ID: Namespace: Qualifies:	Effective Date 2 LocalNS Concept Property			

5. If an instance of this qualifier with this type already exists in the local namespace, the qualifier type cannot be deleted. An informational dialog will be shown.



6. As long as qualifiers of this type exist, you will not be permitted to delete the qualifier type. If no qualifiers with this type exist, a delete confirmation window similar to the following displays.



7. Click **OK** to delete the association type from the namespace in which it was created; the association type is removed from the table on the *Attribute Type Editor* window in the *Association Type* tab. Click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion.

8. Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

F.3.4 Validators

Using the new Validators tool, you can define a set of parameters to restrict the string input for Property and Qualifier type attributes. Validators can be defined one of two ways: LIST, or REGEX. To create a validator, first click the Validator tab button in the Attribute Type Editor.

5		Attribute Type Editor		x
Namespaces Subse	ets Authorities			
Namespace:	LocalNS		v [Close
Association Type	Property Type Qualifier Type	e Kind Role Type Validator]
All O National	me Filter:		5	Search
Validator /		Namespace	Method	
Name:				
ID:				
Namespace:				<u> </u>
Method:	LIST			<u> </u>
	Value List:			
	Regex:			Test
ToolTip:				
Error Text:				
	New	Apply Restore	Delete	

Validators are Namespace-specific, and cannot be created for "all" namespaces. Be sure a namespace is selected in the "Namespace" field.

Click "New" to begin defining your Validator. Next assign your Validator a name, e.g. "Date" or "My List". In the "Method" field, select the type of Validator you wish to create. You can choose either LIST, if you wish to define a pick list of options for the validator, or REGEX to use a regular expression to define the restriction on the string input, like a date field, or alpha-numeric characters only. Depending on your Method selection, the corresponding fields below will activate or deactivate.

If you selected LIST, you can then manually enter, or copy paste, your list of values in the "Value List" field. Entries are separated in this field with a carriage return, with each option simply on its own line in the text box.

Value List:	Option 1
	Option 2
	Option 3

If you selected REGEX, you can then define the regular expression to control the string input. If you need assistance with your regex definition, the "Test" button will launch a small RegEx Helper dialog box. You can enter a regex here, and a test value, and click "test" to see if the value meets the RegEx definition.

For Example, below we have defined a numeric digits-only format in the helper, but typed a character value in the "value" field. Clicking Test displays a message that 's' does not match the RexEx pattern, as it is not numeric digits.

🗧 F	Regex Helper	\times
Test	Reference	
Reg	Ex: \d	
Valu	ue: d	
	Value 'd' does not match RegEx pattern.	
	Test Apply Cancel	

If we instead enter valid data and click "test" a message of 'valid input' is displayed instead.

🧧 Reg	Jex Helper	×
Test R	eference	
RegEx:	b/	
Value:	3	
	Valid input.	
	Test Apply Cancel	

In the RegEx Helper, there is also a Reference tab with helpful hints and examples of commonly used RexEx patterns.

🧧 Regex H	lelper		×	
Test Refere	ence			
Character	8		~	
x	The	character x		
11	The	backslash character		
\0n	The	character with octal value On (0 <= $n \leq 7$)		
\0nn	The	character with octal value Onn (O <= n <= 7)		
\0mnn	The	character with octal value 0mnn (0 <= m <= 3, 0 <= n \cdot	<=	
\xhh	The	character with hexadecimal value 0xhh		
\uhhhh	The	character with hexadecimal value 0xhhhh		
\t	The	tab character ('\u0009')		.
3 m	The	nowline (line feed) character (1):000011)	~	1
<			>	

Once you have defined your RegEx in the RegEx Helper, you can click "Apply" to copy the value into the Regex field on the Validator screen.

Back on the Validator Screen you can also define a ToolTip, which will display text on mouseover of the field to hint to the user what the field expects.

You can also define a custom error message to display in the event the user does not match the pattern, to prompt the user to edit their entry accordingly. (see below for a sample validator definition. Note in the REGEX example the "Value List" field is greyed out, and in the LIST example the "Regex" field is greyed out. The historical data present in each of these fields will have no effect on the functions of the validator of the opposite Method).

RegEx Example:

Name:	Numeric Digit	s
ID:		
Namespace:	Ontylog1	~
Method:	REGEX	~
	Value List:	Option 1 Option 2 Option 3
	Regex:	\d Test
ToolTip:	Must be valid	digit-only text.
Error Text:	Text does no	ot contain only numerical digits, please try again.

DTS 4: Editor Users Guide

List Example:

Name:	List		
ID:			
Namespace:	Ontylog1		~
Method:	LIST		~
	Value List:	Option 1 Option 2 Option 3	
	Regex:	b/	Test
ToolTip:	Must be a se	lection from this dropdown list.	
Error Text:	Please select	an option from the provided drop down list.	

F.4 Kinds

For and Ontylog Namespace, a Kind is used in the definition of the concepts within the namespace. With the support for Local Ontylog Namespaces, the Attribute Types editor now supports creating and editing Kinds for these namespaces.

F.4.1 Create Kinds

Follow this procedure to add one or more new kinds to an editable Ontylog Namespace.

11. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.



12. The Attribute Type Editor window displays. Select the Kind tab.

5		Attribute Type Editor		x
Namespaces Subsets	Authorities			
Namespace: Or	ntylog 1		✓ Close	
Association Type P	Property Type Qualifier Type	Kind Role Type Validator		
All O Name	Filter:		Search	
Association Type	1	Namespace	Connects	
Name:]
ID:				
Namespace:			~ ~	
Connects:	Concepts		~	
Inverse Name:				
	New	Apply Restore	Delete	

Information for existing kinds, if any (for both associations and properties) is listed in a table format in columns you can resize. Kinds are namespace-specific, and you must select a namespace in the dropdown before you can make changes. You cannot create kinds for "all" namespaces.

Table information includes the kind name and the namespace in which the kind was created. To change the sort for the kind list, click the column header for the characteristic on which you want to base the sort.

13. Click **New**. The fields in the lower portion of the window are enabled.

Name:		
ID:		
Reference:		
Namespace:	Ontylog1	~
	New Apply Restore Delete	

14. Specify a name for the new kind in the *Name* field, i.e., **Procedure Kind**.

Name:	Procedure Kind

15. The kind ID is generated automatically, and displayed in the *ID* field. You cannot modify the generated kind ID.

ID:	
-----	--

16. The Namespace dropdown field is auto-populated with the selected Namespace from above, and cannot be edited.

Namespace: Ontylog1

17. Click **Apply** to update the selected local Ontylog Namespace with the new Kind.
| Namespace: Ontylog1 | | ✓ Close |
|--|--------------------------|-----------|
| Association Type Property Type Qualifi | er Type Kind Role Type V | alidator |
| All O Name Filter: | | Search |
| Kind / | Namespace | Reference |
| Kind_1 | Ontylog1 | false |
| Procedure Kind | Ontylog1 | false |

- 18. The new Kind is added to the table on the *Attribute Type Editor* window > *Kind* tab. The *Attribute Type Editor* window remains displayed; click **New** again to create additional qualifier types in the local namespace.
- 19. Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

F.4.2 View and Edit a Kind

Follow this procedure to view information for an existing Kind, and to perform any required edits.

10. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.



11. The Attribute Type Editor window displays. Select the Kind tab.

@	Attribute Type Editor	x
Namespaces Subsets Authorities		
Namespace: Ontylog1		✓ Close
Association Type Property Type Qualifier Ty	pe Kind Role Type Validator]
All O Name Filter:		Search
Kind /	Namespace	Reference
Kind_1 Procedure Kind	Ontylog1 Ontylog1	false false
Name:		
ID:		
Reference:		
Namespace:		v
New	Apply Restore	Delete

Information for existing kinds, if any (for both associations and properties) is listed in a

table format in columns you can resize. Kinds are namespace-specific, and you must select a namespace in the dropdown before you can make changes. You cannot create kinds for "all" namespaces.

Table information includes the kind name and the namespace in which the kind was created. To change the sort for the kind list, click the column header for the characteristic on which you want to base the sort.

12. In the kind table listing, click the kind you want to view or modify to highlight the row. The data in the bottom portion of the window changes to reflect information for that kind.

espaces Subse	ats Authorities	Attribute Type Edito	or	
5055	Autorities			
Namespace:	Ontylog1			✓ Close
ssociation Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type Kind Role Type Validator		
● All ○ Nar	me Filter:			Search
Kind /		Namespace	Reference	
Kind_1		Ontylog1	false	
Procedure Kind		Ontylog1	false	
Name:	Kind_1			
Name: ID:	Kind_1			
Name: ID: Reference:	Kind_1 1 false			
Name: ID: Reference: Namespace:	Kind_1 1 false Ontylog1			

13. If the kind was created in a local ontylog namespace, you can modify the qualifier type *Name*, as needed. The *Name* is not editable if the kind is from a subscription ontylog namespace.

Name: N	Measurement Kind
---------	------------------

- 14. The ID generated for the kind when it was created displays. The field is not editable.
- 15. The *Namespace* in which this kind was created displays. The field is not editable.

Namespace: Ontylog1

- 16. Click **Apply** (which becomes enabled if you make an edit) to update the selected local ontylog namespace with the kind edits; the *Attribute Type Editor* window > *Kind* tab remains displayed if you want to view or edit other kinds.
- 17. Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window

F.4.3 Delete a Kind

Follow this procedure to delete an existing kind from a local ontylog namespace. The kind must have been created in a local ontylog namespace in order for you to delete it.

9. From the Menu select **Tools > Attribute Types**.



10. The Attribute Type Editor window displays. Select the Kind tab.

		Attribute Type Editor		L
mespaces Subsets Auth	orities			
Namespace: Ontylog1		Kind at a luckto		✓ Close
Association Type Property O All O Name Filter:	7 Type Qualifier Type	Role Type Validator		Search
Kind / Kind_1		Namespace Ontylog1	Reference	
Procedure Kind		Ontylog1	faise	
Name:				
Name:				
Name: D: Reference: Namespace: C				

Information for existing kinds, if any (for both associations and properties) is listed in a table format in columns you can resize. Kinds are namespace-specific, and you must select a namespace in the dropdown before you can make changes. You cannot create kinds for "all" namespaces.

Table information includes the kind name and the namespace in which the kind was created. To change the sort for the kind list, click the column header for the characteristic on which you want to base the sort.

11. In the kind table listing, click the kind you want to view or modify to highlight the row. The data in the bottom portion of the window changes to reflect information for that kind.

			Attribute Ty	pe Edito	or			L
mespaces Subs	ets Authorities							
Namespace:	Ontylog1						~	Close
Association Type	Property Type	Qualifier Type	Kind Role Type	Validator				
All O Na	me Filter:							Search
Kind /			Namespace			Reference		
Kind 1			Ontylog1			false		
Procedure Kind			Ontylog1			false		
Name:	Kind_1							
Name:	Kind_1 1							
Name: ID: Reference:	Kind_1 1 false							
Name: ID: Reference: Namespace:	Kind_1 1 false Ontylog1							

12. In the Kind table listing, click the kind type you want to delete and click **Delete.** A confirmation window will pop up allowing you to confirm deletion.

	Confirm Operation	x
?	Are you sure you want to delete the Kind 'Kind_	1'?
	OK Cancel	

13. If an instance of this qualifier with this type already exists in the local namespace, the qualifier type cannot be deleted. An informational dialog will be shown. As long as concepts in the Local Ontylog Namespace exist with this kind, you will not be permitted to delete the kind.



- 14. Click **OK** to delete the kind from the namespace in which it was created; the kind is removed from the table on the *Attribute Type Editor* window in the *Association Type* tab. Click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion.
- 15. Click **Close** to close the *Attribute Type Editor* window.

G. Details Panel

The *Details* panel centralizes edit functionality via independent tabs for *Concepts, Terms, Namespaces, Subsets,* and *Authorities.* Each tab supports the addition, modification, and deletion of Properties and other Attributes for these objects. The visibility of the tabs and their modifiability can be customized in the *DTS Editor Layout file* (refer to the *DTS Editor Module Guide* for additional information). In the *Details* panels, double clicking on a container node—a node that contains additional concepts—toggles expansion, similar to clicking on the little + icon. Double clicking on a leaf node—a node that does not contain additional concepts—opens the editor for the leaf, provided that the node is editable.

In addition to the right-click context menu functions in the Details Panel, DTS also supports Windows standard keyboard shortcuts for Cut (Ctrl+X), Copy (Ctrl+C) and Paste (Ctrl+V) to facilitate the ease of editing all attributes.

New to the *Details* panel in Version 4 is a Version Select widget to move between Concept "snapshots" in Namespace Versions. This is similar to the Version Select widget in the *Tree* and *Search* panels. The Concepts and Term "trees" also now include an Active/Inactive/Deleted status attribute. This attribute is read-write on Concepts/Terms in Thesaurus and Ontylog Extension Namespaces. Right click on the Status line to edit this value. The configuration menu now includes Status and History ToolTip items. If selected, the latter shows Concept/Term and Attribute Created/Retired dates and associated username in ToolTips. Inverse Synonyms (the Concepts associated with a Term via a Synonymous relationship) are now displayed on Terms. Drag and Drop is supported on all objects.

The Namespaces, Subsets and Authorities panels incorporate an editable "details" panel. This panel replicates all display and editing features of the equivalent *Namespace*, *Subset* and *Authority Editor* Panels. There are a few functionality differences, however, in particular the Publish operation is only available in the Namespace and Edit Panels.

A new "print" option is available to produce hard copy of the information in a *Details* panel (including those panels embedded in the *Namespace Editor*, *Subset Editor*, and *Authority Editor*). The Print Details ... option is available from the right-click context menu associated with the panel's "name" element, e.g. Concept name, or Namespace Name. Selecting this option shows the preliminary print dialog:

Print De	etail Tree 🛛 🗙
Header:	
Concept Detail Panel 01-Ju	l-2019 16:09:48
Print shown nodes	O Print all nodes
Print	Cancel

Enter a descriptive header string, then select one of the radio buttons to print either just the currently shown (expanded) nodes, or all nodes in the tree. Then click Print to open your operating system's print dialog to complete the print process.

The discussions in this section relate to viewing details of existing concepts, terms, and the creation of a new concept or term in a local namespace.

G.1 View Details

The *Details* panel displays as the default in the right pane of the *DTS Editor Main* window when it first opens. This panel consists of five subordinate "tab" panels, one each for viewing the details of concepts, terms, namespaces, subsets and authorities. You can display detailed attribute information for each concept, term, namespace, subset or authority that you drag from any other display window or panel on the *Main* window. The *Details* panel automatically selects the appropriate tab based on the dropped object type.

The sections below describe the operation of the individual object tab panels.

G.1.1 Batch Commit

You will notice a small gear icon to the right of the Details Panel.

Concept Term Nam	espace Subset Authority	
♥ 🗢	New Delete Defi	ned View 🔿 🏹

This gear controls the Batch Commit function of DTS. By default, DTS does not save changes you make to any concept, term, subset, namespace, or authority in the Details panel, but is in "Deferred Mode", allowing you to commit several changes at once. If you wish for changes to take effect immediately, you can toggle this setting to "Immediate Mode".

ority	
New Delete	Immediate Mode
	Deferred Mode

While in Deferred Mode, changes made to items in the Details panel must be saved or discarded before you can leave that objects view.

G.2 View Concept Details

Concepts are normally loaded into the Concept tab by dragging and dropping from other DTS Editor panels. Concepts can be automatically loaded into the Details panel from the *Concept Tree* and *Walker Tree* panels, however, if the panel's **Click to Edit** option is enabled,. See the descriptions of these panels for more information on **Click to Edit**.

In the following illustration, the concept **Accidental hemorrhage during medical care** (**finding**), from a SNOMED CT Ontylog namespace, was clicked or dragged from the *Concept Tree* tab into the *Details* > *Concept* panel. The attributes are expanded for view.



When you expand all, or selected attributes for view, the *Concept/Term Details* panel retains those tree settings for the next concept displayed in the view. Only those attributes that were expanded for the previous concept are "**auto-expanded**" for the new concept in the view.

G.2.1 Configure Concept/Terms Details Panel View

To select which attributes will display if there is a **concept** in the *Details* > *Concept* panel, right click the name of the concept you dragged into the panel, then click **Configure View**.

 Accidental hemorrhage during medical care (findine Code: 242996005 ID: 242996 Status: Active 	Configure View Print Details
 Namespace: SNOMED CT (Ontylog, Subscript Version: 2013.07.13AA (31-Jul-2013 00:00:0 Synonyms (3) Concept Properties (10) Superconcepts (1) Roles (1) Concept Associations (5) Inverse Concept Associations (1) 	Add Synonym Add Property Add Association Add Inverse Association

The *Configure Details View* window displays, listing the attribute view options available when a concept is displayed in the panel.

<u></u>	Configure Details View
	✓ Code
	✓ ID
	✓ Namespace
	Version
	✓ Status
	Synonyms
	✓ Concept Properties
	✓ Superconcepts
	✓ Subconcepts
	✓ Roles
	Inverse Roles
	 Concept Associations
	✓ Inverse Concept Associations
	Subsets
	History ToolTips
	Attribute Limit 100
	OK Cancel

To add / remove an attribute from the detail display, select the checkbox adjacent to that attribute to add / remove the check mark. If you are dealing with namespaces which have a large attribute limit, increase the default *Attribute Limit* of **100** to a higher setting, i.e., **1000**. If you do not want to see any attribute you can decrease the default *Attribute Limit* of **100** to **0**.

Click **OK** when finished. Your display configuration is retained for later DTS sessions.

G.2.2 Navigate to Other Concepts or Terms from Displayed Detail

On the *Details* panel Concept tab you can navigate to (and display attribute details for) another concept or term from the current attribute detail view. [or drag the namespace object]

To display detail attributes for a concept, click or drag a concept and *Details* panel Concept tab. The *Details* panel Concept tab display refreshes, referencing attributes for the selected connect.



Drag and drop other concepts linked to the main concept to the white portion of the *Details* panel Concept tab to easily navigate to, and display details for, a concept or term within the same or another namespace.



For any displayed concept or term, you can navigate to those concepts or terms referenced in the displayed details (associations, inverse associations, roles, inverse roles, concepts or terms referenced as superconcepts, subconcepts, synonyms).

G.2.3 View Subsets in Which a Concept Resides

In addition to listing a concept's attributes in the *Details* panel Concept tab, you have the option to list all subsets in which the concept in the view is included. Confirm that the **Subsets** option is checked in the *Configure Details View* window.

٤ (Configure Details View
	/ Code
	ID ID
	Namespace
	Version
	Status
	/ Synonyms
	Concept Properties
	Superconcepts
	Subconcepts
	Roles
	Inverse Roles
	Concept Associations
	Inverse Concept Associations
	/ Subsets
	History ToolTips
At	tribute Limit 100
	OK Cancel

If the concept is included in one or more subsets, a **Subsets** heading is added to the *Details* panel Concept tab view and each subset in which the concept is included is listed.

Eleeding (finding)
Code: 131148009
ID: 131148
Status: Active
Mamespace: SNOMED CT (Ontylog, Subscription, Read-Only)
Version: 2013.07.13AA (31-Jul-2013 00:00:00)
🖨 Synonyms (2)
📲 Synonym: Bleeding (Preferred)
🚟 🔆 Synonym: Bleeding (finding)
Encept Properties (11)
i → Subconcepts (95)
Roles (1)
Concept Associations (4)
E- Subsets (1)
Clinical Findings

If a subset is modified so that the concept in the view no longer is included in the subset, that subset is removed from the listing.

G.2.4 View Details Panel History Using Forward and Back Buttons

For your reference, a **history** is provided of the concepts and/or terms that were displayed previously in the same instance of the *Details* panel. Each of the panel tabs – Concept, Term, Namespace, Subset and Authority maintain their own history. Use the **Forward** and **Back** buttons to navigate through concepts and terms that you viewed or edited earlier.

For example, if you are viewing a concept or term in the *Details* panel, then subsequently drag a different concept or term into the panel for view or edit, the **Back** button becomes enabled. Note the illustration.



Click the **Back** button to review the concept that displayed in the panel previously (i.e., the concept in the *Details* panel's concept or term history). The view always reflects the current *Configure Details View* settings.

As soon as you click the **Back** button, the **Forward** button becomes enabled.

Click the **Forward** button repeatedly to redisplay the concept or term you dragged into the *Details* panel most recently. The button becomes disabled (grayed out) when the most recent concept is displayed.

The displayed history reflects the latest version of a concept or term. If a concept or term is updated after it was put in the history, the latest version of the concept or term is displayed when you click the **Forward** and **Back** buttons.

The *Details* panel history is available only for the current connection instance. The *Details* panel history will be reset when you disconnect from the DTS Editor.

G.3 Add a New Concept/Term to a Local Namespace

G.3.1 Create the New Concept

Follow this procedure to add a new concept or term to an established local namespace.

1. To create a new concept in a namespace, click **New** in the *Details* panel Concept tab in the right panel of the *DTS Main* window.



2. The Create New Concept window displays.

Create New Concept			
Concept Name: Namespace:	LocalNS	~	
	OK Cancel		

- 3. Enter the name of the new concept in the *Name* field.
- 4. From the *Namespace* field dropdown list, select the local namespace to which the new concept will be added (only local, writable namespaces are listed).
- 5. Click **OK** to add the concept or term to the selected namespace. The new concept name displays in the *Details* panel Concept tab, and references the namespace in which you created it. To cancel the addition of the concept or term to the namespace, click **Cancel**.

	Create New Concept	x
Concept Name: Namespace:	Heart Attack LocalNS	~
	OK Cancel	

- 6. The Create New Concept window closes.
- 7. Normally, the Concept Code and ID are assigned to the new concept automatically by the DTS Server. Users can, on the other hand, associate a custom-written ConceptTermInitializer to a Namespace to have explicit control over these assignments. See the discussion of the Configuration Options panel for more information. Note that each concept name, code and ID is tracked so that if the concept is deleted at a later time,

that concept name, code or ID is prevented from being reassigned to another new concept.



G.3.2 Change the Name of a Concept

You can change the name of an existing concept only if the namespace is writable.

- 1. Make sure the concept you want to modify displays in the *Details* panel Concept tab. Right-click on the concept name.
- 2. On the displayed option list, click **Rename**. The *Rename Concept* window displays, referencing the existing concept name.

Rename Concept	x
New Name: Heart Attack	
OK Cancel	

3. Enter a *New Name* for the concept, and click **OK**. This name must not be used by any other concept in the namespace.

6	Rename Concept	X
New Name:	Myocardial Infarction	
	OK Cancel	

4. If the concept you want to rename is in a writable namespace, the new name displays immediately in the *Details* panel Concept tab. The namespace is updated with the new concept name.

Concept T	erm Namespace Subset Authority	
	New Delete	⇒ 🔅
⊟⊖ My	ocardial Infarction	
	Code: C1	
	ID: 1	
	Status: Active	
🔳	Namespace: LocalNS (Thesaurus, Local, Editable)	
i 🔳	Version: Working	

G.3.3 Change the Status of a Concept

You can change the status of an existing concept only if the namespace is writable.

1. Make sure the concept you want to modify displays in the *Details* panel Concept tab. Right click on the Status line and then click **Update Status...**



2. The Update Concept/Term Status window displays.



- 3. Select the desired new Status: Active, Inactive, or Deleted, from the dropdown and click OK.
- 4. The concept will redisplay with the updated Status.

G.3.4 Copy a Concept

You also have the option of copying, or cloning a concept in a Local read-write Namespace. All updates or modifications you've made to the concept must be saved before this can be done.

To copy a concept, right click on the Concept Name and select "Copy".



Next, give the new copy of the concept a name. You'll notice that as you type the name, the Name value in the display below is automatically updated. You can then select any and all attributes from the source concept to be included in the copy. This allows the user to customize how much of the concept's details to copy. If you check the Concept Name, all attributes underneath the tree will be selected as well. Once you've made your selections, click "Copy" to complete the clone process.

6	Copy Concept 'Concept 1'	x
Ne	ew Name: Copy of Concept 1 Code: C3 D: 3 Status: Active Namespace: LocalNS (Thesaurus, Local, Editable) Version: Working Synonyms (3) Synonyms (3) Synonym: Con1 Synonym: Concept 1 (Preferred) Concept Properties (3) Concept Property: Value 1 Concept Property: Value 1 Concept Property: Value 2 A Concept Property: Value 3 Inverse Concept Associations (1) [Inv] Parent Of: Root Concept	
	Copy Cancel	

After you click "Copy", the new concept will appear in the details panel, with highlights to indicate which properties were copied from the source concept. You must then Save the concept to finalize the modifications.



If the original concept was a Root concept, you will then receive a message asking if you wish the copy to also be a root concept. Make your selection to continue.

	5	Save Concep	t	x
Copied Concept is a Namespace root. Do you want the new Concept to be made a root?				
	Yes	No	Cancel	

Selecting "Yes" will add the concept to the root of the Tree View, and will be visible one the Tree View is refreshed.



G.4 Permanently Delete a Concept/Term from a Local Namespace

For most modeling projects, concepts (and terms) are never truly deleted. They are given a **Deleted** Status (as described above) in the Working namespace version in order to maintain full history of the modeling activity. Sometimes, however, usually for testing or demonstration purposes, it is help to be able to permanently delete a concept or term. Permanent delete is only permitted on unpublished concepts and terms.

Note: Permanently deleted concept and terms are completely removed from the DTS Knowledgebase and cannot be recovered.

Follow this procedure to permanently delete a concept from an established local namespace.

1. Make sure the concept you want to permanently delete is displayed in the *Details* panel Concept tab. Right-click on the concept name.

2. On the displayed option list, click **Delete** The *Confirm Operation* window displays, referencing the existing concept name. The window will also display any attributes that would be affected by the deleting the concept.

	Confirm Operation X
?	Are you sure you want to permanently delete the Concept 'Concept 1'?
	2 Concept Associations have this Concept as a value.
	This operation cannot be undone.
	OK Cancel

3. Click **OK** to permanently delete the concept or **Cancel** to terminate the operation.

G.5 Add a Synonym to a Concept

Use one of the following methods to add a synonym (with an association type established as local content in a local namespace) between concepts or terms in a subscription namespace. The synonymous term can exist in the same namespace as the concept, or in a different namespace. A synonym always pairs a concept with a synonymous term (never a concept with a concept, or a term with a term).

If you are creating a synonymous term as local content for a concept in a subscription namespace, the association type you select must be created already in the current local namespace; the resulting new synonym will be written to the current local namespace as well.

You have the option of defining a new character string as the synonymous term, and linking that term to a concept.

G.5.1 Create a Synonym

Follow this procedure to link a synonymous term to a concept by right clicking on the new concept name in the *Details* panel Concept tab.

If the new concept is displayed in the *Details* panel Concept tab, either right-click on the concept name. Select Add Synonym from the displayed options. If the concept already has Synonyms, you can also right-click on the *Synonyms* folder name and Select Add Synonym. If you have two windows up, displaying concepts and terms, you can also Ctrl+drag one term to the target concept to bring up the same "Add Synonym" window.

Note: To add a synonym to an existing concept, drag the concept from another displayed window or panel and drop it on the *Details* panel Concept tab. Right-click on the concept name, then select **Add Synonym** from the displayed options.

Details				
Concept Term N	amespace Subset Authority			
♥ ←	Save Restore New Delete 🔿			
Myocardia Code: ID: 1 Statu: Name Versic	Configure View Print Details Copy Rename Add Synonym Add Property Add Association			
	Add Inverse Association			

- 1. The *New Synonym* window displays. The concept from the *Details* panel Concept tab displays automatically in the *Concept* field.
- 2. If you click the Synonym Type button, you have the option of **filtering** the association types that are available from the *Synonym Type* field dropdown list by creating a predefined, filtered list of types.

0	Add Synonym	x		
Concept	Concept: Myocardial Infarction [LocalNS]			
Synonym Type:	Synonym [LocalNS]	~		
Term		~		
	Is Preferred Create New Term			
OK Close				

3. You can Add / Remove associations from the *Synonym Type* field dropdown list. When you attempt to select an association type from the *Synonym Type* field dropdown list, or select an alternate association type, only the pre-selected association types will be included in the list.

Click **Cancel** to exit without filtering the list.

Filter Synonym Types		
Available Associatio	1 Types:	
Association Type	Namespace	
Synonym Synonym SynonymOf	LocaINS LocaINS2 LocaINS	
Filtered Association	Add Remove Clear	
Association Type	Namespace	
	Save	

- 4. If you are creating a synonymous term for a concept in a subscription or local namespace, only association types from the **current local namespace** are listed (alphabetically) in the *Synonym Type* dropdown field, and only those association types that represent connections between concepts and synonymous terms (**Concept to Term Association**); select the appropriate association type. A new (synonymous) association between the concept and the term you select will be written to the local namespace where the association type was created. Refer to the *Association Types* discussions.
- 5. You can drag and drop a term from another window or click the *Create New Term* button to create a new synonymous term to associate to the concept.

6	Add	Synonym	x
Concept:	Myocardial Infarction [L	.ocalNS]	V
Synonym Type:	Synonym [LocalNS]		~
Term:			~
	Is Preferred	Create New Term	
	OK	Close	

6. The *Create New Term* windows displays. Enter the *Term Name* and select the *Namespace*. Click **OK**.

	Create New Term	x
Term Name: Namespace:	Myocardial Infarction	
	OK Cancel	

7. In the event multiple synonyms exist for a specific concept, you can designate that one of the synonyms *Is Preferred*. On the *New Synonym* window, click the *Is Preferred* field checkbox to designate this synonym as the **preferred** synonym. This synonym will be referenced as **Preferred** when you expand the **Synonyms** folder on the *Details* panel Concept tab panel.

0	Add Synonym	x
Concept:	Myocardial Infarction [LocalNS]	~
Synonym Type:	Synonym [LocalNS]	~
Term:	Myocardial Infarction [LocalNS]	~
	✓ Is Preferred Create New Term	
	OK Close	

8. Click **OK** on the *New Synonym* window to add the synonym to the current local namespace. If the synonym were added to a concept in a subscription namespace, in the *Details* panel Concept tab, the synonym displays in italics (to indicate that it is subscription content that was written to a local namespace).



G.5.2 Edit a Synonym

Follow this procedure to modify an existing synonym for a concept. You can modify an existing synonym for a concept in a subscription namespace, but only if the association type exists in a local namespace (i.e., the synonym is content in a local namespace, and is listed in italics).

 To edit a synonym for an existing concept, drag the concept from another displayed window or panel and drop it on the *Details* panel Concept tab. If the new concept is displayed in the *Details* panel Concept tab, right-click on the concept name and select Modify Synonym from the displayed options. You can also double-click on the Synonym name to open the *Modify Synonym* window.

Concept Term Namespace Subset Authority		
Save Restore New	Delete 🔿 🔅	
Myocardial Infarction Code: C1 ID: 1 Status: Active Namespace: LocalNS (Thesaurus, Local, Editable) Version: Working Synonyms (1) Synonym: Myocardial Infarction (Preference)		
	Add Synonym	
	Modify Synonym	
	Delete Synonym	

2. The *Modify Synonym* floating window displays, referencing the concept and the synonymous term, as well as the namespace in which each resides.

0	Modify	/ Synonym	x
Concept:	Myocardial Infarction [L	.ocalNS]	~
Synonym Type:	Synonym [LocalNS]		~
Term:	Myocardial Infarction [L	.ocalNS]	~
	✓ Is Preferred	Create New Term	
	ОК	Close	

3. Make the desired edits, then click **OK** to update the appropriate namespace(s).

G.5.3 Delete a Synonym

Follow this procedure to delete an existing synonym for a concept that was created as content in a local namespace.

1. To delete a synonym for an existing concept, drag the concept from another displayed window or panel and drop it on the *Details* panel Concept tab. If the new concept is displayed in the *Details* panel Concept tab, right-click on the concept name. Select **Delete Synonym** from the displayed options.



2. The *Confirm Operation* floating window displays, referencing the concept and the synonymous term, as well as the namespace in which each resides.

	Confirm Operation	x
?	Are you sure you want to delete the Synonym 'Myocardial Infarction	on'?
	OK Cancel	

3. Click **OK** to delete the synonym from the local namespace where it resides. Click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion and close the window.

G.6 Add a Property to a Concept or Term

Follow this procedure to create a new property (as local content in the current local namespace) for a concept or term that resides in a subscription namespace.

1. Drag the concept/term for which you want to add a property into the *Concept/Term Details* panel. Right-click on the concept/term name on the *Concept/Term Details* panel, or the Properties fodder name if it is visible, then select **Add Property** from the displayed options.

Concept Term Namespace Subset Authority		
▼ ←	New Delete	⇒
Myocardial Infarctio Code: C1 D: 1 Status: Active Namespace: Lo Version: Workin Synonyms (1)	Configure View Print Details Copy Bename	
	Add Synonym Add Property	
	Add Association Add Inverse Association	

2. The Add Property window displays.

9	Add Property	x
Concept:	Myocardial Infarction	$\overline{}$
Property Type:	Concept Property [LocalNS] v	Ν
Property Value:		
Qualifier Type:	Concept Property Qualifier [LocalNS]	N
Qualifier Value:		-
	Add Remove Clear	
	OK Close	

The concept/term from the *Details* panel displays automatically in the *Source* field.

3. A property type is a pre-established identifier that defines the property. From the *Property Type* field dropdown list, select a property definition to be assigned to the concept or term. If the *Concept/Term* is from a subscription namespace, the *Property Type* dropdown list includes only property types created in the current local namespace, listed alphabetically.

If the *Concept/Term* was created in a local namespace, the *Property Type* list includes property types created in the current local namespace, but **only** if the *Concept/Term* also was created in the current local namespace. If the concept/term was not created in the current local namespace, the *Property Type* field dropdown list will be empty.

4. You have the option of **filtering** the property types and qualifier types that are available from the *Property Type* field dropdown list by creating a pre-defined, filtered list of property types. When you attempt to select a property type from the *Property Type* field dropdown list, or select an alternate property type, only the pre-selected types will be included in the list.

0	Add Proper
Concept:	Myocardial Infarction
Property Type:	Concept Property [LocalNS]
Property Value:	

5. You can Add / Remove property types from the available *Property Type* field dropdown lists. When you attempt to select a property type from the *Property Type* field dropdown list, only the pre-selected property types will be included in the list. Click **Cancel** to exit without filtering the list.

0	Filter Prop	perty Types	x
Available Proper	ty Types:		
Oncept	⊖ Term	O Namespace	O Version
🔾 Subset	O Subset Version	 Authority 	
Property Type /		Namespace	
Code in Source		LocalNS	
Concept Propert	v	LocaINS	
Filtered Property	/ Types:		
Property Type		Namespace	

6. For the property definition (type) assigned to this concept or term, specify the property value in the *Property Value* text area. This area accommodates the entry of large amounts of text, as well as formatted text (e.g., paragraphs, bulleted items, etc.). A single concept © 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

or term can have multiple occurrences of the same property type, each with a separate, unique value. All Property values may contain up to 4,000 characters and the first 255 characters are automatically indexed

0	Add Property X
Concept:	Myocardial Infarction
Property Type:	Code in Source [LocalNS]
Property Value:	12345

- 7. For each property you may specify an established **qualifier type** and **value**; these provide additional detail regarding the nature of a concept or term property (e.g., **Current**). From the *Qualifier Type* field dropdown list, select the qualifier to assign to this property. The list includes only those **property** qualifier types that were created in the same local namespace where the selected property type was created.
- 8. You have the option of **filtering** the qualifier types that are available from the *Qualifier Type* field dropdown list by creating a pre-defined, filtered list of types. When you attempt to select a qualifier type from the *Qualifier Type* field dropdown list, or select an alternate *Qualifier* type, only the pre-selected qualifier types will be included in the list.

Qualifier Type:	Effective Date [LocalNS]	∨ N
Qualifier Value:		^ ~
	Add Remove Clear	

9. You can Add / Remove property types from the available *Property Type* field dropdown lists. When you attempt to select a property type from the *Property Type* field dropdown list, only the pre-selected property types will be included in the list. Click **Cancel** to exit without filtering the list.

5	Filter Qua	lifier Types	×
Available Qualifier T	ypes:		
Concept Prop	O Concept Assn	O Term Prop	O Term Assn
O Namespace Prop	O Version Prop	O Subset Prop	O Subset Version Prop
O Authority Prop			
Qualifier Type /		Namespace	
Concept Property Q Effective Date	ualifier	LocaINS LocaINS	
Filtered Qualifier Ty	Add Re	move Clear	
Filtered Qualifier Ty Qualifier Type	Add Re	move Clear Namespace	
Filtered Qualifier Ty Qualifier Type	Add Re	move Clear Namespace	
Filtered Qualifier Ty Qualifier Type	Add Re	move Clear Namespace	
Filtered Qualifier Ty Qualifier Type	Add Re	move Clear Namespace	
Filtered Qualifier Ty Qualifier Type	Add Re	move Clear Namespace	

10. For the property qualifier (type) you selected for this concept or term, specify the qualifier value in the *Qualifier Value* field. For each property you can create multiple occurrences of the same qualifier type, each with a separate, unique value.

Click **Add** after you specify the *Qualifier Type* and *Qualifier Value*; both are added to the area in the lower portion of the window. Note the illustration.

Qualifier Type:	Effective Date [LocalNS]	✓ N
Qualifier Value:		^
		~
	Add Remove Clear	
Effective Date: 07/0)1/2019	

To remove an individual qualifier type/value combination from the property, highlight the appropriate line in the display area and click **Remove**. To clear all displayed qualifier

type/value combinations, click **Clear**. Click **OK** on the *Add Property* window to add the property to the current local namespace. When you expand the **Properties** folder for the concept on the *Concept/Term Details* panel, the property displays in italics (to indicate that it is subscription content that was written to a local namespace). Click **Cancel** to ignore the new property.

G.6.1 Edit a Property

Follow this procedure to view and/or edit a property that was created in a local namespace for a concept or term in a subscription namespace.

1. Drag the concept/term containing the property you want to view or edit from another panel and drop it on into the *Concept/Term Details* panel. Right-click on the property for which you want to view or edit details, then select **Modify Property** from the displayed options. You can also double-click on the property name to open the *Modify Property* window. (Properties created as local content display in italics; the **Modify Property** option is available for **these properties only**.)



2. The *Modify Property* window displays.

0	Modify Property	x
Concept:	Myocardial Infarction	~
Property Type:	Code in Source [LocalNS]	Ν
Property Value:	12345	
Qualifier Type:	Effective Date [LocalNS]	N
Qualifier Value:		^ ~
	Add Remove Clear	
Effective Date: 07/	01/2019	
	OK Close	

3. Make the desired edits, then click **OK** to update the appropriate namespace(s).

G.6.2 Delete a Property

Follow this procedure to delete an existing property from a concept, if the property was written to a local, writable namespace.

- 1. Drag the concept/term containing the property you want to delete into the *Details* panel *Concept* tab and expand the **Properties** to display existing properties for the concept/term.
- 2. Right-click on the property you want to delete, then select **Delete Property** from the displayed options. Note that the **Delete Property** option is not available if the displayed concept exists in a namespace that is not writable.

Concept Term Namespace Subset	Authority	
V	New Delete	⇒ 🔅
Myocardial Infarction Code: C1 ID: 1 Status: Active Namespace: LocalNS (The Version: Working Synonyms (1) Concept Properties (1) Code in Source: 1234	saurus, Local, Editable)	
Effective Date: 0	Add Property	
	Modify Property	
	Delete Property	

3. A delete confirmation window similar to the following displays.

	Confirm Operation X
?	Are you sure you want to delete Property 'Code in Source' with value '12345'? OK Cancel

4. Click **OK** to delete the concept/term property from the concept in the local namespace. Click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion

G.6.3 Use a URL as a Property Value

The DTS Editor provides special handling of a property whose value is a URL (Universal Resource Locator). If a property value begins with "http://" or "https://", the property's right-click menu includes an **Open URL Target** item (see below). Selecting this item opens the URL in the client's default browser.



G.7 Add an Association to a Concept or Term

Use the following method to add an association (with an association type established as local content in a local namespace) between concepts or terms in a local or subscription namespace. The association can be between concepts or terms within one namespace, or across different namespaces.

G.7.1 Create an Association

Follow this procedure to add an association definition and target concept value to the new concept by right clicking on the new concept name in the *Details* panel Concept tab.

2. Either right-click on the concept/term name on the *Concept/Term Details* panel, or the *Associations* folder name if it is visible, then select **Add Association** from the displayed options. If you have two windows up, displaying concepts, you can also Ctrl+drag one concept to the other to bring up the same "Add Association" window.



3. The Add Association window displays.

6	Add Association X
From Concept / Term:	Disorders
Association Type:	Parent Of [LocalNS]
To Concept / Term:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Qualifier Type: Qualifier Value:	Add Remove Clear
	OK Close

- 4. The **From** concept/term from the *Details* panel displays automatically in the *From Concept/Term* field, establishing the **From** portion of the **From/To** association between concepts or terms. The namespace in which the **From** concept resides displays in brackets.
- From the Association Type field dropdown list, select the type of association (e.g., Related To, Parent Of) you are creating between the concepts or terms. Association types from the current local namespace are listed alphabetically. Refer to the Association Types discussions.

If you click the **Association Type** button, you have the option of **filtering** the association types that are available from the *Association Type* field dropdown list by creating a predefined, filtered list of types.

0	Add Association	x
From Concept / Term:	Disorders	~
Association Type:	Parent Of [LocalNS]	~
To Concept / Term:		~

6. You can Add / Remove associations from the *Association Type* field dropdown list. When you attempt to select an association type from the *Association Type* field dropdown list, or select an alternate association type, only the pre-selected association types will be included in the list.

Click **Cancel** to exit without filtering the list.

Vailable Association Types:	 Concepts 	O Terms
Association Type 🕖	Namespace	
Concept Association Parent Of	LocaINS LocaINS	
Add	Remove Clear	
Add Iltered Association Types:	Remove Clear	

7. From another displayed panel or window, drag the **target** concept/term in the association in the *To Concept/Term* dropdown field. The namespace in which the **To** concept resides displays in brackets to the right of the field.

•	Add Association	x
From Concept / Term:	Disorders	~
Association Type:	Parent Of [LocalNS]	¥
To Concept / Term:	Myocardial Infarction	¥

8. For each association you can add one or more qualifiers, each of which consists of an established qualifier type and value. Qualifiers provide additional detail regarding the nature of a concept or term association (e.g., **Usually**).

You have the option of **filtering** the qualifier types that are available from the *Qualifier Type* field dropdown list by creating a pre-defined, filtered list of types. When you attempt to select a qualifier type from the *Qualifier Type* field dropdown list, or select an alternate *Qualifier* type, only the pre-selected qualifier types will be included in the list.

Qualifier Type:	Status [LocalNS]	~ I	4
Qualifier Value:			
	Add Remove Clear		

9. You can Add / Remove *Association* types from the available *Association Type* field dropdown lists. When you attempt to select an association type from the *Association Type* field dropdown list, only the pre-selected property types will be included in the list. Click **Cancel** to exit without filtering the list.

Filter Ass	ociation Types	x		
Available Association Types:	Concepts	⊖ Terms		
Association Type /	Namespace			
Concept Association Parent Of	LocaINS LocaINS			
Add Filtered Association Types:	Remove Clear			
Association Type	Namespace			
Association Type				
Save	Cancel			

- 10. From the *Qualifier Type* field dropdown list, select a qualifier type to assign to this association, if available. The list includes only those **association** qualifier types that were created in the same local namespace where the selected *Association Type* was created. The namespace in which the qualifier type was created displays in brackets.
- 11. For the qualifier (type) you selected for this association, specify the qualifier value in the *Qualifier Value* field. For each association you can create multiple qualifiers of different types, or create occurrences of the same qualifier type, each with a separate value.
- 12. Click **Add** after you specify the *Qualifier Type* and *Qualifier Value*; both are added to the display area in the lower portion of the window (see the illustration).

Qualifier Type:	Status [LocalNS]	N
Qualifier Value:		٦
	Add Remove Clear	
Status: Approved		

To remove an individual qualifier type/value combination from the association, highlight the appropriate line in the display area and click **Remove**. To clear all displayed qualifier type/value combinations, click **Clear**.

13. Click **OK** on the Add Association window to add the association.

G.7.2 View and Edit an Existing Association

Follow this procedure to view or edit an association definition and target concept value for a concept by right clicking on the concept name in the *Concept/Term Details* panel.

1. Drag the **from** concept/term in the from/to relationship you want to view into the *Details* panel *Concept* tab and expand the **Associations** to display existing associations for the concept.



2. Right-click on the association for which you want to view or edit details, then select **Modify Association** from the displayed options. The *Modify Association* window displays. You can also double-click on the desired association name to open the *Modify Association* window.
| 0 | Modify Association | x |
|--|-----------------------|---|
| From Concept / Term: | Disorders | 2 |
| Association Type: | Parent Of [LocalNS] | ~ |
| To Concept / Term: | Myocardial Infarction | ~ |
| Qualifier Type: St
Qualifier Value: | atus [LocalNS] V | |
| Status: Approved | | |
| | OK Close | |

3. Make the desired edits, then click **OK** to update the appropriate namespace(s).

G.7.3 Delete an Association

Follow this procedure to delete an association that exists between concepts or terms within a namespace, or across namespaces. The association type for the association you want to delete must exist in a local namespace in order for you to delete the association.

- 1. Drag the **from** concept/term in the from/to relationship you want to view into the *Details* panel Concept tab and expand the **Associations** to display existing associations for the concept.
- 2. Right-click on the association you want to delete (in a subscription namespace, the association should be in italics) then select **Delete Association** from the displayed options.

Concept Term Namespace Subset Author	ority
V 🗘 New	Delete 🔿 🎲
Disorders Code: C6 ID: 6 Status: Active Namespace: LocalNS (Thesaurus) Version: Working Concept Associations (1) Parent Of: Myocardial Infarce	, Local, Editable)
Status: Approved	Add Association Modify Association
	Delete Association

3. A delete confirmation window displays.

	Confirm Operation	x
?	Are you sure you want to delete Association 'Parent Of' from 'Disorders' to 'Myocardial Infarction	on'?
	OK Cancer	

4. Click **OK** to delete the concept/term association from the local namespace to which it was written originally. Click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion.

G.8 View Term Details

The Term tab (see example below) shows the name and attributes associated with a Term. Terms can be viewed by dragging a term node from other panels such as the *Search* panel or from a **Synonym** node from the *Details* Concept tab panel and dropping it into the *Details* panel. Creation and edit actions for Terms are very similar to those for Concepts. See the *View Concepts Details* section above for information on these options.



G.9 View Namespace Details

The Namespace tab (see example below) shows the name and attributes associated with a Namespace. Namespaces can be viewed by dragging a namespace node from other panels such as the *Tree* panel or *Concept Walker* panel dropping it into the *Details* panel. **Click to Edit** also supports automatic namespace loading from the *Tree* panel. Right click on the namespace name to select from the **Configure View and Print Details** menu options. For Subscription Namespaces, the content license can be viewed at any time via the Namespace tab. Right-click on the License node and select the **Show License** menu option. If the namespace is writable, the **Rename** and **Add Property** options are available from the namespace and **Version Properties** can also be added for writable namespaces. See the *View Concepts Details* section above for information on these options.



One unique feature of the *Namespace* tab (also available in the *Namespace Editor* panel) is the ability to add root concepts to a Thesaurus namespace. A root is a concept that has no parents and appears at the "top" of the namespace hierarchy in the *Tree* and *Concept Walker* panels. Previous to DTS V4.0, namespace roots were identified by the presence of specific Term attributes. While this previous specification process is still supported, the new method is highly recommended as it does not require the creation of separate attributes. To create a root, first be sure that the namespace has a concept association type named "Parent Of". This association type **must be present** in order to create a root. Then, right click on the **Roots** node (see example above) for the desired namespace in the *Details* Namespace tab panel (or the *Namespace Editor*) and select **Add Root**. Note that roots are versioned (are under a **Version** node) and only those in the Working version of a namespace are editable. The *Add Namespace Root* panel is shown.

6	Add Namespace Root	x
Drop the Con	cept to be added as a Root:	
	Add Concept as Root Close	

Drop the desired root concept (from any other Editor panel such as the *Search* panel) into the panel and click **Add Concept as Root**.

A root can be removed by right clicking on the root's node and selecting Delete Root. A confirmation dialog is shown.

G.10 View Subset Details

The Subset tab (see example below) shows the name and attributes associated with a Subset. Subsets can be viewed by dragging a subset node from the *Subset Editor* panel and dropping it into the *Details* panel. Right click on the subset name to select from the **Configure View**, **Print Details, Rename** and **Add Property** menu options. Properties can be added to the Subset itself or to Subset Versions. See the *View Concepts Details* section above for information on these options.

This panel is replicated in the standalone *Subset Editor* panel. For information on creating and modifying the subset expression, see the *Subset Editor* section below.



G.11 View Authority Details

The Authority tab (see example below) shows the description and attributes associated with an Authority. Authorities can be viewed by dragging an authority node from the *Namespace Editor* Panel or *Details* Namespace tab panel and dropping it into the *Details* panel. Right click on the authority description to select from the **Configure View**, **Print Details** and **Add Property** menu options. See the *View Concepts Details* section above for information on these options.



H. Subset Editor

The DTS Subset Editor allows you to create and maintain custom **subsets** of concepts in DTS namespaces. The Subset Editor is available from the *DTS Editor* Tools menu or the toolbar.

Click Subset Editor in the Tools menu, or the Open Subset Editor icon	0	in the DTS Editor
<i>Main</i> window toolbar. The <i>Subset Editor</i> floating window displays.		

A **subset** is an arbitrary collection of concepts. A subset may represent concepts that share a specific set of attributes, have a specific status, or simply are commonly used in a well-defined context. A subset may include only a few concepts or many concepts. The term **value-set** is an alternate name for subset. The concepts in a subset may be derived from one or more than one namespace, or they can be defined by their participation in other subsets. In a subset of an Ontylog Extension namespace, for example, subset concepts can include those from both the local (i.e., extension) namespace and the linked Ontylog subscription namespace. A very common use case for a subset is to restrict concept searches to a specific clinical domain or context. You also may create a subset for **export** to external applications (e.g., for import and use in **spreadsheets** or **pick lists**, or in an underlying terminology database for an EMR system). The following discussion provides an introduction to <u>Subset Editor</u> and <u>Subset Expression Editor</u> functionalities.

H.1 Subset Editor Panel

To create, edit or delete a subset, you must open the Subset Editor panel. Here, you can search for and select existing subsets. You then can view and, if permitted, edit, the contents of the selected subset, create new subsets, and select subsets for deletion. The configuration menu now includes History ToolTip items. If selected, the Subset Created/Modified dates and associated username are displayed in ToolTips.

H.1.1 Search For and View Subsets Using Subset List Window

Using the *Subset Editor* panel, you can search for all existing subsets, or for subsets that incorporate a selected namespace or selected subset. You also can enter criteria to search for subsets whose names match a specified text string.

The results of your search will be shown in the *Subset List* panel. The name of each subset is shown, along with its *Size* (number of concepts), its *Locality* (Local or Subscription), and whether the subset is *Current* (has recently been built). Note that the subset *Size* reflects the concept count **at the time of the last subset Build**. When the subset expression (see below) is changed (and saved), the subset will no longer be marked as *Current*. The *Size*, however, will not be updated until the subset is rebuilt.

To search for subsets, select one of the **Filter By** options, complete any associated field, and press **Search**:

AllAll Subsets will be shown in the listNameSubsets whose names match the pattern in the entry field will be displayed.
Simple wildcards, e.g., "Subset*", are supported.

Namespace	All subsets that include Namespace Filters naming the selected namespace will be displayed.
Subset	All subsets that include Subset Filters naming the selected subset will be displayed.
Property	All subsets that include Property Filters naming the selected Property will be displayed.
Version Property	All subsets that include Version Property Filters naming the selected Version Property will be displayed.

The table displaying the Subset Editor parameters may be also be exported. The export respects any filters currently in use by the Subset Editor. To export the contents displayed in the upper table view, click the **Export** button. Select **Clipboard** to copy the contents to your clipboard in order to transfer the data to other desktop applications. Select **File** to export the data as a locally saved .csv file.

Click on any line in the *Subset List* to fill the *Subset Details* panel. From this panel, you can view all the details of the subset, including the subset expression, modify subset attributes including the expression (if permitted), or delete the subset.

Note: Subset export can be performed by the Export Module and/or Terminology Query Language (TQL) plug-ins.

H.1.2 Create a Subset

To create a Subset using the *Subset Editor* panel, click on the **New** button.



This will bring up the New Subset area where you can enter the name, ID, description, Authority and Profile for your subset. Clicking the **Authority** button will open an instance of the *Authority Editor* if you wish to add a new Authority.

0	New Subset	x
Name	: DTS4 Subset	
ID:	(auto)	
Description	a subset for DTS4	
Authority	Apelon, Inc.	~
Profile	- None -	~
	OK Cancel	

Clicking on the **Profile** field lets you specify whether you want the Subset initialized with a predefined set of Subset Attribute Types. These types are defined in a subset Profile object. If no Profile is desired, just leave the selection to **- None** -; otherwise, select a Profile name from the dropdown. If you wish to add a new Profile (or review the details of any Profile), click the **Profile** button.

New Subset	x
Name: DTS4 Subset	
ID: (auto)	
Description: a subset for DTS4	
Authority Apelon, Inc.	~
Profile - None -	~
OK Cancel	

Subset Profiles are very similar to Namespace Profiles; in the *Subset Profile Editor* defining attribute types are simply limited to those appropriate to subsets rather than namespaces. See the **Namespace Profile View and Maintenance** section above for complete information on creating and managing profiles.

H.1.3 Publish a Subset

To publish a Subset using the *Subset Editor* panel, select the desired Subset then click on the **Publish** button.



In order to publish your subset, the subset must have been built with the current subset expression. If you have not built your subset expression before publishing, an error message will remind you to do so.



For more information on subset expressions, see <u>Save to an Existing Subset Expression and</u> <u>Build a Subset Concept Hierarchy</u>.

Once you have built the subset expression, you are ready to publish! When you click on the **Publish** button, the *Publish Version* window will pop up which allows you to give the subset version a name.

Publish Version	x
Publish a new Version of Subset 'DTS4 Subset'.	
Version Name: Published Version 1	
Publish Close	

After you click the Publish button, accepting the version name you have entered, a confirmation window will pop up. This pop up notifies you that once you publish the version, it will become read-only; you will only be able to make changes to the new working version of the subset.



By confirming this, the subset version will be created.

ø	Publish Version	x
Publish a ne	w Version of Subset 'DTS4 Subset'.	
Version Nan	e: Published Version 1	
	Publish Close	
Publish opera	tion completed.	

When you return to the *Subset Editor* panel, subset version information will be viewable. Along with subset version name and the published date, you also have the option to expand the **Expression.**



H.1.4 Delete a Subset

Follow this procedure to delete an existing subset.

1. When the results of your subset search display in the **Subsets** list, click the subset you want to delete. The option buttons (**New**, **Delete**, **Expr**, **Publish**, and **Close**) become enabled as appropriate for the Permissions in your User Profile.

ē	Subset Ed	itor 🗌		
Filter By: - All - 🗸		Search Build Export		
Name /	Size Local Cur	rent Modified User		
DTS4 Concepts	0 🖌	Jul 2, 2019 dtsadminuser		
DTS4 Subset	74 🖌	Jul 2, 2019 dtsadminuser		
k v New	Delete Expr	Publish Close 🔿		
New Delete Expr Publish Close ID: 32769 (relative ID: 1) Description: a subset for DTS4 Local Read/Write Authority: Apelon, Inc. Versions (2) Image: Stress of the expression (1) Version Date: Image: Stress of the expression (1) Image: Stress of the expr				

2. Click **Delete**. The *Delete Subset* confirmation window displays.



3. Click **OK** to confirm deletion of the subset. Click **Cancel** to ignore the deletion. The **Status Bar** indicates deletion progress, and when deletion is completed.

H.1.5 Building Subsets

To build Subsets using the *Subset Editor* panel, click on the **Build** button. This will open the *Build Subsets* panel.

6	Build Subsets	x
Select S	ubsets to be Built:	
Build	Subset	Current
> > >	DTS Subset 1 DTS Subset 2 DTS Subset 3	✓✓
Sele	t All Unselect All Select Current Select Non Build Cancel	Current

To select subsets to build, click in the **Build** column to the left of the Subset Name. Subsets can also be selected or unselected in batch using the following buttons:

Select All	All Subsets in the list will be selected.
Unselect All	All Subsets in the list will be unselected.
Select Current	All Current Subsets in the list will be selected. Current Subsets are Subsets that have not had any modifications since it was last built.
Select NonCurrent	All NonCurrent Subsets in the list will be selected. NonCurrent Subsets are Subsets that have been modified since it was last built.

Once the desired Subsets have been selected, click on the **Build** button. A popup will appear asking to confirm the number of Subsets being built. Click **OK** to continue and build all selected Subsets. Click **Cancel** to return to the Build Subsets Panel without building any subsets.

	Confirm Build
?	Are you sure you want to build these 2 Subsets?
	OK Cancel

DTS 4: Editor Users Guide

0	Build Subsets	x
Select S	ubsets to be Built:	
Build	Subset DTS Subset 1 DTS Subset 2 DTS Subset 3	Current
Selec	t All Unselect All Select Current Select Non Build Cancel	Current
Building	1 of 2: 'DTS Subset 1'	

After selecting Build, a status bar will indicate the progress.

A popup will appear when all subsets have been built. Click **OK** to confirm.

Subset Build Completed
2 Subsets Built.
ОК

H.2 Editing the Subset Expression – the Subset Expression Editor Panel

A **subset expression** defines the hierarchy of criteria by which concepts will be selected for the subset from existing namespaces and/or subsets. You use the *Subset Expression Editor* panel to create and maintain subset expressions.

The subset expression consists of **filters** that establish the criteria for concept selection. These filters specify the namespaces, subsets, individual concepts, or groups of concepts based on concept attributes, that will be included in the subset. The filters can work in association with specified **exclude** conditions that will either exclude specific concepts from being selected, or all concepts that meet your exclusion criteria. For more information on subset filters, see <u>Adding</u> <u>Subset Filters</u>.

To open your *Subset Expression Editor* panel, click on the **Expr** button in the <u>Subset Editor</u> panel, or double click on the expression value (see below).



In the Expression Window, there are several icons.



Save - use to save changes made to your Subset expression.

Save Subset Expression to Subset – use to save changes made to your Subset expression to **another** Subset.

Preview Subset – use to view results before building Subset. After previewing, you can <u>modify your filters</u>.

Build Subset – use to evaluate the expression and identify the subset's constituent concepts

H.2.1 Modify a Saved Subset Expression

Follow this procedure to modify the content in an existing subset by editing the subset's expression.

- 1. Open the desired Subset in the Subset Expression Editor Window (for instructions, see <u>Subset Expression Editor Window</u>).
- 2. Make the desired modifications to the subset expression. For procedures on adding, deleting, and/or modifying expression filters, see <u>Adding Subset Filters</u>, <u>Modify a Subset Expression Filter</u>, and <u>Remove a Filter from the Subset Expression</u>.
- 3. Once you have made your desired changes, you can either save the expression to the

existing Subset, using the (Save) button, or you can save it to another subset using

the ^[] (Save to Subset) button. For more information on saving, see <u>Save to an</u> <u>Existing Subset Expression and Build a Subset Concept Hierarchy</u>.

I. Subset Expression Filters

A subset expression consists of hierarchy of subset filters. Each filter represents a criteria by which DTS concepts are added to, or deleted from, subset participation. Eight filters are available:

- Namespace filter specifies that concepts from a single namespace (or all namespaces) are to be included
- Subset filter specifies that concepts from another subset are to be included
- Concept filter specifies that a concept, and/or its children or descendants, are to be included
- Concept name filter specifies that concepts having a given name format are to be included
- Property filter specifies that concepts having a given property type/property value are to be included
- Synonym filter specifies that concepts having a given synonym type/synonym target value are to be included
- Association filter specifies that concepts having a given association type/association target value are to be included
- Exclude filter specifies that subordinate filters are to be interpreted as exclusions not inclusions.
- Kind filter specifies that concepts having a given kind target value are to be included.

All filters include a Status parameter which provides additional filtering of selected Concepts based on their Status. An "ALL" Status value is supported to accept Concepts having any Status. Subset concept participation is the result of "evaluating" each filter criteria and combining the results of this filter with the other filters in the expression. Filters at the same hierarchy level represent OR (union) conditions: the results of the filters are added together. Filters subordinate to another filter represent AND (intersection) conditions. The subordinate filters limit subset participation.

In the expression shown below, the subset consists of all Active concepts in SNOMED CT whose names contain "TEST" plus all Active concepts in SNOMED CT that have a Code in Source value that starts with "1", plus all Active concepts in Triad whose names contain "TEST".

Subset Expression Editor	x
	\$\$P-
E-® DTS4 Subset:Working	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE Triad: 2010.02	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME MATCHES *TEST*	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE SNOMED CT: 2019.01.18AB	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME MATCHES *TEST*	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING PROPERTY Code in Source MATCHES 1*	

The sections below describe the details of each filter.

I.1 Add a Namespace Filter

Follow this procedure to designate a namespace from which subset concepts will be selected.

1. To add a Namespace Filter to the subset, right click on the subset root node. Click the **Add Namespace Filter** option when it displays.

Subset Expression Editor	x
	\$\$
Add Namespace Filter Add Subset Filter	

The Add Namespace Filter window displays.

0	Add Namespace Filter	x
Namespace:	Triad	¥
Version:	2010.02 (01-Feb-2010)	~
Status:	ACTIVE	¥
	OK Cancel	

Using this window you choose the specific namespace and version from which concepts will be selected to populate the new subset. You can also filter the selected concept set by concept Status.

- 2. From the *Namespace* field dropdown list, select the namespace (**Triad** in the example) from which to select concepts for the subset. Note that if an **Ontylog Extension** namespace is listed, it is paired with the linked Ontylog Subscription namespace (e.g., **SNOMED CT / SNOMED CT EXT**). To incorporate concepts from all namespaces, select the **All** option in the dropdown list. **All** namespace filters have additional restrictions on subordinate filters, e.g., Concept filters are not permitted under an **All** namespace filter. See the individual filter descriptions below for further information.
- 3. Next select the appropriate version of the namespace from the *Version* dropdown. Unless the Namespace Filter has specified **All** Namespaces, Namespace filters must be associated with a version. Selecting **Current** as the version will always result in the Subset being built against the most recent version of a Namespace. This field is disabled for **All** namespace filters.
- 4. Finally select the desired filter Status from the *Status* dropdown: pick **ALL**, **ACTIVE**, **INACTIVE** or **DELETED**.
- 5. Click **OK** to add the namespace filter node to the tree. The display format is <status> *CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE* <*namespace Name:version Name*>. Note that the namespace filter, and all of the filters that you add subsequently, display in italics until you save the subset expression.

Subset Expression Editor	x
	<i>\$</i> 2-
E DTS4 Subset: Working	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE Triad: 2010.02	
<u> </u>	

Add additional namespace filters to the expression in a similar manner. A subset expression can include multiple namespace filters, but namespace filters can only be added to the subset root node and only one namespace filter for each namespace and version combination (including **All**), is permitted in a subset expression. It is permitted to have multiple namespace filters for a namespace as long as different versions are selected.

I.2 Add Concept Filters to the Subset Expression

A concept filter specifies that a specific concept, and/or its children or descendants, are to be included in a subset. A concept filter can be added to any filter except an **All** namespace filter.

I.2.1 Add Concept Filters Using Drag/Drop

Follow this procedure to add a Concept Filter by dragging a concept (that resides in the selected namespace) from another displayed window or panel and dropping it into the new subset expression. Based on your selection from the available options, this adds the following concepts(s) to the new subset expression.

- The selected concept (only), or
- The selected concept's children, or
- The selected concept's descendants, or
- The selected concept **and** all of its descendant concepts

The Concept Filter also has a Status parameter that can further filter the returned set of concepts.

1. Drag the desired concept from another displayed panel or window (e.g., *Tree* panel, *Search* window, etc.) and drop it into the *Subset Expression Editor* window. The concept should be dropped onto the node that will be its filter's parent. In the illustration, the concept **PROCEDURE** was dragged from the *Tree* panel and dropped onto the namespace filter node in the *Subset Expression Editor* window.



Drop Completed displays in the *Subset Expression Editor* window **Status Bar** to indicate successful copy of the concept you selected.

For a subset of an Ontylog Extension namespace, the concept you select for drag/drop can be from the linked Ontylog Subscription namespace, or from the extension namespace itself. For all other namespaces, the concept you select for drag/drop must be from the same namespace specified in the namespace filter node (**Triad** in this example). If you attempt to drag and drop a concept from a different namespace, the following message window displays.



Click **OK**, then drag and drop a concept from the correct namespace.

Note: It is also possible to drag a concept directly onto the subset root node. In this case, a concept filter will be created under the associated namespace node. If there is no existing namespace node, a new namespace node will be created under the root and the concept filter added to this node.

2. The default filter behavior is to include the selected concept and all of its descendant concepts in the subset (i.e., the default modifier is *FROM ALL*), and set the filter Status to the status of the dropped concepts. You have the option to include in the subset only the selected concept (without its descendants) or only the selected concept's descendants (without the selected concept), or only the selected concept's children (without the selected concept), and include concepts having a different Status (subject to constraints of the parent filter's Status value).

To change the concept filter criteria, right-click the concept you dropped into the *Subset Expression Editor* window (*ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ALL PROCEDURE*). Click **Modify** in the displayed option list.

Subset Expres	sion Editor	х
		¢۶-
□··		
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE Triad	d:2010.02	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ALL PROCEDU	Add Conserve Filters	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT N	Add Concept Filter	
	Add Association Filter	
	Add Synonym Filter	
	Add Property Filter	
	Add Concept Name Filter	
	Add Subset Filter	
	Add Exclude Filter	
	Modify	
	Remove	

Clicking on the Modify option will open the Edit Concept Filter dialogue box. Here, you will be able to change the Concept you're applying the filter against, as well as the Modifier.

6	Subset Expression Editor	x
۹		\$ 2-
DTS4 Subset	t:Working	
	Edit Concept Filter	
Cond	cept: PROCEDURE[Triad]	
Mod	lifier: ALL 🗸	
Sta	atus: ALL	
	ONLY DESCENDANTS OF	
]		

3. Click the modifier **ONLY** to include only the selected concept in the subset. The concept node in the *Subset Expression Editor* window changes (the modifier *ALL* is removed) to reflect that only the single concept will be selected for the subset. Note the illustration.

Subset Expression Editor	x
	<i>\$</i> 2-
E-® DTS4 Subset:Working	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE Triad: 2010.02	
PROCEDURE	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES *T	EST*

You cannot add subordinate concept filter nodes to an existing concept filter node for which you selected the modifier **ONLY**. The following message displays if you attempt to add a new concept filter.

Subset Editor Error
Filter cannot be added to the selected node.

4. Click the modifier **ONLY DESCENDANTS OF** to include only the selected concept's descendants in the subset. The concept node displayed in the *Subset Expression Editor* Panel changes to reflect that only descendants of the concept you chose will be selected

for the subset (*ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ONLY DESCENDANTS OF PROCEDURE* is shown in the illustration).



If you want to add subordinate concepts to this concept name filter node, the additional concepts should be descendants of the concept established in that node.

Finally, note that the *Status* dropdown in a filter editor may not be editable. Because each filter selects (filters) concepts from those resulting from its parent filter, it is not possible for a filter to select **INACTIVE** concepts when its parent filter specified **ACTIVE** concepts. Only if a parent filter has the **ALL** Status, does the child filter have the option to select its Status. The filter editors are aware of this dependency and set the correct Status according.

It is possible for an existing filter's status to be inconsistent, for example when a parent filter's status is changed from ALL to ACTIVE and a child filter is already set to **INACTIVE**. In this case, the editor displays an **[INCONSISTENT]** marker at the end of the child filter description. This is simply a reminder to the user; it is not fatal. The subset expression can still be saved, but the child filter is essentially meaningless since no concepts can result from its interpretation.

I.2.2 Create Concept Filters from Roles and Associations

Follow this procedure to drag a role or association from another displayed window or panel (e.g., *Concept/Term Details* panel) and use the role or association value to create a concept filter in the subset expression.

1. Drag the desired role or association from another displayed panel or window (e.g., *Concept/Term Details* panel) and drop it into the *Subset Expression Editor* window. You can add the new concept filter (based on the target concept value of the role or association) to the namespace node, or add it to an existing node as an additional filter.

In the following illustration, the role **all HAS_SUBSTANCE_MEASURED: CHEMICAL** was dragged from the *Concept/Term Details* panel to the namespace filter node, so an *ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ALL Chemistry Test* filter was added with an ACTIVE Status filter. Notice that there are two "sibling" filters under the namespace node; concepts from that namespace which pass either of the filters are included in the subset.



In the next illustration, the role **all HAS_SUBSTANCE_ MEASURED: CHEMICAL** was dragged from the *Concept/Term .Details* panel to a concept filter node, so an *ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ALL CHEMICAL* filter was added.



In the following illustration, the association **Analytic_Technique: QUANTITATIVE ANALYSIS** was dragged from the *Concept/Term Details* panel to the namespace filter node, so an *ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ALL QUANTITATIVE_ANALYSIS* filter was added.



Drop Completed displays in the *Subset Expression Editor* window **Status Bar** to indicate a successful copy.

2. For each role or association you copy to the subset expression, the default is to create a concept filter that includes the associated concept **and** all of its descendant concepts in the subset expression (i.e., the default modifier is *ALL*). You have the option to include the concept (without its **descendants**) or only the concept's descendants (without the **selected concept**), and to select a different Status.

Right-click the role or association you dropped into the *Subset Expression Editor* window (the role *ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ALL CHEMICAL* is used in this example). Click **Modify** in the displayed option list.

Subset Expression Editor			
	<i>\$</i> 2		
DTS4 Subset:Working ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE Triad: 2010.02 ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ALL Chemistry Test			
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ALL CHEN	Add Concept Filter Add Association Filter Add Synonym Filter Add Property Filter Add Concept Name Filter Add Subset Filter Add Exclude Filter		
<	Modify Remove		

When you select the Modify option, an Edit Concept Filter dialogue box will open. This dialogue will let you change the Concept you are filtering against, as well as the Modifier.

0	Edit Concept Filter	
Concept:	CHEMICAL[Triad]	
Modifier:	ALL	~
Status:	ACTIVE	~
	OK Cancel	

Click the modifier **ONLY** to include only the associated concept in the filter. The filter node displayed in the *Subset Expression Editor* Panel changes (the modifier *ALL* is removed) to reflect that only the single associated concept will be selected for the subset.



Click the modifier **ONLY DESCENDANTS OF** to include only the associated concept's descendants in the subset. The filter node changes to reflect that only descendants of the associated concept will be included in the subset (*ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM ONLY DESCENDANTS OF CHEMICAL* is shown in the illustration).



I.3 Add Concept Name Filters to the Subset Expression

I.3.1 Create a New Concept Name Filter

Follow this procedure to create a concept name filter for the subset expression. This filter defines the concept name criteria by which concepts will be selected (from the specified namespace) to populate the subset.

1. To filter concepts selected for the subset based on matching the concepts' names, rightclick on the desired filter node, then click **Add Concept Name Filter** when the option list displays. You can add the concept filter directly to the namespace node, as in this example, or add it as a subordinate filter to another existing filter node.



The Add Concept Name Filter window displays.

Ad	d Concept Name Filter	x
Concept Status:	ACTIVE	~
Filter On:	CONCEPT NAME	¥
Operator:	MATCHES	~
Value:		
	OK Cancel	

2. A concept filter is comprised of the *Concept Status*, *Filter On* and *Value* fields (the criterion *Operator* is set to **MATCHES**, and is not editable). The *Concept Status* dropdown is only editable if the concept filter's parent filter's Status is ALL. From the *Filter On* field dropdown list, select either the **CONCEPT NAME or CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM** option for the filter.

If you select the **CONCEPT NAME** option, your search term will be matched against only concept names in the selected namespace. If you select **CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM**, your search term will be matched against concept names as well as their synonyms in the selected namespace.

3. In the *Value* field, enter the text string that will be matched against concept names (or concept names and synonyms) in the namespace you selected. Text string matching is case insensitive, and you may use **wild cards** (asterisk characters), as needed.

In the illustration, matches in the namespace will be found for any concept name or synonym that contains the text string **TEST** (in upper or lower case).

Add Concept Name Filter X		
Concept Status:	ACTIVE	~
Filter On:	CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM	•
Operator:	MATCHES	~
Value:	*TEST*	
	OK Cancel	

4. Click **OK** to add the concept name filter node to the subset expression tree (the display format is *ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES* <concept Name>).

Subset Expression Editor	x	
	\$ 2-	
E® DTS4 Subset:Working		
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE Triad: 2010.02		
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES *TEST*		

I.4 Add a Property Filter to the Subset Expression

I.4.1 Create a New Property Filter

Follow this procedure to create a property filter for the subset expression. This filter defines the property criteria by which concepts will be selected (from the specified namespace) to populate the subset.

1. To filter concepts selected for the subset based on matching property criteria, right-click on the desired filter node, then click **Add Property Filter** when the option list displays. You can add the property filter directly to the namespace node, or add it as a subordinate filter to another existing filter node.

In the following example, the property filter is being added to the **concept name** filter node (*ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHING* **TEST**).

Subset Expression Editor		
		\$ 2-
DTS4 Subset: Working ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAME:	5PACE Triad: 2010.02	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING	CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCH	ES *TEST*
	Add Concept Filter	
	Add Kind Filter	
	Add Association Filter	
	Add Synonym Filter	
	Add Property Filter	
	Add Concept Name Filter	
	Add Subset Filter	
	Add Exclude Filter	
<	Modify	
	Remove	

The Add Property Filter window displays.

•	Add Property Filter	x
Concept Status:	ACTIVE	~
Type Namespace:	Triad	~
Property Type:	cpmc_code	~
Operator:	MATCHES	~
Value:		
	OK Cancel	

- 2. A property filter is comprised of the *Concept Status*, *Type Namespace*, *Property Type*, *Operator*, and *Value* fields. The *Concept Status* dropdown is only editable if the property filter's parent filter's Status is ALL.
- 3. From the *Type Namespace* field dropdown list, select the namespace in which the property type for this filter resides. Only concepts from the namespace that is designated in the ancestor namespace (or subset) filter, that also have the property type that was created in the namespace selected in the *Type Namespace* field, will be retrieved. If the ancestor namespace filter is an **All** namespace filter, an **All** option is available in the *Type Namespace* dropdown. Selection of this value means that any Property Type having the name given in the *Property Type* field, from any namespace, will be used to select © 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

subset concepts. This option can be used to filter on common Property Type names such as **Code in Source**. The values in the *Property Type* dropdown will be the set of all (unique) Property Type names in the DTS Knowledgebase.

- 4. From the *Property Type* field dropdown list, select the property type for this property filter (**cpmc_code** in this example). Only concepts in the ancestor namespace that have this property type will be retrieved for the subset.
- 5. In addition to filtering the concepts' property type in the namespace, you can establish a more specific filter that returns only concepts with property **values** that contain the text string you specify. From the *Operator* field dropdown list, select **MATCHES** to further filter retrieved namespace concepts based on the property value text you enter in the *Value* field.

Select **NONE** from the dropdown list if you will not filter properties based on property value. Concepts having any instance of the property type will be added to the subset.

6. The *Value* field is enabled only if you selected **MATCHES** in the *Operator* field to indicate you want to match a property value as well as type. Property value text string matching is case insensitive; you may use **wild cards**, as needed.

Enter the text string (e.g., **321***) for the property value to be matched. The concepts retrieved from the namespace designated in the namespace filter must have both the designated property type (i.e., the property type that resides in the namespace specified in the *Namespace* field) **and** this property value text (in upper or lower case).

e /	Add Property Filter	x
Concept Status:	ACTIVE	~
Type Namespace:	Triad	¥
Property Type:	cpmc_code	*
Operator:	MATCHES	¥
Value:	321*	
	OK Cancel	

 Click OK to add the property filter node to the tree (the display format is ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING PROPERTY cpmc_code MATCHES ACTIVE <property Value>). Note that the color and icon of the property filter match those that represent properties on other displayed panels (e.g., Concept/Term Details, Concept Tree, etc.).



I.5 Add an Association Filter to the Subset Expression

I.5.1 Create a New Association Filter

Follow this procedure to create an association filter for the subset expression. This filter defines the association criteria by which concepts will be selected from the specified namespace(s) to populate the subset.

1. To filter concepts selected for the subset based on matching association criteria, rightclick on the desired filter node, then click **Add Association Filter** when the option list displays. You can add the association filter directly to the namespace node, or add it as an additional filter to another existing filter node.

In the following example, the association filter is being added to the **concept name** filter node (*ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES* **TEST**).



The Add Association Filter window displays. © 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

Add A	ssociation Filter
Concept Status:	ACTIVE 🗸
Type Namespace:	Triad 🗸
Association Type:	Analytic_Technique v
Operator:	MATCHES ¥
Target Concept Space:	HCPCS v
Target Concept Status:	ACTIVE 🗸
Value:	
OK	Cancel

- 2. An association filter is comprised of the *Concept Status*, *Type Namespace*, *Association Type*, *Operator*, *Concept Space* and *Value* fields. The *Concept Status* dropdown is only editable if the association filter's parent filter's Status is ALL.
- 3. From the *Type Namespace* field dropdown list, select the namespace in which the association type for this filter resides. Only concepts from the namespace that is designated in the ancestor namespace (or subset) filter, that also have the association type that was created in the namespace selected in the *Type Namespace* field, will be retrieved. If the ancestor namespace filter is an **All** namespace filter, an **All** option is available in the *Type Namespace* dropdown. Selection of this value means that any Association Type having the name given in the *Association Type* field, from any namespace, will be used to select subset concepts. This option can be used to filter on common Association Type names such as **Maps To**. The values in the *Association Type* dropdown will be the set of all (unique) Association Type names in the DTS Knowledgebase.
- 4. From the *Association Type* field dropdown list, select the association type for this association filter (**Analytic_Technique** in this example). Only association types from the namespace selected in the *Namespace* field are listed and only concepts in the ancestor namespace that have this association type will be retrieved for the subset.
- 5. In addition to filtering the concepts' association type in the namespace, you can establish a more specific filter that returns only concepts with association **values** that match the target concept you specify. From the *Operator* field dropdown list, select **MATCHES** to further filter retrieved namespace concepts based on the association target you enter in the *Concept Space* and *Value* field. Select **NONE** from the dropdown list if you will not filter concept associations based on an association value.
- 6. The *Concept Space* field (and the following *Value* field) are enabled only if you selected **MATCHES** in the *Operator* field to indicate you want to match an association value as

well as the designated association type. From the *Concept Space* field dropdown list, select the target (i.e., to) namespace in the association for this filter.

7. The *Value* field is enabled only if you selected **MATCHES** in the *Operator* field to indicate you want to match an association target concept name as well as the designated association type. The text string matching for the association value is case insensitive; you may use **wild cards**, as needed.

Enter the text string (e.g., ***HEPA***) for the association value to be matched. The resulting subset will include concepts on which the selected association type exists, the namespace of the association's target concept is from the *Concept Space* namespace, and the name of the association's target concept matches the Value text (in either upper or lower case).

Edit Association Filter		
Concept Status: ACTIVE		
Type Namespace: Triad		
Association Type: Associated_Diagnosis		
Operator: MATCHES		
Target Concept Space: Triad		
Target Concept Status: ACTIVE		
Value: *HEPA*		
OK Cancel		

8. Click **OK** to add the association filter node to the tree (the display format is *ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING ASSOCIATION Associated_Diagnosis MATCHES ACTIVE <association Value>[Target Concept Space]*). Note that the color and icon of the association filter match those that represent associations on other displayed panels (e.g., *Concept/Term Details, Concept Tree*, etc.).



I.6 Add a Synonym Filter to the Subset Expression

I.6.1 Create a New Synonym Filter

Follow this procedure to create a synonym filter for the subset expression; the procedure is similar to the one you follow to create an <u>association filter</u>. The synonym filter defines the criteria by which concepts or synonyms will be selected from the specified namespace(s) to populate the subset.

1. To filter concepts selected for the subset based on matching synonym criteria, right-click on the desired filter node, then click **Add Synonym Filter** when the option list displays. You can add the synonym filter directly to the namespace node, or add it as an additional filter to another existing filter node.

In the following example, the synonym filter is being added to the **concept name** filter node (*ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES* **pelvic**).

6	Subset Expression Edit	tor X
		<i>\$</i>
OTS4 Concepts:Working		
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM	NAMESPACE ICD-9-CM:Current	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HA	VING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM I	MATCHES *pelvic*
	Add Concept Filter	
	Add Kind Filter	
	Add Association Filter	
	Add Synonym Filter	
	Add Property Filter	
	Add Concept Name Filter	
	Add Subset Filter	
	Add Exclude Filter	
	Modify	
	Remove	

The Add Synonym Filter window displays.
Ac	dd Synonym Filter	x
Concept Status:	ACTIVE	~
Type Namespace:	ICD-9-CM	¥
Synonym Type:	Entry Term	¥
Operator:	MATCHES	¥
Target Term Space:	HCPCS	¥
Target Term Status:	ACTIVE	¥
Value:		
	OK Cancel	

- 2. A synonym filter is comprised of the *Concept Status*, *Type Namespace*, *Synonym Type*, *Operator*, *Term Space* and *Value* fields. The *Concept Status* dropdown is only editable if the association filter's parent filter's Status is ALL.
- 3. From the *Type Namespace* field dropdown list, select the namespace in which the synonym's association type resides. Only concepts from the namespace that is designated in the ancestor namespace (or subset) filter, that also have the synonym association type that was created in the namespace selected in the *Type Namespace* field, will be retrieved. If the ancestor namespace filter is an **All** namespace filter, an **All -** option is available in the *Type Namespace* dropdown. Selection of this value means that any Synonym Type having the name given in the *Synonym Type* field, from any namespace, will be used to select subset concepts. This option can be used to filter on common Synonym Type names such as **Synonym**. The values in the *Synonym Type* dropdown will be the set of all (unique) Synonym Type names in the DTS Knowledgebase.
- 4. From the *Synonym Type* field dropdown list, select the association type for the synonym for which you are creating a filter (**Entry Term** in the illustration above). Only association types from the namespace in the *Namespace* field are listed, and only those that represent a connection between concepts and synonymous terms. Only concepts in the ancestor namespace that have this synonym association type will be retrieved for the subset.
- 5. In addition to filtering the concepts' association type in the namespace, you can establish a more specific filter that returns only concepts that have synonym associations of the selected type and also have the target term you specify. From the *Operator* field dropdown list, select **MATCHING** to further filter retrieved namespace concepts based on the synonym target you enter in the *Term Space* and *Value* field. Select **NONE** from the dropdown list if you will not filter synonymous associations based on the synonyms' value.

6. The *Term Space* field (and the following *Value* field) are enabled only if you selected **MATCHES** in the *Operator* field to indicate you want to match an association value as well as the designated association type. From the *Term Space* field dropdown list, select the target (i.e., to) namespace in the synonym association for this filter. The *Value* field is enabled only if you selected **MATCHING** in the *Operator* field to indicate you want to match a synonym target Term name as well as the designated synonym association type for the synonym. The text string matching for the synonym value is case insensitive; you may use **wild cards**, as needed.

Enter the text string (e.g., ***cellulitis***) for the synonym value to be matched. The resulting subset will include concepts on which the selected synonym association type exists, the namespace of the synonym's target term is from the *Term Space* namespace, and the name of the synonym's target term matches the Value text (in either upper or lower case).

add Synonym Filter		
Concept Status: ACTIVE	~	
Type Namespace: ICD-9-CM	~	
Synonym Type: Preferred Name	~	
Operator: MATCHES	~	
Target Term Space: ICD-9-CM	~	
Target Term Status: ACTIVE	~	
Value: *cellulitis*		
OK Cancel		

7. Click OK to add the synonym filter node to the tree (the display format is <status>CONCEPTS HAVING SYNONYM Preferred Name MATCHES ACTIVE <association Value> [Target Term Space]). Note that the color and icon of the synonym filter match those that represent synonyms on other displayed panels (e.g., Concept/Term Details, Concept Tree).

Subset Expression Editor	x
	<i>\$</i> 2-
E-® DTS4 Concepts: Working	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE ICD-9-CM:Current	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES *pelvic*	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING SYNONYM Preferred Name MATCHES ACTIVE *cellulitis* [IC	CD-9-CM]

I.7 Add a Subset Filter to a Namespace Filter

A Subset Filter adds another subset's concepts to the subset being defined. For this example, we will add a DTS4 Subset as a Subset Filter to **DTS4 Concepts**.

1. With the subset root highlighted, right click to view the additional options. Click on the **Add Subset Filter** option.



2. This will open the *Add Subset Filter* window where you will be able to choose which Subset you want to add as the filter, which version of the Subset should be used, and the desired status of included concepts.

Ø	Add Subset Filter	x
Subset:	DTS4 Subset	~
Version:	Current	~
Status:	ACTIVE	~
	OK Cancel	

3. For this example, we will choose the **DTS4 Subset** for our Subset Filter, use the Working Version and select ACTIVE for Status.



While Subset Filters are typically added to the subset root node, they can be added as subordinate filters on any other filter.

I.8 Add an Exclude Condition Filter to a Subset Expression Filter

You can define an **exclude** condition node on any node in the expression tree (except for the root node, e.g., **DTS4 Subset**). Note that you can add an exclude condition to a concept filter only if the concept has a modifier other than ONLY.

1. To add an exclude condition to a node, right-click on the specific node (*ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES* **TEST** in the example), then click **Add Exclude Condition** when the option list displays.

6	Subset Expression	n Editor	x
			¢۶-
DTS4 Subset:Working			
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FRO	M NAMESPACE Triad: 2010.02		
	HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNC	DNYM MATCHES *TEST*	
	Add Concept Filter		
	Add Kind Filter		
	Add Association Filter		
	Add Synonym Filter		
	Add Property Filter		
	Add Concept Name Filter		
	Add Subset Filter		
	Add Exclude Filter		
	Modify		
	Remove		
		-	

The *EXCLUDE* condition displays for the node you selected. Note that it is not necessary to specify a status for an exclude filter. An exclude condition itself does not perform any filtering of selected concepts.



You can exclude individual concepts by dragging one or more concepts from other displayed windows or panels and dropping the concept(s) onto the *EXCLUDE* condition for the appropriate node. See Add Concept Filters Using Drag and Drop above. In the following illustration, three concepts were dragged from the *Tree* panel and dropped onto the *EXCLUDE* condition.



Based on this illustration, all concepts with names or synonymous terms that include **TEST** (i.e., all concepts selected based on the concept filter *ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES* **TEST**) will be selected for the subset **except for** the three concepts dropped onto the *EXCLUDE* condition (as well as the descendants of the three concepts).

The default behavior of the drop is to specify each selected concept **and** all of its descendant concepts (i.e., the default modifier is *ALL*). For concept filters subordinate to an exclude filter, this would **exclude** from the subset the selected concept **and** its descendants.

You have the option to specify in the concept filter only the selected concept (without its **descendants**), only the selected concept's children (without the **selected concept**) or only each selected concept's descendants (without the **selected concept**). Right-click the concept you dropped into the *Subset Expression Editor* window, then click **Change Modifier to** in the displayed option list to change the modifier. These changes determine which set of concepts will be excluded from the subset.

To add other filters to the *EXCLUDE* condition, right-click on the displayed *EXCLUDE* condition. When the option list displays, select the filter you want to add).



In the example, a property filter is being added for the *EXCLUDE* condition. The *Add Property Filter* window displays.

9	Add Property Filter	x
Concept Status	ACTIVE	*
Type Namespace	: Triad	*
Property Type	: cpmc_code	¥
Operator	MATCHES	¥
Value	:	
	OK Cancel	

Follow the steps described in the <u>Add Property Filter</u> section above to adjust the filter parameters to your needs.

I.9 Modify a Subset Expression Filter

Follow this procedure if you want to modify an existing subset expression filter. The modify option is available on all filters, including Namespace and Subset filters, however, only the version may be modified on the latter two.

1. To modify a filter, right-click on the existing filter node that you want to edit (a property filter is selected for edit in the example below; modification of other filters is similar). Click **Modify** when the option list displays.

Subset Ex	pression Editor	x
		Ŵ.
🖃 🐵 DTS4 Subset: Working		
🖻 🗐 ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMES	PACE Triad: 2010.02	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING C	ONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES *TEST*	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVI	Add Concept Filter	
	Add Kind Filter	
	Add Association Filter	
	Add Synonym Filter	
	Add Property Filter	
	Add Concept Name Filter	
	Add Subset Filter	
	Add Exclude Filter	
	Modify	
	Remove	
		_

The *Modify Property Filter* window displays. Adjust the filter parameters as desired and click **OK** to save.

Edit Property Filter				
Concept Status:	ACTIVE	~		
Type Namespace:	Triad	~		
Property Type:	cpmc_code	~		
Operator:	MATCHES	~		
Value:	*plasma*			
	OK Cancel			

I.10 Remove a Filter from the Subset Expression

You can remove an individual unwanted filter by right clicking it, then clicking **Remove** in the displayed option list.

Subset Exp	ression Editor	x
		¢۶-
■ Ø DTS4 Subset:Working		
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESP/	ACE Triad: 2010.02	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CON	ICEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES *TEST*	
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING	PROPERTY come code MATCHES *plasma*	
	Add Concept Filter	
	Add Kind Filter	
	Add Association Filter	
	Add Synonym Filter	
	Add Property Filter	
	Add Concept Name Filter	
	Add Subset Filter	
	Add Exclude Filter	
	Modify	
	Remove	

The unwanted filter is removed from the expression, as shown by the strikethrough. Before you save or build your subset, you have the opportunity to <u>Restore Expression Filter Additions</u>.



I.11 Restore Expression Filter Additions

If you have removed a filter by accident, you can right click on the deleted filter, indicated by the strikethrough font, and click Restore.

Subset Expression Editor			
	Ø.		
⊡® DTS4 Subset:Working			
ACTIVE CONCEPTS FROM NAMESPACE Triad: 2010.02			
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING CONCEPT NAME OR SYNONYM MATCHES *TEST*	=		
ACTIVE CONCEPTS HAVING PROPERTY cpmc_code MATCHES *plasma*			
Modify			
Restore			

You can only restore a filter that has been created or modified in the current *Subset Expression Editor* session before the expression is saved or built. The save and build operations permanently delete removed filters.

I.12 Preview Subset Expression Results

Before you save the new expression, you can preview which concepts will be chosen from the selected namespace based on the expression criteria you have entered so far.

1. Click the **Preview Subset** icon on the *Subset Expression Editor* window to list concepts that will be included in the subset. Note that you cannot preview a subset expression that includes only a namespace filter; the **Preview Subset** icon is enabled only if at least one additional filter is included in the expression.



The Status Bar indicates subset preview creation progress.

The *Preview of Subset* window then displays the concepts selected based on the expression criteria.

6	Preview of	Subset 'DTS	4 Si	ubset:Wo	rking	•		x
Concepts (74)	Concept Count:	1000	¥	Show Ve	ersion	Sort By:	Name	~
ANATOMIC_PATHO	LOGY_TEST[Triad]						Name	
ANTIBIOTIC_SENSI	TIVITY_TEST[Triad]						Namespace	_
Cell and Artifact Te	st[Triad]							
CEREBROSPINAL_F	LUID_CELL_AND_ART	TIFACT_TEST[Tr	iad]					Ξ
Chemistry Test[Tria	id]							
COAGULATION_TE	ST[Triad]							
IMMUNOLOGY_TES	T[Triad]							
INTRAVASCULAR_(CHEMISTRY_TEST[Tria	ad]						
INTRAVASCULAR_S	ODIUM_ION_TEST[Ti	riad]						
MICROBIOLOGY TE	ST[Triad]							
PHYSICAL PROPER	TY TEST[Triad]							
PLASMA_CHEMISTR	<pre>\Y_TEST[Triad]</pre>							
PLASMA_SODIUM_	ION_TEST[Triad]							
SERUM_CHEMISTR	Y_TEST[Triad]							
SERUM_SODIUM_T	EST[Triad]							
SINGLE_RESULT_LA	ABORATORY_TEST[Tr	iadj						
URINE_17_KETOST	EROIDS_TEST[Triad]							
URINE_ACETONE_	IESI[Iriad]							
URINE_ALBUMIN_T	EST[Triad]							
URINE AMINO AC	US TEST[Triad]							1
		Compare	Clo	ose				
Creating subset pre	eview done.							

The number of concepts selected based on the current expression criteria is indicated (74 in the illustration); up to 1,000 concepts are displayed in the *Preview* window. The display order of the preview concepts is determined by the value of the **Sort By** field dropdown. If this value is **Name**, the list is sorted first by concept name, then by namespace name. If the value is **Namespace**, then the primary sort is by namespace name, then by concept name. The **Sort By** value is saved in the DTS Editor configuration file and applies across all *Preview of Subset* instances. You can resize the *Preview of Subset* window, as desired (this size setting is retained for future sessions).

2. Click **Close** after viewing the preview results. Based on the preview results, you may want to modify one or more expression filters, delete filters, or add additional filters. Note the additional filter being added to the illustrated expression.

• /	Add Property Filter	x
Concept Status:	ACTIVE	~
Type Namespace:	Triad	~
Property Type:	cpmc_code	~
Operator:	MATCHES	~
Value:	321*	
	OK Cancel	

The new filter is added to the expression in the Subset Expression Editor window.



3. Click the **Preview Subset** icon again to view the revised concept selection. Note that as a result of the additional filter that was added, a more select set of concepts was returned for the subset.

Preview of Subset 'DTS4 Subset:Working'	x
Concepts (30) Concept Count: 1000 V Show Version Sort By: Name	~
PLASMA_CHEMISTRY_TEST[Triad] SERUM_CHEMISTRY_TEST[Triad] URINE_ACETONE_TEST[Triad] URINE_ALBUMIN_TEST[Triad] URINE_BARBITURATE_TEST[Triad] URINE_BARBITURATE_TEST[Triad] URINE_CALCIUM_OXALATE_TEST[Triad] URINE_CALCIUM_PHOSPHATE_TEST[Triad] URINE_COCAINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_CCAINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_CREATININE_TEST[Triad] URINE_DIACETYL_TEST[Triad] URINE_GIUCOSE_TEST[Triad] URINE_GIUCOSE_TEST[Triad] URINE_HEMOGLOBIN_TEST[Triad] URINE_METANEPHRINE_URINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_METANEPHRINE_URINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_METANEPHRINE_URINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_PHENCYCLIDINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_PHENCYCLIDINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_PHENCYCLIDINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_PHENCYCLIDINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_PHENCYCLIDINE_TEST[Triad]	< III >
Creating subset preview done.	

4. If your expression includes a concept filter stating that all descendants of the concept be selected for the subset, the descendant concepts are reflected in the *Preview of Subset* window.



In the illustration, the concept **HORMONE** and all of its descendants are included in the *Preview of Subset* window list.

0	Preview of Subset	'DTS4 Subset:Working	r -	x
Concepts (4)	Concept Count: 1000	Show Version	Sort By: Name	~
GONADOTROPINS HORMONE[Triad] HYDROCORTISON PREGNANETRIOL[S_CHORIONIC_HUMAN[Triad] IE[Triad] [Triad]			
	Compare	Close		
Creating subset p	review done.			

5. The *Preview Subset* window includes a **Compare** button which can display the differences between the preview results from the current (unsaved) modified expression, and the results of the current, saved, version of the expression. Click **Compare** to indicate the differences between the two versions.

Preview of Subset 'D	S4 Subset:Working		x
Concepts (4) Concept Count: 1000 v Show Version Sort By: Name v GONADOTROPINS_CHORIONIC_HUMAN[Triad] HORMONE[Triad] HYDROCORTISONE[Triad] PREGNANETRIOL[Triad]	Added (4) GONADOTROPINS_CHORIONIC_HUMAN[1 HORMONE[Triad] HYDROCORTISONE[Triad] PREGNANETRIOL[Triad] (Removed (30) PLASMA_CHEMISTRY_TEST[Triad] SERUM_CHEMISTRY_TEST[Triad] URINE_ACETONE_TEST[Triad] URINE_ABUMIN_TEST[Triad] URINE_BARBITURATE_TEST[Triad] URINE_BARBITURATE_TEST[Triad] URINE_CALCIUM_OXALATE_TEST[Triad] URINE_CALCIUM_MPLOSPHATE_TEST[Triad] URINE_COCAINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_COCAINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_COCAINE_TEST[Triad] URINE_DIACETYL_TEST[Triad] URINE_DIACETYL_TEST[Triad] URINE_GLUCOSE_TEST[Triad] URINE_GLUCOSE_TEST[Triad] URINE_HCG_TEST[Triad]	
Performing subset compare done.			

The left pane of the *Comparison* window reflects the version of the subset based on the (unsaved) expression criteria modifications you just made. The center pane lists all concepts (in green) that will be added to the subset if you save the expression modifications. The right pane lists the concepts (in blue) that will be deleted from the subset if you save the expression modifications.

The number of concepts in each list (**Concepts**, **Added**, **Removed**) is indicated in the header for the pane; up to **1000** concepts can be listed in each pane. You can resize the *Comparison* window, as well as the panes within, as needed.

Click **Close** when you finish viewing. When the *Subset Expression Editor* window redisplays, you can make the desired expression criteria edits based on your views of the *Preview of Subset* window and *Comparison* window.

I.13 Save to an Existing Subset Expression and Build a Subset Concept Hierarchy

After you preview, and are satisfied with, the results of the new subset expression, you have two options. If you **Save** the expression, the Subset is updated with the new expression.



The **Status Bar** indicates the progress of the update, and also indicates when the update is completed. After the expression is updated all edits are finalized; modified expression filters no

longer display in italics and removed filters are permanently deleted, indicating that this is a saved expression.



While the **Save Subset** function updates the database with the modified expression, it does **not** update the concept contents and build the subset concept hierarchy (based on the expression selection criteria). Creation of the subset concepts and hierarchy may require considerably more time than the save of the expression.

A separate **Build Subset** option is provided that allows you to populate (**Build**) the subset concepts at a later time. The **Subset Build** function is discussed next.

I.13.1 Build a New Subset Based on Expression Criteria

Click the *Subset Expression Editor* Window **Build Subset** icon to create the subset – and for subsets of Ontylog namespaces, build the subset concept hierarchy – based on the expression criteria. For a new (i.e., unsaved) subset expression, or an existing expression that has been modified, you can click **Build Subset** to save the new/modified subset expression, create/update the subset contents, and build the subset hierarchy (there is no need to select **Save Subset** first).



Note that you cannot build a subset for an expression that includes only a namespace or subset filter. The **Build Subset** icon is enabled only if at least one additional filter in addition to the namespace or subset filter is included in the expression.

The **Status Bar** indicates build progress, and also indicates when the subset build is completed. When the build process is finished, the filters in the expression no longer display edit decoration (italics and strikethrough), indicating that this is a saved expression.



If you attempt to close the *Subset Expression Editor* window without either saving the expression criteria or building the subset based on that criteria, the following window displays.

	Unsaved Changes X
?	Subset expression has unsaved changes. Are you sure you want to discard these changes?
	OK Cancel

If you click **OK**, the *Subset Expression Editor* Window closes, no subset is created, no hierarchy is built, and the new subset expression criteria is not saved.

Click **Cancel**, then click the **Build Subset** icon on the *Subset Expression Editor* window to initiate the new concept hierarchy build.

J. The Module Manager

The DTS Module Manager enables the loading, updating, and removal of DTS Editor User Modules with minimal user intervention. Direct file manipulation is not required.

The Module Manager accesses current User Module information from an Internet-accessible Module Folder. The folder also contains installation kits for all available User Modules. Module information is displayed in the *Module Manager* panel, and Module actions (**Add**, **Update**, and **Remove**) can be specified. These actions are performed on the next DTS Editor restart.

This Module Folder is typically maintained by Apelon on behalf of all DTS installations, but organizations can create and maintain their own Module folder in order to limit Module availability or add organization-specific Modules. See the **Maintaining a Module Manager Facility** guide for further information.

The Module Manager is available from the *DTS Editor* **Options** menu. The following sections describe operation of the Module Manager and Module Update panels.

Opti	ions Help	
	Set Clipboard Formats	
-	Configuration Options	ŀ
ł	Set Current Local Namespace	+
	Preferences	F
	Module Manager	
	User Manager	

J.1 Module Manager Panel

Selecting the **Module Manager** item in the **Options** menu opens the *Module Manager* floating panel. The panel combines information from the Internet Module Information File, which contains descriptions of all available Modules, with installed Module data, to produce the **Module Configuration** area on the left of the panel. This area shows each known Module in the **Module** column, the installed version of the Module, if any, in the **Current Version** column, and the most recent version of the Module in the **Latest Version** column.

	Jorniguration	11	1			
Action	Module	Current Version	Latest Version	Ver	sion:	×
None	Excel Wizard	not present	4.6			
None	Export	not present	1.2			
None	GraphicViewer	not present	2.2			
None	Import	1.1	1.1			
None	ImportWizard	not present	4.6			
None	pSearch	not present	2.2			
None	Template Editor	not present	4.6			
	-					
None	TQL	4.7	4.7]		
None Add	TQL TQL Update Remo	4.7	4.7			

Selecting a Module line in the **Module Configuration** area fills the **Module Info** area on the right. This area gives summary descriptions of all versions of the selected Module. Information on previous versions can be shown by selecting the version name from the **Version** dropdown, but only the most recent version is available for download.

0		Modu	le Manager		x	
o Module C	Configuration			Module Info		
Action	Module	Current Version	Latest Version	Version: 4.7	~	
None	Excel Wizard	not present	4.6	Expanded the sele	^	
None	Export	not present	1.2	include the pointin 4.6.1		
None	GraphicViewer	not present	2.2	syntax. Added a 14.6	=	
None	Import	1.1	1.1	for renaming Nam 4.5.2		
None	ImportWizard	not present	4.6	and Authorities. B4,5,1		
None	pSearch	not present	2.2	namespace querie		
None	Template Editor	not present	4.6	"export concepts		
None	TQL	4.7	4.7	concepts 4.3	\sim	
Add	Add Update Remove Clear					
 Preference I 	Preferences Perform scan on every connect. Save Restore Close					
Module dat	Iodule data loaded.					

© 2021 Apelon, Inc. Hartford Connecticut

Selecting a Module line also enables the Module Action buttons. Pressing one of these buttons specifies an action to be performed on the Module. Only actions available on the selected Module are enabled.

- Press **Add** to add a new Module to the DTS Editor.
- Press **Update** to update an existing Module to its latest version.
- Press **Remove** to remove the Module from the DTS Editor.
- Press **Clear** to clear any pending Module actions and return the panel to its original state.

Any selected action is shown in the Action cell of the Module line.

The final feature of the *Module Manager* panel is the **Preference**s area at the bottom of the panel. Checking the **Perform scan on every Connect** box causes a load and analysis of the Module Information File on every Editor Knowledgebase Connect operation. If any new Modules or Module updates are available, an information dialog is shown after a successful connection:

Preferences Perform scan on every connect.
Module Manager X
New Modules are available.
ОК

After all desired Module actions have been selected, press **Save** to persist the requests in the Editor configuration file. The requested Module actions are NOT performed at this time, however. For technical reasons, Module changes can only be made on Editor restart. The selected actions are saved in the DTS Editor configuration file for execution at the next start-up. When the Editor is restarted, the *Module Update* panel (see below) is displayed that lists the actions and shows their progress of the actions. Before a restart, the *Module Manager* panel can be re-opened and the actions adjusted as desired.

J.2 Module Update Panel

The *Module Update* panel is shown when the DTS Editor is started, and Module actions are pending. The panel lists the saved Module actions to be taken.

As each action is performed, the panel shows the steps being taken For an Add or Update action, for example, the steps are downloading and installing.

After all actions have been performed, a summary message, including any errors encountered, is shown. Successful actions are removed from the Module Update property in the DTS Editor configuration file, while any actions resulting in errors are maintained. Subsequent to the update, the *Module Manager* panel can be reopened and the actions revised.

<u></u>	Module Manager Update	x
Module Upda	ate Actions:	
 ✓ 	Add Module 'Template Editor'. Completed	
Update comp	pleted successfully.	Close

K. Appendix A: Custom Initialization of Concepts and Terms

K.1 Introduction

When Concepts and Terms are created in the DTS Editor, only the Concept Name (prompted by the New Concept/Term Dialog) and the Concept Code and Concept Id (generated by the DTS Server) are populated. The value of the Concept Id is the next integer in the Namespace's Concept sequence (this sequence generator can be accessed programmatically, see **DTS Sequence APIs** below). The Concept Code is the same integer, prefixed by "C" for Concepts or "T" for Terms, e.g. "C12", T13".

It is possible to modify these default assignments, and add additional Concept/Term attributes, by registering a **DTSConceptTermInitializer** on the Namespace. A

DTSConceptTermInitialzer is a Java class that is called whenever a new Concept or Term is about to be added to the DTS Knowledgebase by the DTS Editor. The specific sequence of events is:

- 1. User requests a new Concept/Term from a *Details* Panel.
- 2. The Concept/Term name is received from the New Concept/Term Dialog.
- 3. A **DTSConceptTermInitializer** is called if registered on the new object's Namespace. The initializer can populate any attribute on the Concept/Term.
- 4. The new Concept/Term object is sent to the server for addition to the Knowledgebase.

To create a **DTSConceptTermInitializer**, you must write and compile a Java class that extends **DTSConceptTermInitializer** and place it in the DTS classpath; the lib\modules folder is recommended. The class can also be bundled in a jar if desired. Then register the class in the *DTS Editor Configuration* panel available from Options | Configuration Options in the Editor menu bar. The sections below describe details for each of these steps.

K.2 Preparing a DTSConceptTermInitializer

A DTSConceptTermInitializer is a class that extends the base class com.apelon.apps.dts.editor.modules.DTSConceptTermInitializer.The user initializer class must reside in the com.apelon.modules.dts.editor.config package, have an argumentless constructor and implement four methods:

- void register(int nsid) Called when the initializer is registered on a Namespace. The argument is the Id of the Namespace. Although a given initializer class can be registered on multiple Namespaces, a new class instance is created for each registration. The register method is called immediately after the Namespace's initializer instance is constructed and may be used to setup any required instance variables.
- DTSConcept initializeConcept (DTSConcept con) called with a new (empty) Concept object. Only the Concept Name and Namespace Id will be populated. Returns a Concept object (usually the same object as provided) populated with the

desired attributes. Any writable attribute (Code, Id, Primitive/Defined, Synonym, Property, Association, Defined Concept, Role, etc.) can be added. The DTS API can be used to manage Code and Id uniqueness. If the Concept Code and/or Concept id is not updated, the server will provide default values.

- Term initializeTerm (Term term) called with a new (empty) Term object. Only the Term Name and Namespace Id will be populated. Returns a populated Term as described above.
- String getDescription() called by the *Configuration* panel to display a description of the initializer (see **Registering an Initializer** below). This method should NOT depend on register previously being called.

An example ConceptTermInitializer class is shown below. This class assigns a random Concept Id and sets the Concept Code and the Code in Source Property to the same value. Note that uniqueness of the randomized Id is checked.

```
package com.apelon.modules.dts.editor.config;
import
com.apelon.apps.dts.editor.modules.DTSConceptTermInitializer;
import com.apelon.beans.dts.plugin.DTSAppManager;
import com.apelon.dts.client.attribute.DTSProperty;
import com.apelon.dts.client.attribute.DTSPropertyType;
import
com.apelon.dts.client.concept.ConceptAttributeSetDescriptor;
import com.apelon.dts.client.concept.DTSConcept;
import com.apelon.dts.client.term.Term;
public class CodeInSourceInitializer extends
DTSConceptTermInitializer {
     private final static String CIS NAME = "Code in Source";
     private DTSPropertyType cisType = null;
     public CodeInSourceInitializer() {
          super();
     }
//register (and verify) this namespace
```

```
public void register (int nsid) throws Exception {
          cisType = getPropertyType(CIS NAME, nsid);
          if (cisType==null) throw new Exception("No Property
Type '"+CIS NAME+"' present in Namespace.");
     }
//initialize a DTSConcept
     public DTSConcept initializeConcept(DTSConcept con) throws
Exception {
          if (cisType==null) throw new Exception("No Property
Type '"+CIS NAME+"' present.");
          //get the Code
          int random;
          while (true) {
               random = (int) (Math.random()*100000);
               if
(DTSAppManager.getQuery().getDTSConceptQuery().
                         findConceptByCode("C"+random,
con.getNamespaceId(),
ConceptAttributeSetDescriptor.NO ATTRIBUTES) == null) break;
          }
          con.setCode("C"+random);
          DTSProperty prop = new DTSProperty(cisType,
""+random);
          con.addProperty(prop);
          return con;
     }
     //initialize a Term
     public Term initializeTerm(Term term) throws Exception {
          return term;
     }
```

//return a description of this initializer
public String getDescription() {
 return "This initializer adds a Code in Source
property.";
 }
 private DTSPropertyType getPropertyType(String name, int
nsid) throws Exception {

return
DTSAppManager.getQuery().getDTSConceptQuery().findPropertyTypeBy
Name(name, nsid);

}

}

K.3 Registering an Initializer

Follow the steps below to register a loaded DTSConceptTermInitializer on a Namespace.

1. Select Options | Configuration Options from the Editor menu bar. The *Configuration* panel is shown:

Set Configuration Options	
Namespace	Initializer Class
States of the Union	None
Test	None
Triad Extension	None
Save	Reload Close
L	

The Initializers tab lists each writable Namespace and its associated Initializer Class.

2. To register an initializer on a Namespace, double click in the Initializer Class cell opposite the Namespace. The available initializers will be shown in the dropdown list. Select an initializer to be associated with the Namespace. Note that the initializer is not registered until the Save button is pressed. Mouse over any initializer name to see its description in a ToolTip.

	Set Configuration Options	×
	Namespace	Initializer Class
	States of the Union	None
	Test	None
	Triad Extension	CodeInSourceInitializer
		EmptyInitializer
		ErrorInitializer
		ExtensionInitializer
		RandomInitializer
ł		
	Save	load Close

3. Commit the initializer changes by pressing the save button, or exit the panel by clicking Close. Cancel any pending changes and return to the base assignments by pressing Reload.

Set Configuration Option	ns	
Initializers*		
Namespace Initializer Class		
States of the Union	RandomInitializer	
Test	None	
Triad Extension	None	
-		
Save	Reload Close	

K.4 DTS Sequence APIs

In order to avoid having to test the uniqueness of id values as required in CodeinSourceInitializer above, the DTS API provides access to the server's namespace sequence generators. These APIs enable user applications to independently retrieve, and/or reset, the server's internal sequence generator values.

int BaseLocalConceptQuery.generateNextConceptId(namespaceId, idCount)

Returns the next ID in the designated namespace's Concept sequence. This is method is synchronized on the server, so that the operation is "atomic" across invocations. idCount is the number by which the sequence is incremented after the return (usually 1).

```
int BaseLocalConceptQuery.generateNextTermId(namespaceId,
idCount)
```

Returns the next ID in the designated namespace's Term sequence. This is method is synchronized on the server, so that the operation is "atomic" across invocations. idCount is the number by which the sequence is incremented after the return (usually

1).

For further information on the DTS sequence APIs, see the DTS API Javadoc.

L. Appendix B: Length Limitations for DTS 4 Attribute Values

L.1 Overview

The values users create in the DTS 4 Editor have length (character) limitations. Attributes such as Concepts, Terms, Properties, etc. all have value length limitations. Below is a table illustrating these DTS 4 value length limitations for each attribute.

Attribute	Value Length Limitation*
Concept Name	749 characters
Term Name	749 characters
Namespace Name	255 characters
Authority Name	255 characters
Subset Name	255 characters
Validator Name	255 characters
Property Types ²	4000 characters
Qualifier Types ³	255 characters
Namespace Code	32 characters
IDs ¹	Positive integer range from 0 to 65535
Type Names ^{2,3,4,5}	255 characters

¹IDs include: [Namespace] ID, [Subset] ID, [Authority] ID

²<u>Property Type Names include:</u> Concept [Property], Term [Property], Namespace [Property], [Namespace] Version [Property], Subset [Property], [Subset] Version [Property], Authority [Property]

³Qualifier Type Names include: Concept Property [Qualifier], Term Property [Qualifier], Concept Association [Qualifier], Term Association [Qualifier], Namespace Property [Qualifier], [Namespace] Version Property [Qualifier], Subset Property [Qualifier], [Subset] Version Property [Qualifier], Authority Property [Qualifier]

⁴Association Type Names include: Concepts [Association], Concept with Synonymous Term (Synonym) [Association], Terms [Association]

⁵Other Type Names include: Kind, Role Type

* **NOTE:** Character length limit may be less if one or more UTF-8 character is larger than the typical 1 byte.